Effects of biocides on processes underlying resistance evolution

Inaugural-Dissertation to obtain the academic degree Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

submitted to the

Department of Biology, Chemistry, Pharmacy of Freie Universität Berlin

by

Selina Bibiana Inocencia Schmidt

2023

This thesis was conducted from February 2018 to July 2023 at the division of Biodeterioration and Reference Organisms (4.1) at the Federal Institute for Material Research and Testing under the supervision of Dr. Frank Schreiber.

1st Reviewer: Dr. Frank Schreiber

2nd Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Jens Rolff

Date of defense: 01.02.2024

Declaration of Independence

Herewith I certify that I have prepared and written my thesis independently and that I have not used any sources and aids other than those indicated by me. This dissertation has not yet been presented to any other examination authority in the same or a similar form and has not yet been published.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	3
List of Abbreviations	5
Preface	6
Summary	7
Zusammenfassung	9
Chapter 1: General Introduction	11
Antimicrobial substances	11
Antibiotics	11
Antibiotics in the environment	12
Biocides	12
Biocides in the environment	15
Antimicrobial resistance mechanisms	15
Antibiotic resistance	19
Biocide resistance	20
Aims and scope of the thesis	22
Chapter 2: Effect of biocides on mutation rates and HGT	23
Abstract	23
Introduction	24
Materials and methods	28
Bacterial strains and cultivation conditions	28
Antimicrobial susceptibility determination, growth rates, and cell killing	29
Effect of biocides on mutation rates	29
Effect of biocides on conjugation	30
Effect of biocides on transformation	31
rpoS and recA reporter assay	32
Results and Discussion	33
Effect of material preservatives on mutation rates	33
Effect of biocides on conjugation	37
Effect of biocides on transformation	39
Effect of biocides on the bacterial stress response	40
Conclusions	44
Supplementary information	45
Mutation rate assay – MICs and biocide concentrations	45
Conjugation rate assay – MICs and biocide concentrations	47

Transformation rate assay – MICs and biocide concentrations	48
Chapter 3: Effect of biocides selection pressures on evolution of resistance	56
Abstract	56
Introduction	57
Material and Methods	59
Bacterial strain, chemicals, media, and cultivation conditions	59
Antimicrobial susceptibility determination	60
Serial subculture evolution experiment	60
Genotype analysis of the evolved populations	61
Results	62
Subinhibitory BAC concentrations are lethal for a fraction of the population and delay initial growth	62
Phenotypes evolved in the presence of BAC are linked to selection pressures	63
Consequences of BAC evolution on antibiotic susceptibility	65
Evolved genotypes are linked to BAC-mediated selection pressure	66
Discussion	69
Supplementary information	72
Experimental conditions	72
Genotypical analysis	73
Chapter 4: Discussion and concluding remarks	74
References	80
List of publications and author contributions	99
Acknowledgment1	00
Curriculum Vitae1	.01

List of Abbreviations

A. baylyi	Acinetobacter baylyi
ALE	adaptive laboratory evolution
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
BAC	benzalkonium chloride
B. subtilis	Bacillus subtilis
cfu	colony forming units
СНХ	chlorhexidine digluconate
DDAC	didecyldimethylammonium chloride
dw	dry weight
E. coli	Escherichia coli
HGT	horizontal gene transfer
IPBC	3-lodo-2-propynyl N-butylcarbamate
MBC	minimum bactericidal concentration
MIC	minimum inhibitory concentration
mL, L	milliliter, liter
QAC	quaternary ammonium compound
S	Evolutionary treatment with selection for survival only
SG	Evolutionary treatment with selection for survival and growth
Ρ	Evolutionary treatment with selection for persistence
γ	plasmid transfer rate (mL cell ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)
µg, g	microgram, gram
μ _g	mutation rate per genome per replication

Preface

This thesis is a study on the effects of selected chemicals used as active substances in biocides on processes that underlie the development of resistance in selected bacteria. To investigate this topic, I chose a range of biocides used in different applications and performed laboratory experiments with a set of model bacteria. These laboratory experiments were selected covering known microbial resistance evolution and acquisition mechanisms to study the effect of biocides on those mechanisms. Our research findings show that biocides can affect resistance development mechanisms under specific conditions. These findings contribute to our understanding of biocide effects on resistance development and are a significant contribution to existing biocide research literature.

Summary

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a global health problem. It is well known that antibiotics can drive evolutionary processes that underlie antimicrobial resistance (AMR) evolution and spread in clinical and environmental settings. In contrast, less is known about the effects of antimicrobial substances that are used as biocides (i.e. disinfectants and preservatives) on AMR evolution and spread. Biocides are present in various settings, interacting with diverse microbial communities. Therefore, it is crucial to evaluate their role in the evolution and dissemination of antimicrobial resistance. Biocides occur in a wide range of concentrations in various environmental settings. By examining how the various concentrations affect selection mechanisms, we gain insights into potential developments related to antimicrobial resistance. The aim of this PhD thesis is to investigate the effects of biocides on processes underlying resistance evolution. Specifically, the work focused on key mechanisms for resistance spread, resistance evolution, and the effect of selection pressures on evolved resistance mechanisms. The thesis is structured around three major objectives: (i) to determine the effect of biocides on the evolution of resistance by affecting the rate of occurrence of de novo mutations, (ii) to determine the effect of biocides on the spread of resistance genes by modifying the rate of horizontal gene transfer (HGT) processes, and (iii) to investigate the selective drivers of the emergence of antimicrobial resistance in adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE) experiments.

De-novo mutations are spontaneous mutations that occur at a certain rate in microorganisms. The effect of biocides at subinhibitory environmentally relevant concentrations on the mutation rate in *Acinetobacer baylyi*, *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli* was assessed with the fluctuation assay. The results showed that biocides affected mutation rates in a species and substance dependent matter. The bisbiguanide chlorhexidine digluconate, the quaternary ammonium compound didecyldimethylammonium chloride, the metal copper, the pyrethroid-insecticide permethrin, and the azole-fungicide propiconazole increase mutation rates in *E. coli*, whereas no increases were identified for *B. subtilis* and *A. baylyi*.

Horizontal gene transfer refers to diverse mechanisms that mediate the transfer of mobile genetic elements between microorganisms. This work focused on conjugation and transformation. Conjugation is a process whereby a conjugative plasmid is transferred from a donor cell to a recipient cell. Transformation is a process whereby exogenous donor DNA is taken up into a recipient cell and integrated into the recipient's' genome. The effects of subinhibitory environmentally relevant biocide concentrations on the conjugation rate of *E. coli* and the transformation rate of the naturally competent organisms *A. baylyi* in were assessed. The results showed that benzalkonium chloride (BAC), chlorhexidine and permethrin increased conjugation in *E. coli*, while none of the biocides increased transformation rates in *A. baylyi*.

7

To further understand the molecular mechanisms underlying the effects on mutation and conjugation rates, I investigated the induction of the *RpoS*-mediated general stress and the *RecA*-linked SOS response upon biocide exposure. The results show a link between the general stress and the SOS response with increased rates of mutation and conjugation, but not for all biocides.

One major approach to study the evolutionary response of bacteria to antimicrobials are ALE experiments with growth at subinhibitory concentrations linked to serial subculturing over many generations. Such experiments have been used to study resistance evolution to antibiotics and biocides. However, previous work showed that adaptation to biocide stress may be mediated by different evolutionary drivers. Here, I investigated the contributions of evolution for increased survival as opposed to improved growth in ALE experiments with E. coli exposed to subinhibitory BAC concentrations. Two distinct evolutionary treatments selecting for survival only or survival and growth led to specific evolutionary adaptations apparent in the phenotypes and genotypes of the evolved populations. Populations growing in the presence of BAC evolved increased fitness in the presence of BAC associated with higher resistance to BAC and cross-resistance to antibiotics, while this was not the case for populations evolving for increased survival only. Genotypic characterization by whole genome sequencing of the evolved populations revealed parallelism in mutated genes among replicate populations and distinct differences across treatments. Treatments selecting for survival and growth showed mutations in stress response related genes (hslO and tufA), while selection for survival led to mutations in genes for metabolic regulation (cyaA) and cellular structure (flagella fliJ).

In summary, this thesis shows that biocides affect AMR evolution and emphasizes the importance of understanding of how biocides impact the molecular and evolutionary process that underlie AMR evolution.

Zusammenfassung

Antibiotikaresistenz stellt ein globales Gesundheitsproblem dar. Es ist bekannt, dass Antibiotika evolutionäre Prozesse befördern können, die der Entwicklung und Verbreitung antimikrobieller Resistenzen (AMR) in Krankenhäusern und der Umwelt zugrunde liegen. Im Gegensatz dazu ist über die Auswirkungen antimikrobieller Substanzen, wie Biozide (z.B., Desinfektions- und Konservierungsmittel), auf die Entwicklung und Verbreitung von AMR weniger bekannt. Biozide treten in verschiedenen Umgebungen auf und interagieren mit verschiedenen mikrobiellen Gemeinschaften. Daher ist es von entscheidender Bedeutung, ihre Rolle bei der Entstehung und Verbreitung von Antibiotikaresistenzen zu evaluieren. Biozide können in weiten Konzentrationsbereichen in verschiedenen Umweltkontexten auftreten. Die Untersuchung, wie diese verschiedenen Konzentrationen Selektionsmechanismen beeinflussen, ermöglicht Einblicke in die potenzielle Entstehung von AMR im Zusammenhang mit der Verwendung von Bioziden. Das Hauptziel dieser Doktorarbeit ist die Untersuchung der Auswirkungen von Bioziden auf die Prozesse, die der Resistenzentwicklung zugrunde liegen. Die Arbeiten haben sich speziell auf die Hauptmechanismen für die Resistenzevolution, die Ausbreitung von Resistenzen und die Auswirkungen des Selektionsdrucks auf entwickelte Resistenzmechanismen konzentriert. Die Arbeiten hatten drei Hauptziele: (i) die Bestimmung der Auswirkungen von Bioziden auf die Resistenzentwicklung durch Beeinflussung der Häufigkeit des Auftretens von De-novo-Mutationen, (ii) die Bestimmung der Auswirkungen von Bioziden auf die Ausbreitung von Resistenzgenen durch Veränderung der Häufigkeit des horizontalen Gentransfers (HGT) und (iii) die Untersuchung der selektiven Triebkräfte für die Entstehung antimikrobieller Resistenzen in Experimenten zur adaptiven Laborevolution (ALE).

De-novo-Mutationen sind spontane Mutationen, die mit einer bestimmten Rate in Mikroorganismen auftreten. Die Auswirkung von Bioziden in subinhibitorischen, umweltrelevanten Konzentrationen auf die Mutationsrate in *Acinetobacter baylyi*, *Bacillus subtilis* und *Escherichia coli* wurde mittels der Fluktuationstest untersucht. Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass Biozide die Mutationsraten je nach Art und Substanz beeinflussen. Chlorhexidin, Didecyldimethylammoniumchlorid, Kupfer, Permethrin und Propiconazol erhöhen die Mutationsraten in *E. coli*, während bei *B. subtilis* und *A. baylyi* keine Erhöhung festgestellt wurde.

Horizontaler Gentransfer bezeichnet die verschiedenen Mechanismen, die den Transfer mobiler genetischer Elemente zwischen Mikroorganismen ermöglichen. Diese Arbeit konzentrierte sich auf die Untersuchung von Konjugation und Transformation. Konjugation ist ein Prozess, bei dem ein konjugatives Plasmid von einer Spenderzelle auf eine Empfängerzelle übertragen wird. Transformation ist ein Prozess, bei dem exogene Spender-DNA von einer Empfängerzelle aufgenommen und in das Genom des Empfängers integriert

9

wird. Es wurden die Auswirkungen subinhibitorischer, umweltrelevanter Biozidkonzentrationen auf die Konjugationsrate von *E. coli* und die Transformationsrate des natürlich-kompetenten Organismus *A. baylyi* untersucht. Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass Benzalkoniumchlorid (BAC), Chlorhexidin und Permethrin die Konjugationsrate von *E. coli* erhöhten, während keines der Biozide die Transformationsrate von *A. baylyi* erhöhte.

Um die molekularen Mechanismen, die den Auswirkungen auf die Mutations- und Konjugationsraten zugrunde liegen, besser zu verstehen, wurde die Induktion des RpoS-vermittelten allgemeinen Stresses und der RecA-verknüpften SOS-Reaktion bei Biozidexposition untersucht. Die Ergebnisse zeigen eine Verbindung zwischen dem allgemeinen Stress und der SOS-Reaktion mit erhöhten Mutations- und Konjugationsraten, jedoch nicht für alle Biozide.

Ein wichtiger Ansatz zur Untersuchung der evolutionären Reaktion von Bakterien auf antimikrobielle Substanzen sind ALE-Experimente, bei denen das Wachstum bei subinhibitorischen Konzentrationen in Verbindung mit serieller Subkultivierung über viele Generationen durchgeführt wird. Solche Experimente wurden zur Untersuchung der Resistenzentwicklung gegenüber Antibiotika und Bioziden bereits in der Literatur beschrieben. Frühere Arbeiten haben jedoch gezeigt, dass die Anpassung an Biozidstress durch verschiedene evolutionäre Prozesse vermittelt werden kann. In dieser Studie wurden die Einflüsse der Selektionsdrücke zur Verbesserung des Überlebens im Vergleich zur Verbesserung des Wachstums in ALE-Experimenten mit *E. coli* Kulturen, die subinhibitorischen BAC-Konzentrationen ausgesetzt waren, untersucht. Zwei unterschiedliche evolutionäre Behandlungen, die entweder auf das Überleben oder auf das Überleben und das Wachstum selektierten, führten zu spezifischen evolutionären Anpassungen, die sich in den Phänotypen und Genotypen der entwickelten Populationen zeigten. Populationen, die in Anwesenheit von BAC wuchsen, entwickelten eine erhöhte Fitness in Gegenwart von BAC, was mit einer höheren Resistenz gegen BAC und einer Kreuzresistenz gegen Antibiotika einherging. Dies war bei Populationen, die nur auf besseres Überleben selektiert wurden, nicht der Fall. Die genotypische Charakterisierung der entwickelten Populationen durch Sequenzierung des gesamten Genoms ergab Parallelen bei den mutierten Genen zwischen den Replikaten der Populationen und deutliche Unterschiede zwischen den Behandlungen. Behandlungen, die auf Überleben und Wachstum selektierten, zeigten Mutationen in Genen, die mit der Stressreaktion (hslO und tufA) in Verbindung stehen, während die Selektion auf Überleben zu Mutationen in Genen für die Stoffwechselregulation (*cyaA*) und die Zellstruktur (Flagellen *fliJ*) führte. Zusammenfassend zeigt diese Arbeit, dass Biozide die AMR-Evolution beeinflussen und unterstreicht die Bedeutung von vertieftem Wissen über die molekularen und evolutionären Prozesse, die der AMR-Evolution durch Biozide zugrunde liegen.

10

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Antimicrobial substances

Antimicrobials are used to protect human and animal safety and hygiene, nonetheless a rise in usage of antimicrobials and the associated global health treat of antimicrobial resistance [1–5] and thus increasing research activity was conducted on this topic in the recent years [6,7]. The term "antimicrobials" is often used interchangeably in the literature to refer to antibiotics or antimicrobial biocides, which might cause confusion. Antibiotics are mainly used to combat harmful infections in humans and animals [8]. Antimicrobial biocides are applied to control unwanted microorganisms in various settings such as clinical environments, agriculture, in industrial processes and domestic households [9]. However, both, antibiotics and antimicrobial biocides contribute to the global threat of the antimicrobial resistance problem [1,7].

Antibiotics

Antibiotics are naturally or synthetically produced chemical compounds that are used to treat infections in humans and animals [10,11]. Thereby, antibiotics targets essential processes or structures in bacteria and might act bacteriostatic, inhibiting the bacterial growth or act bactericidal, killing bacteria [12]. Antibiotics are classified into antibiotic classes based on their mode of action and chemical structure [11]. Further information on antibiotics from various antibiotic classes used in this thesis can be found in Table 1.

Humankind have already been in contact with antibiotics in ancient times as chemical analysis of skeletal remains from 350-550 CE prove [13,14], but an active usage of antibiotics for treating infections occurred more recently in the 20th century [15]. Before the industrial production of antibiotics infectious disease were the leading cause of human deaths [11]. The discovery of penicillin [16] and the large scale production of antibiotics made them available to the public for treating infectious diseases and enabling medical procedures [17]. Today, antibiotics are used to treat humans and animals [18], but antibiotics are also used in agriculture [19] and there is an increasing trend in the worldwide antibiotic consumption [5].

Antibiotic class	Example	Molecular	Resistance	Reference
		Target	mechanism	
ß-Lactams	Ampicillin	Cell wall	Target alteration,	[20–22]
		synthesis	hydrolyzing enzymes,	
			efflux or exclusion	
Diaminopyrimidines	Trimethoprim	Folate	overproduction, Target	[22]
		synthesis	mutation, efflux	
Aminoglycosides	Gentamicin	Protein	Enzymes, efflux,	[12,22]
		synthesis (30S	limited uptake, target	
		ribosomal	alteration	
		subunit)		
Fluoroquinolones	Ciprofloxacin	DNA synthesis	Target mutation,	[22–24]
			efflux/exclusion	
Ansamycins	Rifampicin	DNA synthesis	Target mutation	[11,23]
Cyclic polypeptides	Colistin	Membrane	Mutation, change of	[25]
			membrane charge	

Table 1 Background information on antibiotics used in this thesis

Antibiotics in the environment

The presence of antibiotics and the evolution of antibiotic resistance genes in the environment has a long evolutionary history, since antibiotics occur as natural products in microbial communities [26]. In contrast, antibiotics are artificially introduced into the environment at a broad concentration range via various pathways [27]. Thus, antibiotics can be found in soils [28–30] and aquatic environments [31]. In those environments, the native microbial community is exposed to antibiotic residues and antibiotic resistance might be selected [32,33].

Biocides

The term biocide refers to a biocidal product containing chemical active substances or refers directly to the chemical active substance itself, which is used to control target organisms [34]. The risk of a chemical active substance is evaluated prior to its usage [34]. Hereby, the risk evaluation of chemical active substances is not harmonized all over the world, but the OECD provides guidelines and test protocols for chemical risk assessments [35]. Active substances usage in biocides is regulated based on their intended purpose. For instance, in Europe there are different product categories, each with different requirements to a chemical active substance. There are 22 product types categorized into 4 main groups: i) disinfectants, ii) preservatives, iii) pest control and iv) other biocidal products [34,36]. Disinfectants are

employed in various context to promote hygiene and ensure safety for human and animals [37,38]. Preservatives are used to protect materials and products from biological decay caused by microorganisms or other organisms to ensure material integrity or shelf life [39–41]. Pest control products are employed to control a range of unwanted higher organisms, including insects and mammals [42,43]. Biocides in the main group 'other biocidal products' are used in special contexts not covered by the other three main groups [44]. One active chemical substance can have a broad activity and might be used in various applications but for that it needs to be approved in the relevant product type for a specific application.

Antimicrobial biocides are biocides with antimicrobial activity used mainly as disinfectants, preservatives and antifouling paints [45]. For instance, such an active chemical substance is copper, which is approved for various product types in the main group of disinfectants, preservatives and antifouling and the same goes for copper derivates as well [46]. There are various chemical classes of active substances being used as biocides [47]. However, the introduction focusses on biocides used in this thesis. The chemical classes of biocides used in this thesis are quaternary ammonium compounds (QAC), bisguanides, metals, carbamates, pyrethroids and azoles.

Bisguanides and quaternary ammonium compounds are both cationic antimicrobial agents. Cationic antimicrobial agents are a class of substances with a similar mode of action, which is based on the interaction with the cell envelope of microorganism, but differ in the specific nature of the interaction with cell envelopes [48].

Chlorhexidine digluconate (CHX), which belongs to the chemical class of bisguanides, was used in experiments in this study. CHX is active against a wide range of bacteria and fungi and used for disinfection such as in clinical or household settings and for preservation such as in personal care products [48,49]. CHX consists of a two differently charged sites, the cationic phospholipid binding site and the hydrophobic regions, consisting of hexamethylene group [48]. Thereby the cationic site interacts and adsorbs to the anionic site of the cell membrane, displacing anionic charges and decreasing fluidity and protein function of the membrane [48].

Benzalkonium chloride (BAC) and didecyldimethylammonium chloride (DDAC) have been selected as representatives of QACs in this study. QACs have a broad antimicrobial activity controlling various bacterial and fungal species and are used in various settings as active substances in product types in the main categories of disinfectants and preservatives [49]. For instances QACs are used as disinfectant in clinical and household settings [49,50] or used as preservative in personal care products [51]. QAC generally consist of two parts, a positively charged head group containing the differently quaternary bound nitrogen and nonpolar alkane group tails with varying chain lengths [48,52]. BACs are produced from natural heterogeneous

mixtures of fatty acids, thus the resulting BACs are a mixture of various n-alkyl groups with variable chain length and the relative abundance of those can vary [48,53]. Hereby, the antimicrobial efficacy of BACs are affected, since the chemical structure especially the chain length and the specific abundance have an effect on the antimicrobial efficacy [48,49,53]. The mode of action of QACs is based on interaction with microbial cell envelopes exerting growth inhibiting or lethal effects. Hereby, the QAC adsorbs to the membrane surface, then the hydrophobic tail is integrated into the phospholipid membrane, causing disruption of intermolecular bonds and interferes with the membrane fluidity and functions causing membrane damage which ultimately leads to cell leakage and lysis.[48].

The cationic surfactants CHX, BAC and DDAC have a mode of action being membrane active, however there is a difference between the bisguanide CHX and the QACs BAC and DDAC that QACs solubilize cell membrane and forms QAC-phospholipid micelles, while CHX does not [48]. Resistance mechanisms against cationic surfactants can be conferred by various mechanisms such as resistance genes, efflux pumps, cell membrane changes, biofilm formation, biodegradation [49,54]. Those resistance mechanisms, which confer resistance to a specific QAC such as often observed with BAC might confer resistance to other QACs such as DDAC as well [49]. Resistance to cationic surfactants can be associated with those mechanisms in isolates and confer cross-tolerance to some antibiotics and some biocides such as triclosan and peroxide [49]. Microbial growth in solutions containing BAC and DDAC have been observed and were associated with outbreaks in health care associated environments [49]. This underscores that cationic surfactants can have an impact on the susceptibility of microorganisms and can affect the transmission of resistance genes [55,56].

Copper has been used in this study to represent the chemical class of metals. Copper has a broad antimicrobial activity against a range of bacteria, fungi and even against viruses and is used in various applications such as for disinfection e.g. in livestock farming or for preservation of materials e.g. as wood preservatives [57,58]. In pig farming in Denmark copper is even used as food supplement to control intestinal microorganisms [59]. The mode of action of copper is based on the interaction with cell components such as thiol groups as active center of enzymes and the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) inducing oxidative stress to macromolecules [58,60,61]. Copper tolerance is found in isolates from various environments, especially in Enterococci [62]. Copper tolerance or resistance can be found in isolates from various environments [67,68]

3-iodo-2-propynyl butyl carbamate (IPBC) represents the chemical class of carbamates in this study. IPBC has insecticidal and fungicidal activity and is used as preservative in material

protection and personal care products [69,70]. IPBC consists of an iodine being bound to propargyl butyl carbamate (PBC) [71]. Hereby, the iodine of IPBC can confer broad antimicrobial activity [72], while the carbamate have a specific activity inhibiting the acetylcholinesterase in insects [73]. IPBC can be introduced into the environment during application to protected materials, but also through weathering where IPBC can leach out [70].

Propiconazole represents the chemical group of triazoles. Propiconazole has fungicidal activity and is used as preservative [74]. Propiconazole inhibits the ergosterol biosynthesis of fungi [74]. Propiconazole can be found in environments such as wastewater treatment plants and water bodies [75,76]. Natural soil microbial communities were affected by propiconazole exposure [77].

Permethrin represents the chemical group of pyrethroids. Permethrin has insecticide activity as it exerts neural toxicity in insects and is used for pest control [78,79]. Permethrin can be found in various environments such as soil and water [75,80].

While the effect of cationic surfactants and metals on bacteria has been more investigated the effect of IPBC, propiconazole and permethrin on those remains vague. However, there have been reports of environmental microorganisms or isolates being able to degrade propiconazole and permethrin [81–83].

Biocides in the environment

Biocides have a long application history, since they already have been used for centuries and were used even before antibiotics such as penicillin, which have been clinically introduced in the 1940s [84]. Biocides are used in various environments such as healthcare settings [4] but also in public or community setting being in direct contact with humans [85]. The long usage history of biocides paired with the omnipresent usage of biocides in diverse applications explains the emission of biocidal residues into the environment. Biocide residues can be found in various environments such as waste water treatment plants, but also natural environments such as soil and water [75,86].

Antimicrobial resistance mechanisms

The effect of antimicrobial substances such as antibiotics and biocides on mechanisms underlying resistance can be studied in laboratory experiments. Hereby, laboratory evolution experiments are used to understand the evolutionary pathways of resistance evolution (Fig. 1).



Figure 1 from [87] Laboratory evolution experiments

A frequently used laboratory evolution experiment is the serial transfer evolution experiment [88,89] and there is a prominent example the E. coli long term evolution experiment (LTEE) [90,91]. Another frequently used laboratory evolution experiment are continuous culture setups such as morbidostats [92–94]. While the mentioned methods are done in liquid cultures, there

is another evolutionary experiment which uses solid media with a antimicrobial gradient – the gradient plate [95–97].

Antimicrobial resistance describes the phenomenon of an organism not being hindered to grow by an antimicrobial substance. This antimicrobial resistance might be naturally intrinsic present in the organism, developed or acquired [22]. There are other mechanism conferring a decreased effect of an antimicrobial substance, observable as a specific phenotype such as tolerance or persistence [98].

Intrinsic resistance can be based on the basic structure and functions of a microorganisms, hereby especially the outer membrane structure and composition, as well as basic functions and regulation such as reduced uptake and active efflux can confer the intrinsic antimicrobial resistance [22,99].

Development of resistance can be enabled by mutation of an area in the genomic background of an organisms. This frequency of mutation is at a certain level for each organisms but can be affected by various factors such as culturing conditions [100] or by the exposure to antimicrobial substances [101]. The selection pressure is hereby essential, since mutations can confer a decrease in microbial fitness and thus higher selection pressures would benefit the resistant mutants [100].

Acquired resistance describes the phenomenon where the uptake of a mobile genetic element (MGE) confers antimicrobial resistance. The acquisition of MGE is conferred by are various mechanisms of horizontal gene transfer (HGT) (Fig. 2). The major mechanisms of HGT are transduction, transformation and conjugation. Transduction is the transfer of phage DNA mediated by phages. Transformation is the uptake and integration of DNA from the environment. Conjugation is the transfer of a conjugative plasmid from one cell to another.



Figure 2. Mechanisms of horizontal gene transfer in bacteria taken from [102]

Antibiotic resistance

There are various molecular mechanisms being used by microorganisms to survive and evade killing by antimicrobials which will be discussed further in detail for antibiotics and biocides. Some of the major mechanisms for antibiotic resistances are i) lowering the intracellular antibiotic concentration, by decreased uptake or increased efflux via efflux pumps, ii) the antibiotic target site can be altered and iii) the antibiotic itself can be inactivated via enzymes which degrade or modify the antibiotic (Fig. 1) [11,103].



Figure 3. Major molecular mechanisms of bacteria conferring antibiotic resistance taken from [103]

Antibiotic resistance mechanisms can be based on genetic changes but also based on the expression of specific genes, which is also the basis for phenotypic variability as observed in persister subpopulations, tolerant subpopulations and tolerant strains [98,104,105]. Resistance to one antimicrobial compound can result in resistance to another compound; a phenomenon termed cross-resistance [106]. There are biocides resistance mechanisms to biocides that confer cross-resistance to antibiotics [107,108].

Biocide resistance

Some of the major mechanisms for biocide resistance are i) lowering the intracellular biocide concentration, by decreased uptake or increased efflux via efflux pumps, ii) the biocide target site can be altered, and the detoxification of the biocide, e.g. by degradation (Fig. 2).





Increased efflux is a mechanism conferring resistance or tolerance to biocide [110,111] and is a frequently encountered resistance or tolerance mechanism in isolates from various environments such as clinical, veterinary, wastewater and production settings [112-114]. Efflux as resistance mechanism might be selected with a prolonged biocide exposure [115]. Efflux is decreasing the antimicrobial concentration within the microorganism. Another mechanism conferring decreased intracellular concentrations phenomenon is the decreased uptake of biocide [116]. Both efflux and influx are mechanisms that contribute to reduced susceptibility and are associated with the cell envelope. Other mechanisms associated with the cell envelope conferring biocide tolerance or resistance are change in cell wall charge [117–119] or composition [120–122]. Another mechanism that can confer decreased biocide susceptibility is biofilm formation [123], whereby the structure or density of the biofilm can affect the antimicrobial efficacy [124]. The mechanism of target modification or antimicrobial degradation, prevalent mechanism in antibiotic resistance, is rarely encountered with biocides except in some specific cases [22,54,125]. There are other resistance mechanisms, which are regulatory based such as the bacterial stress response and regulation [126,127] or such as phenotypical variability seen in the mechanisms of tolerance or persistence [54,128].

Consequence

Antimicrobial substances, such as antibiotics and biocides, are used in various application and settings and thus emission of those substances into the environment occurs. In these different environments those antimicrobial substances can affect microbial communities, which in turn might respond by adaption mechanisms which also underlies mechanisms of resistance [7,45]. Those stress adaption mechanisms may confer resistance to the specific antimicrobial its exposed to if it confer fitness advantages and might also confer cross-resistance mechanisms to other antimicrobial substances [48]. This was already shown in isolates from various environmental settings [49]. As the consumption of antibiotics and biocides are increasing, the claim that antimicrobial resistance being a leading cause of death by 2050 [3] becomes more plausible, which is also supported by studies assessing the global health threat if antimicrobial resistance [1,3,5,129].

Thus, further research on contributors to antimicrobial resistance is necessary especially for antimicrobial substances being used in outdoor environments, such as material preservatives. It is unknown if those biocides, which are introduced into various environments can affect evolutionary processes. This thesis aims to assess the effect of those biocides being used and present in various environments on the mechanisms underlying resistance.

Aims and scope of the thesis

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the effect of biocides on processes underlying microbial resistance evolution. Therefore, it was investigated if biocides affect resistance evolution, acquisition and spread. In addition, it was assessed how different selection pressures imposed by biocides affect resistance development and selection.

To achieve this, the effect of biocides on fundamental mechanisms relevant for resistance evolution, acquisition and spread, namely the mutation rate and horizontal gene transfer (HGT) processes, were investigated. The mutation rate gives the frequency of spontaneously occurring mutations and is one of the crucial parameters for resistance evolution. HGT includes different mechanisms, e.g. conjugation of plasmids between two cells and transformation of free DNA. These processes are related to the acquisition of mobile genetic elements, which is often linked to the spread and transmission of antimicrobial resistance in the environment.

The specific objectives of this thesis are:

- 1) To determine the effect of biocides on the mutation rate in the model bacteria *Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis* and *Acinetobacter baylyi*.
- 2) To determine the effects of biocides on the conjugation rate in the model bacterium *E. coli*.
- To determine the effects of biocides on the transformation rate in the model bacterium A. baylyi.
- 4) To study the effect of the selection regime of a biocide on evolved phenotypic and genotypic resistance mechanisms.

The experiments were performed with biocides that have different chemical properties and that confer varying modes of action. Different model bacteria were selected to comprehensively investigate the effects of biocides on resistance mechanisms. To assess the effect of biocide on those different mechanisms laboratory experiments were carefully selected and if necessary adjusted.

Chapter 2: Effect of biocides on mutation rates and HGT

Abstract

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a global health problem with the environment being an important compartment for the evolution and transmission of AMR. Previous studies showed that *de-novo* mutagenesis and horizontal gene transfer (HGT) by conjugation or transformation - important processes underlying resistance evolution and spread - are affected by antibiotics. metals and pesticides. However, natural microbial communities are also frequently exposed to biocides used as material preservatives, but it is unknown if these substances induce mutagenesis and HGT. Here, we show that active substances used in material preservatives can increase rates of mutation and conjugation in a species- and substance-dependent manner, while rates of transformation are not increased. The bisbiguanide chlorhexidine digluconate, the guaternary ammonium compound didecyldimethylammonium chloride, the metal copper, the pyrethroid-insecticide permethrin, and the azole-fungicide propiconazole increase mutation rates in Escherichia coli, whereas no increases were identified for Bacillus subtilis and Acinetobacter baylyi. Benzalkonium chloride, chlorhexidine and permethrin increased conjugation in E. coli. Moreover, our results show a connection between the RpoSmediated general stress and the RecA-linked SOS response with increased rates of mutation and conjugation, but not for all biocides. Taken together, our data show the importance of assessing the contribution of material preservatives on AMR evolution and spread.

Introduction

Biocides are defined as products intended to destroy, deter, render harmless, or exert a controlling effect on harmful organisms by any means other than mere physical or mechanical action [47]. This definition by the EU biocidal product regulation is also used in a related sense outside the EU. Biocidal products mostly contain active chemical substances and are used for disinfection, material preservation or pest control in clinical, household or environmental settings [107]. Therefore, the risk of biocides for human health and the environment is assessed during their authorization. Biocidal active substances used in products for material preservation protect materials against biological decay. Consequently, material preservatives are directly released into the environment during their application or passively leach from materials during outdoor service life [70]. Material preservatives commonly contain bactericides, fungicides and/or insecticides, all of which may exert detrimental effects to humans and the environment [130]. While the fate and the eco-toxicological impact of material preservatives are assessed by standardized procedures, their effects on environmental microbial community function and composition are neglected in this process due to a limited knowledge base. However, it can be expected that material preservatives exert such effects because they are designed to be biologically active [131].

One way by which antimicrobials affect natural microbial communities is by promoting the evolution and transmission of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) [132,133]. The environment has been identified as a key reservoir for the evolution and spread of antimicrobial resistance [2]. The transmission of AMR from environmental bacteria to human pathogens is expected to be an important route for the occurrence of resistance in clinical settings, where it can result in treatment failures [107]. In fact, the WHO has identified AMR as one of the most pressing current and future public health problems [129]. There is a consensus in the political and scientific community that the issue of AMR needs to be addressed with a One-Health approach, including the clinical, veterinary and environmental dimensions of AMR [3]. Materials treated with biocides represent an important link between all these three compartments and therefore play a key role in the One-Health framework. In 2009, the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) estimated that 0.13 Tg material preservatives are used in the EU alone [134]; compared to ca. 0.2 Tg antibiotics globally [135]. This suggests that material preservatives can serve as an equally important driver of AMR in the environment as compared to antibiotics.

A central process in AMR evolution in the environment is the acquisition of *de-novo* mutations in bacteria due to random mutational events in DNA [136]. It has been shown that the molecular processes involved in establishing DNA mutations are induced by stressful conditions [137,138]. Bacteria encounter stressful conditions in the environment upon exposure to

antimicrobial compounds such as biocides, antibiotics, and antimicrobial peptides. For example, antibiotics like ampicillin and ciprofloxacin have been shown to elevate bacterial mutation rates [139,140], whereas some antimicrobial peptides and other antimicrobials do not [141,142]. These studies reported that the RpoS-mediated general stress response and the SOS response are linked to the underlying molecular processes of mutagenesis [137,138]. In turn, it has been shown that some active substances used as disinfectants or antiseptics affect the bacterial stress response [143] and the SOS response [144]. It remains, however, unclear whether active substances used in material preservatives have a similar effect. This is of importance because, as opposed to disinfectants, these substances are in many cases in direct contact with the environment through materials used in human infrastructure.

A central process for AMR transmission in the environment is horizontal gene transfer (HGT) [136], which can also be affected by environmental stressors [145]. HGT is the transfer of mobile genetic elements like plasmids, transposons and integrons [146] via conjugation, transformation or transduction, whereby conjugation is the most dominant process for AMR transmission in the environment [132]. Conjugation is the transfer of a plasmid from a donor to a recipient bacterial cell from the same or another species also depending on the host range of the transferred plasmid [147,148]. Transformation is the uptake of extracellular DNA into a bacterial cell, followed by integration into the genome and functional expression [132], or followed by autonomous replication and functional expression in the case of plasmids acquired via natural competence [149,150]. Disinfectants have been reported to enhance conjugation by upregulating the SOS response [151,152] even at low concentrations [153]. Furthermore, disinfectants in water treatment have been reported to enhance transformation also by inducing the SOS response [154,155].

In this study, we hypothesize that active substances used in material preservatives increase de-novo mutations and HGT rates by affecting or triggering bacterial stress response pathways. The experiments were performed with the following active substances: chlorhexidine digluconate (CHX), benzalkonium chloride (BAC), didecyldimethylammonium chloride (DDAC), copper, 3-lodo-2-propynyl N-butylcarbamate (IPBC), permethrin and propiconazole. The selected biocides were used since they are commonly used as material preservatives and can be detected in the environment (Table 1). CHX is not used as a material preservative, but it has a similar mode of action as BAC and DDAC and is used as a coating for antimicrobial surfaces, as preservative in cosmetic products and antiseptic [156,157]. We determined the mutation rates for the model microorganisms *Acinetobacter baylyi*, *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli. E. coli* was selected because the effects of environmental conditions on mutation rates have already been studied in this species [158–161]. *A. baylyi* and *B. subtilis* were selected because they serve as model organisms originating from the

25

environment. Both species can be found in diverse environments, including soils, which can be exposed to material preservatives of infrastructure components [162–165]. Furthermore, we determined the effect of the selected active substances on the conjugational transfer rate of the broad host range plasmid pKJK5 between *E. coli* donor and recipient strains, as well as on the transformation frequency with a reporter rescue setup in *A. baylyi*. Both species were chosen because they serve as model organisms to study the effects of environmental conditions on conjugation [144,166,167] and transformation [154,168,169], respectively. The results show that mutation and conjugation rates are affected in a species and/or substance-dependent manner. Lastly, we demonstrate the substance-depend induction of the bacterial stress response by using *rpoS*::ß-gal (RpoS-mediated stress response) and *recA*::GFP (SOS response) in *E. coli* reporter strains, indicating that not all effects on mutation and conjugation can be explained by the induction of these well-known genes.

Table T. Relevant	Information on the	selected active	substances used in material preserv	atives
Antimicrobial (abbreviation) [chemical class]	Mode of action	Target organism [*]	Environmental concentration range [*] (min-max) water [µg L ⁻¹] soil/sediment [µg kg ⁻¹]	Concentrations used in the assays [µg L⁻¹]#
Benzalkonium chloride (BAC) [QAC]	Perturbation of cell membrane [156]	Bacteria, viruses, fungi protozoans [170]	Water • groundwater 0.2 [171] • river 0.1-1.9 [172] • waste 49 [173] Sediment 3·10 ³ -3.6·10 ⁶ dw [172]	Mutation rate Ec 30, Bs 1.2, Ab 240 Conjugation Ec 300 Transformation Ab 6·10 ³
Didecyldimethyl- ammonium- chlorid (DDAC) [QAC]	Perturbation of cell membrane [156]	Bacteria, fungi and algae [174], insects [175]	Water • river 0.15-1.5 [172] • waste 61 [172] Sediment 0.5-2.7 · 10 ³ dw [172]	Mutation rate Ec 20, Bs 0.2, Ab 20 Conjugation Ec 200 Transformation Ab 500
Chlorhexidine digluconate (CHX) [bisbiguanide]	Perturbation of cell membrane [156]	Bacteria and fungi [176]	Water waste 4.47 [177] 	Mutation rate Ec 12, Bs 1.2, Ab 2 Conjugation Ec 600 Transformation Ab 10
Copper [Metal]	Generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), oxidization of sulfhydryl groups, degradation of Fe- S cluster [178]	Bacteria, fungi and insects [179]	Water • river 0.012 [180] • sea 3 [181] Soil 43.3·10 ³ [182]	 Mutation rate Ec 25, Bs 4, Ab 1·10³ Conjugation Ec 250 Transformation Ab 25·10³
3-lodo-2- propynyl N- butylcarbamate (IPBC) [Carbamate]	Acetylcholinestera se inhibitor, hypothesized iodine toxicity [183]	Fungi and insects [71], herbs and as antimicrobial [184]	Water • river 0.005 [185] • waste 0.02 [185] Sediment 190 – 490 dw [186] Soil <25·10 ⁶ (detection limit) [186]	 Mutation rate <i>Ec</i> 2·10³, <i>Bs</i> 400, <i>Ab</i> 1·10³ Conjugation <i>Ec</i> 100·10³ Transformation <i>Ab</i> 250·10³
Permethrin [Pyrethroid]	Modulates the neural transmission in insects [78]	Insects [78]	Permethrin Water • river 0.006 – 0.02 [187] Sediment 20 [75] Pyrethroids Water • river 0.00005-13·10 ³ [80] • sea 0.0047-16.2 [80] • waste 0.013-1.25 [80] Sediment 0.08-60·10 ³ [80] Soil 0.07-1.2·10 ³ [80]	 Mutation rate Ec 10·10³, Bs 400, Ab 2·10³ Conjugation Ec 100·10³ Transformation Ab 500·10³
Propiconazole [azole]	Ergosterol- biosynthesis inhibitor [188]	Fungi [188]	Azoles Water $0.003 - 8.65$ [189] Soil $1.1 - 2.6 \cdot 10^3$ [189] Propiconazole Water • waste $0.001 - 0.04$ [76][187] • lake $0.0007 - 0.0019$ [76] Soil $10 - 50 \cdot 10^6$ [190]	 Mutation rate <i>Ec</i> 10·10³, <i>Bs</i> 400, <i>Ab</i> 2·10³ Conjugation <i>Ec</i> 100·10³ Transformation

Table 1. Relevant information on the selected active substances used in material p	preservatives
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------

* references are shown in square brackets # *Ec* – *E. coli; Bs* – *B. subtilis; Ab* – *A. baylyi*, dw – dry weight

Materials and methods

Bacterial strains and cultivation conditions

A. baylyi ADP1/BD413 (ATCC 33305) was derived from the German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH (DSMZ; DSM 24193), *B. subtilis* 3610 (NCIB3610) was derived from the Bacillus Genetic Stock Center (BGSC with the Strain ID 3A1) and *E. coli* K12 MG1655 was a generous gift from Prof. Rupert Mutzel (Freie Universitaet Berlin). The reporter strains *E. coli* K12 MG1655 *rpoS*::ß-gal and *E. coli* K12 MG1655 *recA*::GFP have been described previously [141]. For the conjugation assay, the donor strain *E. coli* K12 MG1655 *lacl^q-pLpp-mCherry-Km*^R containing pKJK5::*gfpmut3b-TMP*^R was a generous gift from Dr. Uli Klümper (University of Exeter) [191] and the recipient strain *E. coli* K12 Rif^R (MIC_{Rif} ≥100 µg mL⁻¹ rifampicin) was a spontaneous mutant from the *E. coli* K12 MG1655 ancestor selected on a rifampicin plate (200 µg mL⁻¹ rifampicin). For the transformation assay, the strain *E. coli* K12 MG1655 containing pCLT *rbcL-Prm-aadA* and the recipient strain *A. baylyi* BD413 *aadA*::*gfp* were generous gifts from Peying Hong (King Abdullah University), Daniele G. Daffonchio (King Abdullah University) and Elena Crotti (University of Milan).

All strains were cultivated in liquid defined media as follows: E. coli K12 MG1655 in defined M9G medium composed of M9 salts, minerals, trace elements and glucose as source of carbon and energy (42.2 mM Na₂HPO₄, 22 mM KH₂PO₄, 11.3 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 8.5 mM NaCl, 2 mM MgSO₄, 0.45 mM CaCl₂, 20 mM glucose, 0.0025 mM FeCl₃, 0.00495 mM ZnCl₂, 0.0021 mM CoCl₂, 0.002 mM Na₂MoO₄, 0.0003 mM CaCl₂, 0.0025 mM CuCl₂, 0.002 mM H₃BO₃), A. baylyi ADP1/BD413 in MA (31 mM Na₂HPO₄, 25 mM KH₂PO₄, 18 mM NH₄Cl, 2 mM MgSO₄, 0.45 mM CaCl₂, 0.041 mM nitrilotriacetic acid, 25 mM glucose, 0.0003 mM CrCl₃, 0.0003 mM CoCl₂, 0.0003 mM CuCl₂, 0.0003 mM NiCl₂, 0.0003 mM Na₂MoO₄, 0.0003 mM Na₂SeO₃, 0.0003 mM FeCl₃, 0.0003 mM H₃BO₃, 0.0001 mM ZnCl₂, 0.0001 mM MnCl₂), and *B. subtilis* 3610 in CSE (2.94 mM KH₂PO₄, 7.65 mM K₂HPO₄, 2.49 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.062 mM MgSO₄, 0.000837 mM MnSO₄, 0.024 mM tryptophan, 1.02 mM ammonium ferric citrate, 5.44 mM potassium glutamate, 10.2 mM di-sodium succinate, 2.775 mM glucose). Cultures were incubated at 37°C and shaken at 220 rpm. Lysogeny broth (LB) Lennox (0.16 mM yeast extract, 1.41 mM tryptone, 0.86 mM NaCl and 0.45 mM agar bacteriology grade) agar plates were used as solid media and incubated at 37°C unless otherwise indicated. The biocides benzalkonium chloride [BAC] (PO 12063), didecyldimethylammonium chloride [DDAC] (PO 34466), copper as CuSO₄·5H₂O (PO PHR1477), 3-lodo-2-propynyl N-butylcarbamate [IPBC] (PO PHR1354), permethrin (PO 45614), propiconazole (PO 45642), bromoacetic acid [BAA] (PO 79-08-3) and the antibiotics ciprofloxacin (PO 17850-25G-F) and trimethoprim (PO PHR1056) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Merck KgaA, Darmstadt, Germany). Rifampicin (PO A2220) was purchased from AppliChem (AppliChem GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany) and chlorhexidine

digluconate [CHX] (PO 02191360-CF) was purchased from MP Biomedicals (MP Biomedicals Germany GmbH, Eschwege, Germany).

Antimicrobial susceptibility determination, growth rates, and cell killing

The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) was determined with the broth microdilution method according to Andrews (2001) [192] with slight modifications. Briefly, 200 µL total volume per well were used and the inoculum was adjusted to the number of cells used in the different assays (10³ cfu mL⁻¹ in mutation rate assay; 10⁷ cfu mL⁻¹ in conjugation rate assay; 10⁹ cfu mL⁻¹ in transformation rate assay). The cell densities of the inoculum were adjusted because of apparent effects of the cell density on the MIC. MICs of biocides (BAC, DDAC, CHX, copper, IPBC, permethrin and propiconazole) and antibiotics (ciprofloxacin and trimethoprim) were assessed after 24 h at 37°C and were defined as the MIC being the lowest concentration that inhibits the growth in liquid culture. Growth rates in the presence or absence of biocides or antibiotics were measured in defined media for E. coli in M9G medium, for A. baylyi in MA and for B. subtilis in CSE in 96-well polypropylene microtiter plates in a volume of 200 µL using a plate reader (Biotek Epoch 2 microplate reader) with the settings (37°C, fast orbital shaking, 5 min measuring interval). The growth rates were calculated from the increase in OD₆₀₀ over time by inferring the time derivative using Gaussian processes implemented as published code [193] in Python 3.6. Cell killing of biocides and antibiotics after 4 h of exposure was assessed under the conditions of the mutation rate assay (see section 2.3) with the same pre-culture conditions, exposure medium and temperature, the antimicrobial concentrations shown in Table 1, and an initial cell inoculum of 10³ cfu mL⁻¹. Cell killing was estimated by spot plating dilutions of the cell suspension at the start (t₀) and after 4 h (t_{4h}) of incubation on LB Lennox Agar at 37°C for 24 to 48 h and counting the colony forming units.

Effect of biocides on mutation rates

Mutation rates were determined with the Luria-Delbrück fluctuation assay [194]. Strains were revived from freezer stocks in 5 mL M9G (*E. coli*), MA (*A. baylyi*) and CSE (*B. subtilis*) medium and grown as overnight culture at 37°C. As a preconditioning step, cultures of the revived strains were diluted to 10^3 cfu mL⁻¹ in 5 mL defined media and allowed to grow into stationary phase for 24-26 h. The preconditioned cultures were used to inoculate 54 independent cultures with 5·10³ cfu mL⁻¹ in the presence and absence of different antibiotics or biocides at non-lethal concentrations (Table 1, Table S1, Fig. S2) in 200 µL defined media and incubated until stationary phase for 24-26 h. Five to six independent cultures were diluted and spotted on LB Lennox agar plates to determine the final total number of cells per culture (N_t). The complete volume of the remaining 48 independent cultures was plated undiluted on LB Lennox agar plates supplemented with rifampicin to determine the mutant number per culture. All plates were counted after 24 h incubation at 37°C. The rifampicin concentrations used for mutant

selective media were selected based on literature values and prior experiments that showed a suitable number of spontaneous mutants (50 μ g mL⁻¹ for *B. subtilis* [195], 100 μ g mL⁻¹ for *A. baylyi* [196] and *E. coli* [139]). Rifampicin concentrations differed between strains due to varying baseline susceptibilities and the magnitude for rifampicin resistance emerging in spontaneous mutants. The absence of pre-existing mutants in the pre-cultures was confirmed by testing the pre-cultures on rifampicin selective media.

The data was analyzed using the program rSalvador in the R environment under the Mandelbrot-Koch model [197]. We calculated the maximum likelihood estimates of the expected number of rifampicin-resistant mutants per culture (m) and co-estimated the fitness parameter (*w*) for emerging rifampicin-resistant mutants relative to the wildtype using the newton.joint.MK function. The confidence intervals were estimated with the functions confint.profile.m and confint.profile.w, respectively. In 3 out of 30 cases (*B. subtilis* TMP, BAC and DDAC) the newton.joint.MK function could not estimate *w*. In these cases, the function mutestim in the program flan was used [198]. For statistical comparison between the treatments, the likelihood ratio distribution method implemented in the LRT.MK function was used, including the co-estimated values of *w* and the ratio between individual estimates of N_t for treatments with antibiotics/biocides to their respective controls without antibiotics/biocides. The genomic mutation rate μ_g (mutations per genome per replication) was calculated according to

$$\mu_g = \frac{m \cdot G}{N_t \cdot L}$$
 equation 1

, where G denotes the genome size (in base pairs per genome), N_t is roughly equivalent to the number of replication events during the experiment, and L denotes the size of the genomic locus (in base pairs), on which a mutation can confer resistance to rifampicin [199]. G and L are constant within each bacterial strain and their values are shown in Table S4. The values for N_t are shown in Fig. S1.

Effect of biocides on conjugation

A conjugation rate assay was performed with the donor strain *E. coli* MG1655::-*lacl^q-pLpp-mCherry-Km^R* harboring the plasmid pKJK5::*gfpmut3b-TMP^R* and the recipient *E.coli* MG1655 Rif^R. The conjugation rate assay was based on the experimental design as described previously [200], allowing the determination of the actual conjugation rate, which is – as opposed to the widely used conjugation frequency – largely independent of a range of experimental conditions (e.g. cell density, donor/recipient ratios). In short, early exponential phase (OD₆₀₀ = 0.1) cultures of the donor and recipient strains were mixed in equal parts, biocides were added at subinhibitory concentrations (see Table 1 and Table S2) and further incubated for 2 h at 37°C and 1,200 rpm shaking. The growth rates of the various treatments

were calculated using the respective OD measurements from t_0 and t_{2h} . The concentration of total, donor, recipient and transconjugant cells were sampled at the beginning of the incubation (t_0) and after 2 h (t_{2h}) and determined by plating different dilutions on LB agar (total), LB agar supplemented with 30 µg mL⁻¹ trimethoprim (selective for the donor strain), LB agar supplemented with 100 µg mL⁻¹ rifampicin (selective for the recipient strain), and LB agar supplemented with rifampicin and trimethoprim (selective for the transconjugant strain). The plasmid transfer rate, γ (mL cell⁻¹ h⁻¹) was calculated as follows,

$$\gamma = \varphi \ln(1 + \frac{T}{R} \times \frac{N}{D}) \times \frac{1}{[N - N_0]}$$
 equation 2

, where φ denotes the growth rate (h⁻¹), N and N₀ denote the initial and final cell density, D denotes the donor density, R denotes the recipient density, and T denotes the transconjugant density (all in cfu mL⁻¹). Outliers in the dataset of the plasmid transfer rates for each treatment were determined with the Grubbs-test at *p*=0.05 in OriginLab (Origin 2019 Version 9.6.0.172). Five of 86 data points (~6 %) were removed as outliers. The fold-change of the plasmid transfer rates of each replicate treatment was calculated to its respective control without biocide performed on the same day. Statistical significance was tested for replicate treatments using the One-sample t-test against 1 at *p*=0.05 in OriginLab.

Effect of biocides on transformation

The transformation assay was performed using the recipient strain A. baylyi BD413 aadA::gfp with a reporter rescue cassette setup and donor DNA [201]. aadA encodes for an aminoglycoside adenylyltransferase conferring spectinomycin resistance and gfp encodes for green fluorescent protein conferring fluorescence. The donor DNA contains the Prrn promotor for the induction of aadA::gfp expression with flanking regions that are homologous to the promoterless upstream region of aadA::gfp in the genome of the recipient strain. Thus, spectinomycin resistance and fluorescence will be expressed upon successful uptake of donor DNA and recombination into its genome, converting a recipient cell into a transformat cell [201]. The transformation assay was based on the experimental design as described previously [154]. In short, an overnight culture is centrifuged at 4°C and 2,362 × g, washed twice in PBS, and adjusted via OD₆₀₀ to a cell concentration of 1×10¹⁰ cfu mL⁻¹. Next, 100 µL of the adjusted cell suspension was added to 900 µL MA containing the donor DNA and biocides at subinhibitory concentrations (see Table 1 and Table S3), reaching a final cell density of 1×10⁹ cfu mL⁻¹ in the assay. The donor DNA was amplified from the cloning vector pCLT hosted in E. coli K12 MG1655 using the following primer pair pCLT fwd 5' CTG CTA AAA ACT ACG GTA GAG C 3' and pCLT rev 5' CCA GGA TCT CTA GAT TAT TTG C 3' and was added at a concentration of 2 µg mL⁻¹. The concentration of total recipient and transformant cells was sampled after 24 h and determined by plating different dilutions on LB agar (total cell number) and LB agar supplemented with 100 μ g mL⁻¹ spectinomycin (selective for the transformant). The water disinfection byproduct bromoacetic acid (BAA) was reported to significantly increase transformation frequencies with the same donor and recipient setup [154] and thus served as a positive control. Addition of MA medium instead of donor DNA was used as negative control. The transformation frequency was calculated by dividing the number of transformants over the total number of cells. Outliers in the dataset of the transformation frequencies for each treatment were determined with the Grubbs-test at *p*=0.05 in OriginLab. One out of 36 data points (~3%) was removed as outlier. The fold-change of the transformation frequencies of each replicate treatment was calculated to its respective control without biocide performed on the same day. Statistical significance was tested for replicate treatments using the One-sample t-test against 1 at *p*=0.05 in OriginLab.

rpoS and recA reporter assay

The soft-agarose transcription fusion reporter assay for rpoS and recA expression was performed as described in [141] with the modification of using minimal medium M9G instead of Mueller-Hilton medium. Briefly, mid-exponential phase (OD600~0.5) cultures of E. coli K12 MG1655 rpoS::ß-gal and E. coli K12 MG1655 recA::GFP were mixed in equal part with M9G medium supplemented with 0.6% agar and poured onto M9G medium agar plates (25 mL, agar height = 7 mm). Filter discs (Whatman antibiotic assay discs 6 mm) loaded with biocides were placed onto the plates. Discs were loaded with the following amounts: ciprofloxacin 10 µg, trimethoprim 10 µg, BAC 40 µg, DDAC 20 µg, CHX 400 µg, copper 100 µg, IPBC 100 µg, permethrin 40 µg, propiconazole 40 µg. The antibiotics ciprofloxacin and trimethoprim were used as positive controls, and water was used as a negative control. Biocides were used in amounts generating similar inhibition zones except for IPBC, permethrin and propiconazole, which did not create inhibition zones. The plates were incubated for 12 h at 37°C and images were taken with an office scanner (Epson Perfection V370 Photo Scanner) for the rpoS::ß-gal reporter strain and UV light transilluminator (ChemiDoc XRS Bio Rad) for the recA::GFP reporter strain. The intensity profiles of each image were analyzed with Image J (plotting the intensity profile) to determine the induction of the genes relative to the control (no biocide). To this end, the height of the intensity peak - typically emerging around the inhibition zone compared to the background level further away from the inhibition zone was calculated. The fold-change intensity differences for the expression of rpoS::ß-gal and recA::GFP reporter strains of each replicate treatment to its corresponding negative control were compared using the One-sample t-test against 1 with p=0.05 in OriginLab.

Results and Discussion

Effect of material preservatives on mutation rates

We investigated whether biocides used as material preservatives affect mutation rates to assess the impact of those material preservatives on the evolvability of microorganisms in the environment. We found that biocides affect the mutation rates in a substance and species-dependent manner (Fig. 1). To this end, we grew bacteria in the presence of biocides and antibiotics (including ciprofloxacin and trimethoprim as controls), plated these cultures on rifampicin selective plates and counted spontaneously occurring rifampicin resistant mutants. The selected antibiotics were used because they were reported to increase mutation rates in *E. coli* [139,141]. The selected antibiotic and biocide concentrations were well below the minimum inhibitory concentration (Table S1) and did neither cause significant effects on growth rates (Fig. S1) nor induced measurable cell death at the inoculum size in the mutation rate assay of 10^3 cfu mL⁻¹ (Fig. S2). Therefore, the concentrations are not expected to lead to artifacts in the estimation of the mutations rates, which have been shown recently to be biased by concentrations that affect growth and induce cell death [202].

First, we checked the robustness of our results by comparing the baseline mutation rates in media without antimicrobials to those reported in the literature. The obtained baseline mutation rates μ_g (in mutations per genome per replication) for *E*. coli (3.51×10⁻⁴), *A. baylyi* (3.41×10⁻⁴) and *B. subtilis* (4.97×10⁻³) are in a similar range to those reported previously (8.7×10⁻⁴ for *E. coli*; 1.67×10⁻⁵ for *A. baylyi*; 2×10⁻² for *B. subtilis*) [203–205]. The difference between our data and the literature could be explained by differences in the cultivation conditions; e.g. we used minimal media instead of full media. It was shown that nutrient availability can affect the mutation rate in *E. coli* and that *E. coli* cultures with intermediate nutrient availability have the lowest mutation rates [206]. Obtaining comparable mutation rates to the literature shows that our approach accurately quantifies mutation rates and is thus suited to determine the effects of biocides on mutation rates.

Next, we checked whether our approach repeats known effects of the antibiotics ciprofloxacin and trimethoprim on spontaneous mutation rates. Our data showed no increase in the mean number of rifampicin resistant mutants for any of the tested microorganisms exposed to both antibiotics (Fig. 1), which have previously been reported to increase mutation rates in *E. coli* [141,143,207]. The reason for this discrepancy might be related to the low antibiotic concentrations in our assay and the deviations in assay design. We grew cells at low concentrations of ciprofloxacin (0.6 μ g L⁻¹) and trimethoprim (200 μ g L⁻¹) to accumulate rifampicin resistance mutations in the presence of both antibiotics (Table 1), while other reports pre-incubated cells with high concentrations (60 μ g L⁻¹& 2,000 μ g L⁻¹, respectively) and then grew the cells without the antibiotics before selective plating [141]. Our data, therefore, suggest

that the effects of ciprofloxacin and trimethoprim on mutation rates reported previously may not occur around low, environmentally relevant concentrations (0.03 μ g L⁻¹ & 0.7 μ g L⁻¹, respectively) [208].

Next, we investigated the effect of biocides on mutation rates. For E. coli, the mutation rates were significantly increased upon exposure to CHX (3.5 fold), DDAC (2.7 fold), copper (2.2 fold), permethrin (2.7 fold) and propiconazole (2.8 fold) (Fig. 1B). For A. baylyi, IPBC and for B. subtilis, permethrin significantly lowered the mutation rate by approximately halving it in comparison to the control. We experimentally confirmed that the significant increases in mutation rate observed for CHX, DDAC permethrin and propiconazole in E. coli were not affected by strong fitness differences between the wildtype and the emerging rifampicinresistant mutants (Fig. S4). The experimental data showed that copper significantly reduced rifampicin-resistant mutant fitness relative the wildtype. These fitness differences could bias the estimation of differences in mutation rates. However, the co-estimation of mutant fitness (w) from the empirical mutant distributions (Fig. S3) showed a fitness decrease of rifampicinresistant mutants relative to the wildtype in copper (mean w = 0.93) consistent with the experimental data (0.86). Thus, the apparent reduced mutant fitness was part of the statistical comparison of the effects of copper on the mutation rate. The opposing effects of permethrin on the mutation rates of B. subtilis and E. coli might be based on the different stress-response systems induced in these species, which then leads to opposing downstream effects on stressinduced mutagenesis [209,210]. Taken together, our results show that the effects of biocides on mutation rates are not only substance-dependent but also differ across microbial genera.

An especially noteworthy result was the increase of the mutation rate in *E. coli* in the presence of DDAC and CHX. The effects for DDAC and CHX were apparent at concentrations (20 and 12 μ g L⁻¹, respectively) that have been shown to occur in wastewater (61 and 4.47 μ g L⁻¹) (Table 1) and that are close to their eco-toxicological predicted no effect concentration for fresh water (max. 6.3 and 1 μ g L⁻¹) [172]. Wastewater is known to comprise diverse populations of *Enterobacteriaceae*, including *E. coli* and a high diversity of antibiotics at high concentrations [211]. Therefore, wastewater is thought to be a hotspot for antibiotic resistance evolution and spread [212]. Thus, this result suggests that DDAC and CHX in wastewater may facilitate the evolution of antibiotic resistance in wastewater by increasing mutation rates in *Enterobacteriaceae*.

The observed increase of the mutation rate of *E. coli* when exposed to copper was consistent with previous reports [213,214]. For propiconazole, our results also agree with previous results that showed a mutagenic potential for *E. coli* in mouse liver cells, where it increased mutation rates by 2-fold as compared to the increase observed by us (2.8 fold) [215]. The effects
observed on the mutation rates of *E. coli* for permethrin and propiconazole are surprising because both are not used to target bacteria and consequently do not affect bacterial growth [216,217] (Table 1). Thus, our approach led us to determine the effect on mutation rates at concentrations far above those measured in the environment (8,000 & ~1,000 fold higher than in water, respectively), which is different to the assays with BAC, DDAC, CHX and copper (Table 1). However, such high concentrations might be experienced by bacteria on surfaces of materials preserved with biocidal products devoid of bactericidal substances, which is common in wood preservatives. Therefore, our results suggest that bacteria could have increased mutation rates when residing on preserved material surfaces that only contain fungicides (propiconazole) and insecticides (permethrin).

Taken together, our results show that material preservatives affect mutation rates of bacteria at subinhibitory concentrations in a compound and species-dependent manner. This effect can be exerted by compounds for which bacteria are not the target organisms (e.g. permethrin and propiconazole), but also by compounds that target bacteria directly at their low environmentally relevant concentrations (e.g. CHX and DDAC). Thus, our findings highlight the risk of material preservatives to contribute to the evolution of antimicrobial resistance in the environment by increasing the mutation rates of bacteria. This could increase the pollution of the environment with antimicrobial resistance genes/traits and increase the probability of the transmission of resistant strains from the environment to humans [218,219].



Fig. 1. Material preservatives affect mutation rates.

A) Mutation rate μ_g for *A. baylyi*, *B. subtilis* and *E. coli* grown in the presence of subinhibitory concentrations (see Table 1) of antibiotics and biocides, as determined by a fluctuation assay on rifampicin-loaded selective plates. The bars represent the 95% confidence interval around the mean of μ_g shown with horizontal lines as calculated by rSalvador (N=48). Statistical significance of differences between control and treatments was assessed using a likelihood ratio test under the Mandelbrot-Koch model (* $p\leq0.05$; ** $p\leq0.005$). Note the different y-axis scaling. **B)** Heatmap of significantly affected mutation rates μ_g . The color key shows the log2 transformed relative differences in μ_g for the different treatments to the control, obtained by dividing μ_g of a respective treatment by μ_g of the control followed by a log2 transformation. For example, the value 0 on the scale means no difference between treatment relative to the control (log₂(1)=0) and a value of 1 means a doubling of the mutation rate relative to the control (log₂(2)=1). White areas represent treatments with non-significant differences.

Effect of biocides on conjugation

The effect of biocides used as material preservatives on the conjugational transfer of a broadhost-range plasmid was investigated to assess whether this is a potentially relevant process in the environment. The results show that the microbicides BAC and CHX as well as the insecticide permethrin increase conjugation rates in *E. coli* (Fig. 2). To this end, we determined the plasmid transfer rate of the broad-host-range plasmid pKJK5 between *E. coli* donor and recipient cells [220]. The plasmid transfer rate was calculated based on the growth rate, the number of donor, recipient and transconjugant cells, and the total cell number [200]. This approach excludes artifacts introduced by experimental parameters that affect conjugation rates estimated by simply determining the transconjugant frequency. Such sensitive experimental parameters include, e.g. the initial donor-recipient ratios or growth of the transconjugant during the experiment [144,166,200].

Our results showed that DDAC, copper, IPBC and propiconazole did not significantly increase HGT, while CHX and permethrin showed a significant 4-fold and BAC a significant 2-fold increase (Fig. 2). Our findings for CHX and BAC are consistent with the literature [56,153]. The reported concentrations of BAC and CHX in wastewater are one and two orders of magnitude lower than those used in our assay (see Table 1). However, wastewater from buildings with high use of disinfectants (hospitals and animal staples) may release concentrations that are in the range of those used in our assay [221,222]. The substances may therefore pose a high risk for HGT linked to antibiotic resistant strains released from hospitals and animal staples.

In the literature, contrasting results have been reported for copper: either an increase in the conjugational transfer frequency (e.g. of the pCM184-Cm plasmid) by copper ions [223] or copper nanoparticles at low environmentally relevant concentrations [166], or a decrease in the conjugational transfer frequency (e.g. of the pJP4 and pADP1 plasmids) over a range of copper and copper nanoparticle concentrations (10,000, 20,000, 50,000, 100,000 μ g L⁻¹) [224]. The disagreement of our results with these studies could be due to different experimental

conditions, copper concentrations (we used 250 μ g L⁻¹), strains and plasmids used or the difference in experimental approaches (rate vs. frequency determination) [200,220,225].

Biocides that do not target nor inhibit bacteria were used at higher concentrations than those that inhibit bacteria. Of those biocides, permethrin led to a significant, ~4-fold increase in the conjugation rate (Fig. 2). The data on permethrin concentrations in the environment is scarce, but pyrethroids are present at concentrations in river water just one order of magnitude lower than concentrations used in our conjugation assay (Table 1). Additionally, pyrethroid insecticides are used extensively in various environments to control pests, and their biodegradation is slow, leading to an accumulation of pyrethroids and subsequent exposure of bacteria in soil [226]. Moreover, bacteria residing on surfaces of materials preserved with biocidal products that exclusively target fungi and insects will be exposed to permethrin. Previous studies demonstrated that surfaces treated with antifouling paints are hotspots for HGT [227]. Together with our data, this suggests that pyrethroids, and especially permethrin, enhance HGT and that the interface of preserved materials with the environment maybe be a hotspot for HGT. In turn, increased HGT could promote the exchange of antibiotic resistance genes – such as those harbored on the environmental pKJK5 plasmid used in our work [228] - in e.g. soil, which is known to be a large reservoir for a diverse microbial community with a shared resistome [229]. This should be considered, because humans might be exposed to these material-environment interfaces as they typically live nearby infrastructures that are protected with biocides.

Taken together, our results show that the material preservatives permethrin and BAC as well as the antiseptic CHX increase HGT via conjugation in bacteria at concentrations that might be encountered in the natural environment. Our findings highlight the risk of material preservatives contributing to the spread of resistance in environmental bacteria.



Fig. 2 Material preservatives affect horizontal gene transfer via conjugation in *E. coli*. Plasmid transfer rate of *E. coli* treated with subinhibitory concentrations (see Table 1) of biocides relative to untreated cells. The plasmid transfer rate was determined by a conjugation rate assay using *E. coli lacl^q-pLpp-mCherry-Km^R* + pKJK5::*gfpmut3b-TMP*^R as donor and *E. coli Rif*^R as recipient. The bars represent the 95% confidence interval around the mean shown as horizontal lines (N=6-18). Statistical significance of the treatment was assessed using a One-sample t-test (*p≤ 0.05).

Effect of biocides on transformation

The effect of biocides used as material preservatives on HGT via transformation was investigated to assess whether this is a potentially relevant process in the environment. To this end, we determined the transformation frequency of naked DNA into the naturally competent model organism *A. baylyi* using a previously developed reporter strain [230] (Fig. 3). The exogenous DNA harbored the promotor for the reporter gene cassette present in the reporter strain [201]. The water disinfection byproduct BAA was used as a positive control in our setup, since it was reported that BAA increases transformation [154]. The data showed increased transformation frequencies in individual replicates in response to BAA (Fig. 3). However, the overall effect of BAA was not statistically significant due to a high variance among replicates. Evaluation of the data before and after incubation showed that the cell density did not significantly increase during the assay for any of the biocides (Fig. S5). However, the cell number in incubations with BAA, BAC and copper decreased slightly which could have confounded the calculated frequencies if transformatis and donors are killed at different rates.

The transformation frequencies did not increase under the effect of any of the investigated biocides at subinhibitory concentrations but decreased upon exposure to IPBC and copper (Fig. 3). We expected that copper increases transformation because it has been reported to induce the SOS response linked to *recA* activation [166], which is a molecular link to increased

transformation in *A. baylyi* [154]. However, natural transformation is a process which can become costly under stressful conditions [231]. Thus, biocide concentrations close to the MIC might turn the benefit of transformation into a cost. The lower transformation frequency might be explained by copper and iodine reacting with the exogenous donor DNA [232,233] and thus lowering the available or transformable DNA concentration in the assay. Taken together, our data show that material preservatives at subinhibitory concentrations do not increase HGT via transformation in *A. baylyi*. Our findings suggest that the risk of the tested material preservatives contributing to the spread of resistance via natural transformation in bacteria in the environment is low.



Fig. 3 Material preservatives do not increase horizontal gene transfer via transformation in *A. baylyi*. Foldchange of transformation frequency of *A. baylyi* treated with subinhibitory concentrations (see Table 1) of biocides relative to untreated cells. The transformation frequency was determined by a transformation assay using an *A. baylyi* reporter strain and donor DNA. The bars represent the 95% confidence interval around the mean shown as horizontal line (N=3-6). Statistical significance of the treatment was assessed using the One-sample t-test ($p \le$ 0.05).

Effect of biocides on the bacterial stress response

The effect of biocides used as material preservatives on the bacterial RpoS-mediated general stress response and SOS response was investigated to assess whether their induction by material preservatives can mechanistically explain the observed effects. To this end, we measured the effect of biocides on gene expression of *rpoS* and *recA* with *E. coli* reporter strains [141]. Antibiotics and biocides were used in a concentration gradient from lethal via subinhibitory concentrations to full absence, generating an inhibition zone surrounded by an induction zone in a soft-agarose transcription fusion reporter assay (Fig. 4) [141]. The bacterial stress response and the SOS response were significantly induced for the positive control

ciprofloxacin [141,234] and for most of the biocides; except for propiconazole and permethrin (Fig. 4). The absence of induction by propiconazole and permethrin is consistent with the observation that both do not show antibacterial activity in *E. coli* (Tables S1 & S2) [82,83,235]. For IPBC, only the RpoS-mediated general stress response was induced, but not the RecA response. Moreover, our results are in agreement with the literature, showing that in *E. coli* BAC and copper induce the RpoS-mediated general stress response and copper induces in addition the SOS response [166,223,236,237].

Previous reports showed an effect of the RpoS-mediated general stress response [137,138,238,239] and the SOS response on the mutation rate [139,140,240]. Therefore, the induction of these pathways might explain the increased mutation rates in response to those biocides that showed increases in rpoS or recA induction along increases in mutation rates (CHX, DDAC, and copper). However, comparing the effect of biocides on rpoS and recA (Fig. 4) with the effect on the mutation rates (Fig. 1 and 5A) shows that induction of these pathways is neither necessary nor sufficient to explain increases in mutation rates. CHX, DDAC, copper, permethrin and propiconazole were increasing mutation rates in E. coli, but only CHX, DDAC and copper showed increased induction in at least one stress response pathway. In contrast, BAC induced rpoS and recA but did not increase the mutation rate (Fig. 5A). There are four explanations for these observations: (i) the concentrations in the mutation rate assay were below those of BAC that induced rpoS and recA; (ii) permethrin and propiconazole induce alternative pathways that affect mutagenesis, (iii) while rifampicin resistance as the chosen marker is mainly mediated by point mutations [241], RpoS and RecA might mainly mediate other types of mutations (deletions and insertions), and (iv) the amount of permethrin and propiconazole in the disc used in the reporter assay was not sufficient to establish a concentration in the agar that equals the high concentration used in the mutation rate assay. Previous studies support option (ii) observing a direct DNA damaging effect of permethrin in mice [242] and preliminary indications for such effects by propiconazole [215,243]. Option (iii) is unlikely because studies on the mutational spectrum affected by downstream effectors of RecA and RpoS important for stress-induced mutagenesis (e.g. DinB, UmuDC and MutS) do not suggest a tendency for insertions/deletions over point mutations [244-246]. The last option (iv) is unlikely as can be shown by a simple calculation. Using the amount of active substance loaded in the filter disc and assuming a radius of 1 mm of detectable, induced cells around the 6 mm disc, we calculated the concentration of active substance in a cylinder of agar (height = 7 mm) below and around the disc. This calculation shows that propiconazole and permethrin were deployed at a concentration of ~150,000 μ g L⁻¹, which is well above the concentration in the mutation rate assay (Table 1; 10,000 µg L⁻¹). Taken together, our results show a link

between the RpoS-mediated general stress and the SOS response with increased mutation rates, but not for all biocides.

Comparing the results of the induction of *rpoS* and *recA* to the effects of biocides on HGT rates revealed a similar trend as those observed for the effects on the mutation rates (Fig. 5B). The effect of biocides on the induction of both stress pathways is neither necessary nor sufficient to explain increases in conjugation rates. BAC, CHX and permethrin were increasing the conjugation rate, but only BAC and CHX induced the stress response pathways. RecA, the trigger protein of the SOS response, has been shown to be involved in conjugation and transformation [154,247,248]. Indeed, previous reports showed that copper induces both stress responses and also increases conjugation rates [166,223]. However, induction of *recA* by copper and DDAC was not related to increased conjugation and transformation rates in our experiments (Fig. 2 & 3). This effect might be explained by the up to 2.5 fold lower copper concentrations used by us or by the different mating partner and transferable plasmid used in our conjugation assays as compared to those reported in the literature [166,223].

The observed differences between the induction of rpoS and recA to the effects of the biocides on mutagenesis, conjugation and transformation might be explained by the biocide concentrations used in those assays. In the soft agarose assay the reporter strains are exposed to a range of biocide concentrations, whereas the effects on the rates of mutation and HGT were measured at a single subinhibitory concentration. However, our results showed that many material preservatives induce the RpoS-mediated general stress and the SOS response, indicating a risk to affect rates of mutation and HGT at least at some concentrations. This might be important because pollutants have been shown to establish concentration gradients in the environment and thus microorganisms are likely exposed to such gradients [249,250]. Our data therefore raises the question on how realistic environmental concentrations are related to the induction of different stress response pathways and how this in turn affects rates of mutation and HGT. Moreover, our work raises the question as to whether material preservatives that are non-toxic to bacteria induce known mutational pathways other than those mediated by RpoS and RecA [251–254] or currently unknown pathways that affect rates of mutation and HGT. The work presented here provides the basis for future investigations, in which careful selection of environmentally relevant biocide concentrations should be performed and transcriptomic responses should be measured.



Fig. 4. Material preservatives affect bacterial RpoS-mediated general stress and RecA-linked SOS responses. A) Schematic of the reporter fusion assay. Imaging of plates was done with an office scanner (transmission) for *rpoS*::ßgal and with a UV transilluminator (fluorescence) for *recA*::GFP. A representative example for the analysis of the image data is shown for one replicate of *recA* expression in the presence of CHX. B) The induction of the bacterial stress response when exposed to antibiotics and biocides for *rpoS* and a component of the SOS response (*recA*) in *E. coli* reporter strains. The bars represent the 95% confidence interval around the mean shown as horizontal grey dotted line. Statistical significance of the treatment was assessed using the One-sample t-test ($p \le 0.05$). The pictures above the graph show representative images for the corresponding treatments. The scale bar is 6 mm.



Fig. 5. Relationship between effects of biocides on the relative rates of mutation or plasmid transfer with their effect on *rpoS* and *recA* induction.

The effect of biocides on the induction of the bacterial RpoS-mediated general stress response (*rpoS*, squares) and the RecA-linked SOS response (*recA*, circles) (taken from Fig. 4) compared to **A**) the relative mutation rate μ_g (mutations per genome per replication) (taken from Fig. 1B) and **B**) the relative plasmid transfer rate (taken from Fig. 2). The response of *rpoS* and *recA* have been measured with *E. coli* reporter strains in a soft agar diffusion assay. The data shows the mean values of each parameter. Biocides that show significant (*p*≤0.05) effects on mutation or plasmid transfer rates are displayed with colored symbols, while biocides with non-significant effects are shown in grey. The dotted lines are a guide to the eye to distinguish the four possible outcomes (e.g. upper right: effect on rate linked to induction of *rpoS/recA*). Note that the plasmid transfer rate data of propiconazole is shown right of the dotted line, even though its rate is not significantly increased.

Conclusions

Material preservatives can increase rates of mutation and HGT of bacteria. Antibacterial biocides can induce their effect at environmentally relevant concentrations, while fungicidal or insecticidal biocides can induce their effects at high concentrations at the material-environment interface. The effects are moderate; ca. 2 to 4-fold for mutation rates and 4-fold for conjugation rates. Future studies need to assess how these effects contribute to the evolution and spread of antibiotic resistance in nature at their environmentally relevant concentrations.

Supplementary information

Mutation rate assay – MICs and biocide concentrations

The concentrations of the different biocides used in the mutation rate assay were chosen to be below the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and to not induce measurable cell death at the initial cell densities of the mutation rate assay (i.e. 10^3 cfu mL⁻¹). The resulting concentrations may thereby not cause any bias in the estimation of the mutations rates [202]. A stepwise approach was chosen to derive these concentrations for each combination of test strain and active substance. First, the MIC was determined with an inoculum of 10^3 cfu mL⁻¹ (Table S1). Then, we tested for the absence of initial killing at or below 1/50 MIC for *A. baylyi* and *B. subtilis* and 1/100 MIC for *E. coli* using an inoculum of 10^3 cfu mL⁻¹ (Fig. S2). The MIC for the non-antibacterial active substances (i.e. permethrin, propiconazole and IPBC) was for some strains above the solubility maximum (~1×10⁶ µg L⁻¹ in the different culture media at room temperature for all 3 substances). In such cases (as indicated in Table S1), the concentrations used to test for the absence of initial killing were chosen relative to the solubility maximum and tested to be at or below 1/100 MIC.

E. coli				
Biocide	MIC (µg L⁻¹)*	Concentration in	relation of assay	
		mutation rat assay	concentration to MIC	
		(µg L⁻¹)		
BAC	3·10 ³	30	1/100 MIC	
DDAC	2·10 ³	20	1/100 MIC	
CHX	6·10 ³	12	1/500 MIC	
Copper	2.5·10 ³	25	1/100 MIC	
IPBC	1·10 ^{6#}	2·10 ³	1/500 MIC	
Permethrin	1·10 ^{6#}	10·10 ³	1/100 MIC	
Propiconazole	1·10 ^{6#}	10·10 ³	1/100 MIC	
Ciprofloxacin	300	0.6	1/500 MIC	
Trimethoprim	20·10 ³	200	1/100 MIC	
		B. subtilis		
BAC	3·10 ³	1.2	1/2500 MIC	
DDAC	50	0.2	1/250 MIC	
CHX	6·10 ³	12	1/500 MIC	
Copper	2·10 ³	4	1/500 MIC	
IPBC	250·10 ³	400	1/500 MIC	
Permethrin	100·10 ³	400	1/250 MIC	
Propiconazole	100·10 ³	400	1/250 MIC	
Ciprofloxacin	2·10 ³	8	1/250 MIC	
Trimethoprim	5·10 ³	4	1/1250 MIC	
A. baylyi				
BAC	12·10 ³	240	1/50 MIC	
DDAC	1·10 ³	20	1/50 MIC	
СНХ	100	2	1/50 MIC	
Copper	50·10 ³	1·10 ³	1/50 MIC	
IPBC	500·10 ³	1·10 ³	1/500 MIC	
Permethrin	1·10 ^{6#}	2·10 ³	1/500 MIC	
Propiconazole	1.106#	2·10 ³	1/500 MIC	
Ciprofloxacin	1.8·10 ³	36	1/50 MIC	
Trimethoprim	800·10 ³	16·10 ³	1/50 MIC	

Table S1. MICs and their relation to biocide concentrations chosen for the mutation rate assay

* at starting cell density of 10³ cfu mL⁻¹

 $^{\#}$ MIC above solubility maximum of $1\cdot10^{6}\,\mu g~L^{\text{-1}}$

Conjugation rate assay – MICs and biocide concentrations

The concentrations of the different biocides used in the conjugation rate assay were chosen to be below the MIC at the initial cell densities of the assay (i.e. 10^7 cfu mL⁻¹) (Table S2). The concentrations were chosen to be 1/10 MIC determined at 10^7 cfu mL⁻¹. The growth data obtained during the conjugation rate assay showed no signs of growth inhibition or cell death. The MIC for the non-antibacterial active substances (i.e. permethrin, propiconazole and IPBC) was above the solubility maximum (~ $1\cdot10^6$ µg L⁻¹ in the different culture media at room temperature for all 3 substances). Therefore, the concentrations used in the conjugation rate assay were chosen relative to the solubility maximum instead of the MIC.

E. coli				
Biocide	MIC (µg L⁻¹)*	Concentration in	relation of assay	
		conjugation rate	concentration to MIC	
		assay (µg L⁻¹)		
BAC	3·10 ³	300	1/10 MIC	
DDAC	2·10 ³	200	1/10 MIC	
СНХ	6·10 ³	600	1/10 MIC	
Copper	2.5·10 ³	250	1/10 MIC	
IPBC	1·10 ^{6#}	100·10 ³	1/10 MIC	
Propiconazole	1·10 ^{6#}	100·10 ³	1/10 MIC	
Permethrin	1·10 ^{6#}	100·10 ³	1/10 MIC	

Table S2. MICs and their relation to biocide concentrations chosen for the conjugation rate assay

* at starting cell density of 10⁷ cfu mL⁻¹

 $^{\#}$ MIC above solubility maximum of $1\cdot10^{6}\,\mu g$ $L^{\text{-1}}$

Transformation rate assay – MICs and biocide concentrations

The concentrations of the different biocides used in the transformation rate assay were chosen to be below the MIC at the initial cell densities of the assay (i.e. 10^9 cfu mL⁻¹) (Table S3). The concentrations were chosen to range between $\frac{1}{2}$ to $\frac{1}{10}$ of the MIC determined at 10^9 cfu mL⁻¹. The concentration for BAA was chosen to correspond the concentration that was reported previously to stimulate transformation [154]. The MIC for the non-antibacterial active substances (i.e. permethrin, propiconazole and IPBC) was above the solubility maximum (~ $1 \cdot 10^6 \mu g L^{-1}$ in the different culture media at room temperature for all 3 substances). Therefore, the concentrations used in the transformation rate assay were chosen relative to the solubility maximum instead of the MIC.

A. baylyi					
Biocide	MIC (µg L ⁻¹)*	Concentration in	relation of assay		
		transformation rate	concentration to MIC		
		assay (µg L⁻¹)			
BAA	n.d.	27.84·10 ³	-		
BAC	12·10 ³	6·10 ³	1/2 MIC		
СНХ	1·10 ³	500	1/2 MIC		
DDAC	100	10	1/10 MIC		
Copper	50·10 ³	25·10 ³	1/2 MIC		
IPBC	500·10 ³	250·10 ³	1/2 MIC		
Propiconazole	1·10 ^{6#}	500·10 ³	1/2 MIC		
Permethrin	1·10 ^{6#}	500·10 ³	1/2 MIC		

Table S3. MICs and their relation to biocide concentrations chosen for the transformation rate assay

n.d. not determined

* at starting cell density of 10⁹ cfu mL⁻¹

[#] MIC above solubility maximum of 1.10⁶ µg L⁻¹



Fig. S1. The effect of biocides on the final total cell number (N_t) and the growth rate in the mutation rate assay. The final total cell number in 200 μ L cell suspension of *A. baylyi*, *B. subtilis* and *E. coli* (left panel) was measured at the end of the mutation rate assay. The growth rates (right panel) were measured in M9G at the same antibiotic/biocide concentrations as were used in the mutation rate assay (Tables 1 and S1). The bars represent the 95% confidence interval around the mean as shown with horizontal lines (N_{Nt} = 5 to 6 and N_{growth rate}=7). Statistical significance of differences between control and treatments was assessed using a one-way-ANOVA with

a Dunnett post hoc test (Prism 5, Graphpad Software) and significant differences at $p \le 0.05$ were marked with an asterisk (*A. baylyi* control vs BAC). P-values of the one-way-ANOVA are shown in each sub-panel.



Fig. S2. Effect of biocides on cell death during mutation rate assay.

Relative cell number after 4 h of incubation as divided by the initial cell number for *A. baylyi, B. subtilis* and *E. coli.* The cells were inoculated in M9G medium at 10³ cfu mL⁻¹ as used in the mutation rate assay and sampled before and after 4 h exposure to biocides or antibiotics at concentrations shown in Table S1. Each circle represents the result of a single incubation (N=1). The analysis showed that neither antibiotics nor biocides lead to relevant killing at the concentrations used in the mutation rate assay after 4 h.



Fig. S3. Estimation of fitness (*w*) of rifampicin resistant mutants that emerged in the mutation rate assay relative to the wildtype.

Fitness of rifampicin-resistant mutants relative to the wildtype in the presence of biocides/antibiotics was estimated using the newton.joint.MK function in rSalvador or mutestim in flan (for *B. subtilis* TMP, BAC, DDAC). The bars represent the 95% confidence interval around the mean of *w* as shown with horizontal lines. rSalvador and flan were not able to determine the confidence intervals for all treatments. In these cases, only the mean of *w* is shown with a horizontal line.



Fig. S4. Fitness of rifampicin-resistant *E. coli* mutants relative to the wildtype in the presence and absence of biocides.

The growth rate $[h^{-1}]$ of isolated rifampicin resistant *E. coli* mutants (N=20) was determined in the presence and absence of biocides, which showed significant increases in mutation rates (Fig. 1B). The growth rates were measured in M9G at the same antibiotic/biocide concentrations as were used in the mutation rate assay (Tables 1 and S1). Symbols show the growth rate of each mutant relative to the mean growth rate of the wildtype in the same condition (Fig. S1). Statistical significance of the treatment to 1 was assessed using a One-sample t-test (* $p \le 0.05$). The results show that copper significantly reduces the mutant fitness relative to the wildtype.

Strain	G (bp per genome) [#]	L (bp)§
E. coli	4,608,319 [255]	69 [256]
B. subtilis	4,214,598 [257]	8 [205]
A. baylyi	3,598,621 [258]	17 [196]

Table S4. Parameters for the calculation of the genomic mutation rate $\left(\mu_g\right)^{\star}$

* references are shown in brackets next to each value

genome size

 $\ensuremath{\$}$ size of the genomic locus, on which a mutation can confer resistance to rifampicin



Fig. S5. Effect of biocides on the final cell number in the transformation assay.

The final cell number of *A. baylyi* at the end ($N_{t(end)}$) of the transformation assay relative to the cell number adjusted by optical density (OD_{600}) at the start ($N_{t(0)}$) of the transformation assay. The bars represent the 95% confidence interval around the mean as shown with horizontal lines (N=3-6). The black dashed horizontal line denotes the level (1) at which $N_{t(end)}$ does not change relative to $N_{t(0)}$. The grey dashed horizontal lines represent the 95% confidence interval of the accuracy with which $N_{t(0)}$ was adjusted.

Chapter 3: Effect of biocides selection pressures on evolution of resistance

Abstract

Biocides are used as disinfectants and material preservatives to control bacteria across various applications. Bacterial resistance to biocides has commonly been studied using adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE) experiments with growth at subinhibitory concentrations linked to serial subculturing over many generations. Furthermore, it has been shown recently that E. coli adapts to repeated lethal stress imposed by the biocide benzalkonium chloride (BAC) by increased survival (i.e. tolerance) and not by evolving the ability to grow at increased concentrations (i.e. resistance). Here, we investigate the contributions of evolution for tolerance as opposed to resistance in ALE experiments with *E. coli* exposed to subinhibitory BAC concentrations. We find that BAC concentrations, which are potentially selective in common ALE experiments (i.e. concentrations close to the half maximal effective concentration; EC50), show initial killing (~40%) before the population resumes growth. This indicates that cells face a twofold selection pressure; one for increased survival and one for increased growth in the presence of BAC. To disentangle the effects of both selective pressures, we conducted two ALE experiments: (i) one with initial killing and continued stress at the EC50 during the growth phase and (ii) another with initial killing and no stress during the growth phase. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of the evolved populations revealed differences between the two ALE experiments and treatment-specific adaptations. Both evolutionary treatments led to a reduction of lag time, likely driven by the initial killing phase present in both treatments. However, growth at higher BAC concentrations was only selected when BAC was present during the growth phase. Genotypic characterization by whole genome sequencing of the evolved populations revealed parallelism in mutated genes among replicate populations for treatments with higher selection pressure and distinct differences across treatments. Treatments with higher selection pressures selected for BAC treatment specific mutations, such as membrane associated (*lpxM* and *lpxL*) genes or stress response related genes (rssB, hslO and tufA), while the lowest selection pressure selected for mutations in genes for regulation (cyaA) and cellular structure (flagella fliJ). Our findings underpins that the design of an ALE experiment to assess the potential for biocide resistance evolution should match the selective pressure imposed by the experiment to the conditions for which resistance risks should be assessed. While selection for survival may be appropriate to assess resistance risks emerging during use of the biocide at lethal concentrations, selection for growth in the presence of low concentrations may rather reflect selective effects imposed by diluted biocides in the environment. Thus, our work highlights the importance of careful experimental design to assess the risk of biocide resistance mechanisms in diverse applications in specific settings.

Introduction

Antimicrobial resistance is currently a global burden and will likely become more severe in the future [1,6]. While there is an ongoing increase of antimicrobial resistance there is very little progress accomplished in the development and admission of new antimicrobial compounds [259–261]. Therefore, the underlying mechanisms and causes for selection, evolution and spread of antimicrobial resistance must be further investigated and if possible, prevented.

Biocides are used to control bacteria across various applications [4,107]. This widespread usage of biocides is reflected in the presence of biocide residues in the environment [70]. Biocides are clear contributors to the burden of antimicrobial resistance [45,262–265]. A supporting example is the treatment failure of human pathogenic fungi with azole-based drugs in clinical settings. This treatment failure is partly related to the use of azole-based pesticides or biocides, which contribute to the evolution and spread of azole resistant fungi in the environment [266–270].

Benzalkonium chloride (BAC) is a quaternary ammonium compound used in a wide range of applications, e.g. as an antiseptic, a disinfectant, or as material preservative [54] This explains the occurrence of BAC residues various matrices like food, wastewater, soils and sediments [86,131,271]. Further on, it was shown that low BAC concentrations which also occur in the environment can increase the spread of antibiotic resistance via horizontal gene transfer via transformation [272,273] or conjugation [264]. Thus, the prolonged exposure of microorganisms to BAC can promote and contribute to the antimicrobial resistance problem [262,274,275]. Therefore, BAC resistance evolution and the effect on further resistance mechanisms need to be investigated.

Adaptive laboratory evolution experiments (ALE) are commonly used to better understand the risks and mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance evolution [276,277]. Hereby, a serial transfer of microorganisms in the presence of certain antimicrobials is used to study the population dynamics and molecular mechanisms of adaption [117,276,278]. However, the precise selective pressure exerted during those ALE experiments and its consequent impact on adaption mechanisms often remain unexplored.

Furthermore, various factors can affect the selective force of antimicrobial compounds, such as biocides. These include the physical stability of biocides [279], the specific growth conditions of microorganisms, such as the growth media and culturing vessels used [280], as well as the interactions between the antimicrobial and microorganisms, along with their population size [281,282]. These factors collectively contribute to the uncertainty of selection pressure and population dynamics during ALE experiments. The phenomenon of the microbial population size affecting the efficacy of an antimicrobial is termed inoculum effect [283]. This

inoculum effect has been observed with a range of antimicrobials, including antibiotics [284–286], biocides [287–289] and antimicrobial peptides [290]. Specifically, the inoculum effect of quaternary ammonium compounds, such as benzalkonium chloride (BAC), could affect ALE experiments. Since BAC causes an initial decrease of a fraction of the population while leaving the rest of the population potentially unaffected [52,287]. Consequently, this could lead to the selection of diverse survival mechanisms, such as tolerance or persistence.

Microbial survival mechanisms, such as resistance, tolerance and persistence can be distinguished by determining the lethal concentration and the time required to reduce specific portions of the population [291]. While a susceptible population is killed upon exposure to higher concentrations of an antimicrobial compounds, resistant populations manage to survive and grow at lethal concentrations for susceptible populations. Tolerant populations can survive a transient exposure to lethal stress by slower growth or longer lag phases [291,292]. Likewise, a persistent subpopulation can survive a transient exposure to lethal stress while the majority of the population is killed and this mechanism can be either time or- dose dependent [291]. Additionally, tolerance can mask persistence [293] and thus to further study one of those mechanisms individually the experimental conditions need to be carefully considered.

These survival mechanisms exhibit different fitness trade-offs [293] and synergistic interactions between those survival mechanisms can occur [98]. Moreover, selection for increased survival in form of persistence can be achieved rapidly [117,294]. Nonetheless those survival mechanisms promote the evolution of antibiotic resistance by increasing survival and mutation rates [128] and promote the spread of antibiotic resistance [295,296].

The aim of this study is to disentangle the effects of different selection pressures being present in serial transfer evolution experiments. In serial transfer evolution experiments with antimicrobials a fully grown culture is repeatedly exposed to a subinhibitory concentration of an antimicrobial. The culture is diluted and grown in the presence of the antimicrobial. It is assumed that the main selective driver is for growth in the presence of the antimicrobial stress during the growth phase. However, our initial data showed that subinhibitory concentrations of BAC are lethal to a part of the population in the lag phase and thereby may exert selection for survival. In our serial transfer evolution experiment setup (Fig. 1), we have two treatments that aim to disentangle both selective drivers: i) one treatment to select for survival and growth with BAC being present in the lag and growth phase (SG), and ii) a second treatment to select for survival only with BAC being present in the lag phase and removed before the growth phase (S). The phenotypic and genotypic analysis of the evolved lines of the two treatments was performed to provide insights into the adaptations that are distinct for survival as opposed to those for survival and growth. Differences between treatments indicated that selection for growth is not the only selective pressure in serial transfer evolution experiments with BAC. The two treatments used in our serial subculture evolution experiment emphasize the opposing mechanisms of a stressor during serial transfer evolution experiments selecting for either tolerance or resistance.



Figure 1. Serial subculture evolution experiment to assess the effect of benzalkonium chloride (BAC). (A) Selection for survival and growth (SG) and **(B)** the selection for survival (S). Each of the two evolutionary treatments consisted of 12 parallel populations of which 6 populations were exposed to BAC according to the evolutionary treatment and 6 additional populations served as controls treated without BAC exposure, but otherwise being propagated exactly in the same way as the BAC-treated populations. BAC was present during the lag and the growth phase in the selection for survival and growth (SG) treatment, whereas BAC was removed after 4 h of exposure at the end of the lag phase (before the growth phase) in the selection for survival (S) treatment.

Material and Methods

Bacterial strain, chemicals, media, and cultivation conditions

Escherichia coli K12 MG1655 was a generous gift from Prof. Rupert Mutzel (Freie Universität Berlin) and cultivated in liquid defined media M9G composed of M9 salts, minerals, trace elements and glucose as source of carbon and energy (42.2 mM Na₂HPO₄, 22 mM KH₂PO₄, 11.3 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 8.5 mM NaCl, 2 mM MgSO₄, 0.45 mM CaCl₂, 20 mM glucose, 0.0025 mM FeCl₃, 0.00495 mM ZnCl₂, 0.0021 mM CoCl₂, 0.002 mM Na₂MoO₄, 0.0003 mM CaCl₂, 0.0025 mM CuCl₂, 0.002 mM H₃BO₃) and incubated overnight at 220rpm and 37°C. When cultivated on solid media, Lysogeny broth (LB) Lennox (0.16 mM yeast extract, 1.41 mM tryptone, 0.86 mM NaCl and 0.45 mM agar bacteriology grade) agar plates were used and incubated overnight at 37°C. Growth parameters of E. coli, such as growth rate and lag time were determined using a plate reader (Biotek Epoch 2 microplate reader) set to 37°C, fast orbital shaking, and a 5 min measuring interval. The lag times and growth rates were calculated from the increase in OD₆₀₀ over time by inferring the time derivative using Gaussian processes implemented as published code (Swain et al., 2016) in Python 3.6. The biocide benzalkonium chloride [BAC] (PO 12060) was purchased from (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany). The antibiotics colistin (PO 537340), gentamicin (PO 412367), ciprofloxacin (PO 412310), and ampicillin (PO 412252) were purchased as E-test stripes from Biomérieux (bioMérieux Deutschland GmbH, Nürtingen, Germany).

Antimicrobial susceptibility determination

Susceptibility to BAC was determined with the broth microdilution method using 200 μ L total volume per well [192]. The minimum inhibition concentration (MIC) was defined as the lowest concentration that inhibits the growth in liquid cultures. The EC50 of BAC was determined by fitting the growth rate data at various BAC concentrations to a sigmoidal fit using a dose-response curve with variable Hill slope given by parameter "p" and the Levenberg Marquardt iterative algorithm in OriginLab (Origin 2021 Version 9.8.0.200).

The effect of the selected subinhibitory BAC concentration on the viable cell number of the *E. coli* ancestor and the evolved *E. coli* populations was assessed by performing growth curves, which were analyzed by plating and counting of colony forming units at certain time points. *E. coli* overnight cultures were adjusted to 10^6 cfu mL⁻¹, incubated without and with 4 µg mL⁻¹ BAC at 37°C and 1300 rpm in a tabletop incubator (Thermoshaker, Starlab). A sub-sample of the cell suspension was retrieved before the addition of BAC and at hourly intervals until 4 h or after 2 h only. The sub-sample of the cell suspension was diluted appropriately, plated on LB agar, the plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 h, and the colony forming units were counted.

Susceptibility to antibiotics was assessed using E-test stripes following the EUCAST disk diffusion guidelines [297] with slight modifications. Instead of MH2 agar plates, LB agar plates were used and incubated at 37°C. The *E. coli* ancestor was used as a reference point to the evolved *E. coli* populations with the two distinct BAC treatments.

Serial subculture evolution experiment

Daily serial subculture evolution treatments with an M9G pre-adapted *E. coli* K12 MG1655 strain [117] were carried out over 15 days, resulting in approximately 150 generations. Each of the two evolutionary treatments (Fig. 1), the selection for survival only and the selection for survival and growth treatment, had each six biological replicates treated with BAC and six corresponding controls treated without BAC, resulting in total 24 evolutionary populations. In both evolutionary treatments, BAC was present at sub-MIC concentrations for 4 h, which includes the lag phase and the begin of the exponential phase of the *E. coli* ancestor. After 4 h of BAC exposure, the BAC-containing M9G media is replaced by BAC-free M9G media in the selection for survival only treatment, whereas the BAC-containing M9G media remained in the selection for survival and growth treatment.

All cultures were adjusted to 3×10^6 cfu/mL fresh M9G media prior to the treatment. Cells in both treatments were exposed to 4 µg/mL BAC. Cells in the corresponding controls were exposed with M9G medium only. The treatments and controls had a final volume of 520 µL. The cells suspensions were incubated in a tabletop shaker (Thermoshaker, Starlab) at 37°C with 12000 rpm for 4 h and subsequently centrifuged for 5 min at 8000 rpm before the media

was changed to fresh M9G medium without BAC in the selection for survival treatment and their corresponding controls. The selection of survival and growth treatments were also centrifuged but the cell pellet was immediately resuspended in the supernatant (BAC-containing M9G medium). Cultures of both treatments and the corresponding controls were incubated at 37°C and shaken in a tabletop (Thermoshaker, Starlab) at 1200 rpm. Daily freezer stocks in 20 % glycerol were prepared and stored at -80°C. The evolved populations from the different treatments and controls from the last day were further used for phenotypic and genotypic characterization.

Genotype analysis of the evolved populations

Chromosomal DNA of the populations in 4 of 6 biological replicates of each treatment and the corresponding controls was isolated from glycerol freezer stocks using the peqGOLD bacterial DNA kit (PO 13-3450-01). Genome sequencing was performed by Eurofins Genomics (Eurofins Genomics Europe Sequencing GmbH, Konstanz, Germany) on a Illumina system with 150 bp paired-end reads and ~300-fold coverage. Quality of the reads was assessed using the fastqc tool (Wingett & Andrews, 2018) showing that no further trimming was necessary. The analysis of mutations was performed using the breseq pipeline (Deatherage & Barrick, 2014) and the *E. coli* K12 MG1655 reference genome (NCBI RefSeq NC_000913.3). Intra- and intergenic mutations were removed from the list of identified mutations of each BAC-treated population based on the following two criteria: (i) mutations that were present below a threshold of 5 % of the total reads, and (ii) intra- and intergenic mutations that were also present in the corresponding controls. The mutated genes were clustered into categorys by MultiFun Terms found on BioCyc (https://biocyc.org/).

Results

Subinhibitory BAC concentrations are lethal for a fraction of the population and delay initial growth

The aim of the study is to understand the selection drivers during serial transfer evolution experiments with BAC. Common serial transfer evolution experiments operate with subinhibitory concentrations of antimicrobials to ensure growth and simultaneously maintain a selection pressure. Therefore, the susceptibility of *E. coli* to BAC was tested determining the dose response curve and time kill kinetics. Dose-response analysis showed that BAC has a narrow concentration range (between 2.5 and 5 μ g mL⁻¹) at which it affects the growth rate (Fig. 2 A). The IC50, the concentration at which the growth rate is lowered to 50%, is estimated to be 4.36 μ g mL⁻¹ BAC. The MIC of BAC of the *E. coli* ancestor was determined to be 5 μ g mL⁻¹. Exposing *E. coli* to 4 μ g mL⁻¹ BAC showed that the initial growth was delayed as compared to unexposed cells (Fig. 2 B). The observed delay of growth was based on the significant reduction of 40% viable cells after 2 h in the presence of subinhibitory BAC concentrations (Fig. 2 C). This data suggests that serial transfer evolution experiments at subinhibitory concentrations may exert two types of selection pressures: selection for faster growth and enhanced survival at subinhibitory BAC concentrations.





A) Dose-response curve for the growth rate of *E. coli* as a function of BAC concentration (color gradient from yellow to purple). The measured growth rate shown as dots with standard deviation (N=4) was calculated relative to the growth rate without exposure to BAC. The IC₅₀ is 4.36 μ g mL⁻¹ BAC and is shown as a cross and dotted line. **B)** Initial growth curve of *E. coli* with (purple line) and without (orange line) exposure to BAC shown as the increase of colony forming units over time relative to the initial inoculum shown as dots with standard deviation (N=5 to 6). **C)** The surviving fraction of *E. coli* after 2 h exposure with and without 4 μ g mL⁻¹ BAC. Statistical significance was assessed using the one sample t-test (** p<0.005).

Phenotypes evolved in the presence of BAC are linked to selection pressures

To test whether subinhibitory BAC concentrations differentially affect evolution for survival or for survival and growth, we performed a serial transfer evolution experiment with two treatments (Fig. 1) and 14 transfers at a subinhibitory BAC concentration (4 μ g mL⁻¹). Phenotypic adaptions were assessed at the end of the evolution experiment by determining survival after 2 h in the presence of BAC, the growth rate, the lag time and the MIC for BAC of the evolved populations (Fig. 3).

The data showed no reduction in cell number upon BAC exposure for single evolved lines, while the ancestor showed an average survival of 60 %; the relative survival after 2 h BAC exposure was 100 % for 3 of 6 lines of the survival treatment (S), 6 of 6 lines for the corresponding control (Ctrl S), 2 of 6 lines for the survival and growth treatment (SG) and 3 of 6 lines for the corresponding control (Ctrl SG). However, this differences could not be substantiated with a statistical test because the technical variance was only assessed for cfu dterminations of the ancestor. Moreover, the statistical analysis between the evolutionary treatments and the corresponding controls showed there was no significant difference in the surviving fraction (Mann-Whitney p>0.05; Fig. 3A). This indicates that mutations that are not specific to BAC exposure confer increased survival in single evolutionary lines and that selection for survival is generally a weak driver for differences between both evolutionary treatments (S and SG) in our experiment.

Furthermore, the data showed that the evolutionary treatments affected the growth rate (ANOVA p<0.001; Fig. 3A). However, statistical analysis showed a significantly different growth rate only in part (~58 %) of the replicate evolutionary lines of the treatments and their controls as compared to the ancestor. Additionally, the evolutionary treatments were not significantly different from their respective controls (Mann-Whitney p<0.05). The occurrence of significantly different growth rates in the presence of BAC in treatment and control populations in comparison to the ancestor suggests that those adaptations are underpinned by unspecific adaptation to the general conditions of the evolution experiment rather than to the specific treatments.

In addition, the data showed that the evolutionary treatments evolved shorter lag times as compared to the ancestor (ANOVA p<0.001 ; Fig. 3B). Five of six of the evolved lines in the evolutionary treatment for survival only (S) and survival and growth (SG) treatment had significantly shorter lag times as compared to the ancestor (Bonferoni post hoc test p<0.05). While the ancestor had a lag time of 8.7 h in the presence of BAC, the evolved treatment lines that were significantly different exhibited lag times around 7.2 to 7.8 h. The lines that evolved with exposure to BAC had significantly shorter lag times in comparison to their corresponding

63

controls without BAC (Mann-Whitney p<0.05). This shows that the presence of BAC during evolution was required to select for shorter lag times. Those shorter lag times might be explained by higher growth, increased survival or earlier onset of growth. However, the first two mechanisms were not significant across all replicates in our data, suggesting that earlier onset of growth is overall the strongest driver of shorter lag times.

Moreover, the data showed that the populations in the treatment for selection for survival and growth acquired the ability to grow in the presence of higher BAC concentrations (Mann-Whitney p<0.01; Fig. 3D). While the populations selected for growth and survival had a 1.1-to-1.6-fold increase in MIC relative to the ancestor, the populations selected for survival only had a 0.9 to 1.1 fold increase in MIC. This suggest that evolution of growth at increased BAC concentrations requires selection for growth in the presence of BAC. Selection for survival only is not sufficient to evolve growth at increased BAC concentrations.

Taken together, the phenotypic analysis showed that the differences between the evolutionary treatments in response to BAC are linked with the applied selection pressure. The evolutionary treatments with selection for survival only and for survival and growth selected for a shorter lag time. While selection for survival and growth was required to select for growth at increased BAC concentrations. However, the observed effects on the phenotype are relatively weak which might be based on the low selection pressure applied and the short duration of the evolution experiment.



Figure 3. Phenotypic changes of *E. coli* populations evolved for increased survival (S) or survival and growth (SG), their corresponding controls (Ctrl) and the ancestor in the presence of benzalkonium chloride (BAC). A) Surviving cell fraction after 2 h exposure with 4 μ g mL⁻¹ BAC relative to the begin of the incubation. B) Growth rates and C) lag times at 4 μ g mL⁻¹ BAC exposure. D) Susceptibility for BAC and antibiotic. The two different evolutionary BAC treatments are indicated by circles for the survival only and squares for the survival and growth treatment. The various tested antimicrobials can be distinguished by colors (dark blue = BAC, light blue = colistin, green = gentamycin, purple = ciprofloxacin, pink = ampicillin). Each data point represents one evolutionary lineage. The error bars in A) for the ancestor only, and in B) and C) for all datapoints indicate the standard deviation around the determined mean of replicate survival (N=6) and growth assays (N=12), respectively. Means of single evolved lineages shown in light purple color are significantly different to the ancestor (One way ANOVA p<0.001, Bonferroni post hoc test p<0.005). If the values are shown in dark purple, there was no significant difference to the ancestor. Significance between the evolutionary treatments and their corresponding controls is assessed with the Mann-Whitney-Test. P-values are indicated above the brackets.

Consequences of BAC evolution on antibiotic susceptibility

Evolutionary adaptations to BAC are known to lead to decreased susceptibility to antibiotics. Therefore, we investigated whether the distinct exposure to BAC in the two different evolutionary treatments differentially affected antibiotic susceptibility. To this end, we measured susceptibility of a range of selected antibiotics that have different mode of actions. The data shows that there is overall a decreased antibiotic susceptibility of populations coming

from both evolutionary treatments (Fig. 3D). For ampicillin, we determined a significant 1.3fold MIC increase for the survival and growth treatment (SG) and 1.5-fold MIC increase for the survival only treatment (S). For colistin and gentamicin, we observed a heterogeneous adaptation regarding antibiotic susceptibility that was largely independent of evolutionary treatments. Specifically, about half of the populations exhibited a 1.5-to 2-fold MIC increase, while 6 of 24 populations did not show a change in MIC relative to the ancestor. For ciprofloxacin, there is no increase in MIC for populations exposed to the survival only treatment (S). In contrast, populations exposed to the survival and growth treatment (SG) had a 1.5-fold MIC increase relative to the ancestor. Taken together, there was a low effect of the BAC evolutionary treatments on the antibiotic susceptibility and weak parallelism for specific antibiotics. In addition, the data shows that adaptation of antibiotic susceptibility during BAC exposure occurs upon selection for survival only as well as for survival and growth; this observation is contingent on the type of antibiotic. The opposing effects of adaptation to ciprofloxacin indicate that selection drivers (growth or survival) during BAC exposure can affect adaptation to antibiotics.

Evolved genotypes are linked to BAC-mediated selection pressure

Next, we asked whether the differences in BAC-mediated selection pressure and associated phenotypes is underpinned by differences in evolved genotypes. To this end, genotypic adaptions were assessed at the end of the evolution experiment by sequencing the replicate populations of both evolved lines (S and SG) and their corresponding controls with a coverage of 300-fold (Fig. 4). In addition, we incorporated an additional, already published dataset into the analysis, in which replicate lines were evolved over 14 treatment cycles that consisted of exposure to a lethal BAC concentration (~9 fold MIC) for 15 min followed by growth in the absence of BAC [117]. This treatment was shown to select for persistence or increased tolerance and thus was designated as selection for persistence (P). The same ancestor E. coli strain was used for all evolution experiments (S, SG and P). Sequence analysis was conducted by setting a threshold of 5 % occurrence of mutations in the total reads of each sample. The evolved controls showed 19 mutations in the selection for survival experiment, 29 mutations in the selection for survival and growth experiment and 12 mutations in the selection for persistence experiment. Those mutations in intragenic regions or in genes were subtracted from the mutations in the evolutionary lines treated with BAC. Thus, only BAC and treatment specific mutations were further compared by categorizing mutations into intra- and intergenic (Fig. S2), clustering mutated genes according to treatment (Fig. 4), and by categorizing mutated genes using the Biocyc GO terms (main and subcategory) (Fig. S3).

The analysis showed that the total number of inter- and intragenic mutations is highest in the treatment selecting for persistence with 44 mutations, followed by 24 mutations in the

treatment selecting for survival and lowest in the treatment selecting for survival and growth with 16 mutations. The degree of fixation of mutations in specific genes or promoter regions was highest in the treatment selecting for persistence (5 of 6 lines had 100% fixation for at least one gene). The treatment selecting for survival and growth had intermediate fixation of mutations (1 of 4 lines had 100% fixation for at least one gene) and the treatment selecting for survival only had the lowest fixation of mutations (the highest fixation of 38 % of one gene was reached by 1 of 4 lines) (Fig. 4). This suggests that the duration of the evolution experiment was limiting the occurrence and selection of well adapted genotypes. Overall, there are more intergenic than intragenic mutations in the treatment selecting for persistence (P), while for the other treatments (S and SG) more intragenic than intergenic mutations are present (Fig. S2). Most of the intergenic mutations occurred in the promoter regions across treatments (S=80%, SG=100%, P=82%). This indicates that adaptation to BAC was driven by adaptation of gene expression.

The mutated genes that fixed in 5 % of the total population were clustered according to treatment. This analysis showed that a distinct set of mutations in specific genes or promoter regions were associated to each evolutionary treatment (Fig. 4). In the selection for persistence treatment, the mutated genes with the highest frequency and parallelism are associated with the membrane (*lpxM* and *lpxL*) and the stress response (*rssB*). The selection for survival treatment showed low parallelism with only two replicate lines having a mutation in the same gene (*yfdL*). In addition to mutations in yfdL, mutated genes were associated with regulation (*cyaA*) and cellular structure (flagella *fliJ*). In the selection for survival and growth treatment, the mutated genes with the highest parallelism are associated with the stress response (*hslO* and *tufA*).

Next, we clustered mutated genes and promoter regions according to treatment and functional categories (Fig. S3). This analysis showed that mutations in the treatment for survival and growth and the treatment for survival do not occur in shared functional categories. In contrast, the treatment for persistence shared mutations in functional categories with both evolutionary treatments (S and SG). The treatment selecting for survival and growth and the treatment selecting for persistence shared mutations in genes or promotor regions which are associated to metabolism (metabolism of other compounds), cell processes (adaptations) and information transfer (protein related). The treatment selecting for survival and the treatment selecting for persistence shared mutations in the functional categories in regulation (type of regulation) and metabolism (synthesis of macromolecules).

Taken together, there are differences between the treatments regarding the number of mutations, the level of fixation, the parallelism between replicate lines, and the identity of mutated genes and their functional categories. This indicates that each of the three evolutionary treatments is associated to a different selection pressure leading to different evolved adaptations.



Figure 4. Mutated genes and promotor regions in response to different evolutionary treatments with exposure to benzalkonium chloride.

Heatmap of the mutated genes, promotor regions (genes and promotor, depicted with P, with 5 % cut off) and mutations in intergenic regions (both genes divided by / surrounding the intergenic region, depicted with arrows indicating location, with 5% cut off) in the evolved *E. coli* lines clustered to the treatments: selection for survival and growth (SG), selection for survival only (S), and selection for persistence (P). The intensity scale depicts the frequency of mutations in the specific loci.

Discussion

We determined the effects of different selection regimes in serial transfer evolution experiments using subinhibitory BAC concentrations with two distinct treatments i) selection for survival only and ii) selection for survival and growth. The used subinhibitory BAC concentration reduced the growth rate of the *E. coli* ancestor and caused initial killing upon exposure and thus its presence exerts a selection pressure for survival and growth. We hypothesized that the distinct selective pressures in both treatments select for distinct adaptation mechanisms.

The characterization of the evolved phenotypes and genotypes showed treatment-specific adaptations. Distinct phenotypic adaptations were apparent in lag times and growth at increased BAC or antibiotic concentrations (Fig. 3). Treatment-specific genotypic adaptations were apparent in clustering of mutated genes according to the selection pressure (Fig. 4). Initial killing by BAC in both experimental treatments selected for shorter lag times most likely by earlier onset of growth. In contrast, the presence of BAC during the growth phase was required to select for growth at increased BAC concentrations (Fig. 3D). In addition, changes in susceptibility to a range of antibiotics were treatment specific (Fig. 3D). Overall, the determined phenotypes and genotypes showed signs of relatively weak adaptations and adaptations towards the general experimental conditions unspecific to BAC. BAC unspecific adaptations were apparent because the evolved growth rates (Fig. 3B) and survival fractions (Fig. 3A) of the controls were comparable to the evolutionary lines exposed to BAC. Weak adaptation to BAC was visible as relatively small differences in susceptibility to BAC or antibiotics and as a low degree of fixation and parallelism of mutated genes. This indicates that adaptive laboratory evolution experiments with subinhibitory BAC concentrations exert a low selection pressure and thus require a high number of generations to establish treatment specific adaptations that are fixed within the population. Therefore, we argue that standard serial transfer evolution experiments are not an ideal approach to select for growth at high BAC concentrations. One reason for low selection pressures is the narrow selective window of BAC which does not allow to dynamically fine tune the exposure to concentrations that decrease the growth rate but does not lead to full growth inhibition. In turn, selecting for growth at increased concentrations may be facilitated by experimental evolution approaches that allow to continuously adjust the selection pressure by increasing exposure concentrations in morbidostat continuous culture systems or on gradient plates [92,95,96]. These approaches would also allow to select solely on growth, a treatment with a selection pressure that could not be established with our approach.

To our knowledge, this is the first attempt to disentangle the distinct selection pressures on survival and growth of an antimicrobial in serial transfer evolution experiments. Our data shows

that during serial transfer evolution experiments these different selection pressures are present. This observation could be also valid for other antimicrobials such as biocides and antibiotics. Experimental evolution with antibiotics has shown that tolerance is a stepping stone for the evolution of resistance [292,294,298]. Such tolerance may be selected by increased survival or shortened lag time during the initial exposure phase with subinhibitory concentrations. Stress response during the initial exposure phase is known to be mediated by heterogeneity and thus this heterogeneity serves as basis for evolution of increased survival [117,294]. While we observed heterogenous killing in the ancestor (Fig. 2C) under our experimental conditions, we did not investigate the basis of this heterogeneity in detail. However, since heterogeneity has been shown to be involved in evolution of tolerance to BAC [117], it is likely that it also plays a role under our experimental conditions.

An apparent phenotypic adaptation was that evolved lines showed reduced lag times (Fig. 3C). One possible consequence of the evolved shorter lag times might be the increase of the biomass to BAC ratio to counteract BAC toxicity. Decreasing toxicity by increasing growth rates have been shown to dilute antibiotics inside single cells, enhancing phenotypic tolerance [299]. An alternative explanation for the evolution of shorter lag time is that surviving cells evolve mechanisms that counteract accumulation of cellular damage, allowing them to resume growth earlier than non-evolved cells. Those mechanisms have been shown previously to be related to increased efflux [112,300,301] or reduced uptake by increasing outer membrane charge [117]. In addition, increasing chaperon activity could minimize cellular damage. Accordingly, our data showed in the treatment selecting for survival and growth mutations in the chaperonrelated genes hsIO and tufA. The gene hsIO encodes the redox-regulated molecular chaperone Hsp33 [302] and its activity is regulated by redox state upon oxidative stress conditions [303]. The gene *tufA* is a subunit of a transcription factor, which rescues the activity of oxidative stress sensitive hs/O knock outs in Vibrio cholerae [304]. Similarly, the treatment selecting for survival only had a loss of function mutation in cyaA, which has been reported to be involved in pan-tolerance to antibiotics and disinfectants by reducing ROS formation [305]. The gene cvaA encodes for adenylate cyclase, which synthesizes the second messenger 3',5'cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) being involved in regulation of sugar metabolism. A mutation in cyaA decreases ROS in cells residing in the lag phase reducing damage of biomass [305]. Thus, a mutation in cyaA may evolve, because it protects cells in the survival only treatment that do not grow in the presence of BAC. In contrast, chaperones like hslO enable constant removal of damaged biomass to allow growth in the presence of BAC, explaining its occurrence in the survival and growth treatment. In summary, the evolved phenotypes and genotypes allow to hypothesize that the two distinct treatments led to the evolution of distinct mechanism to cope with BAC induced redox stress. If BAC is present
during the growth phase, it selects for active redox regulation. In contrast, the accumulation of redox species is avoided if BAC is present in the lag phase only.

The findings of this study have implications for the design and interpretation of adaptive laboratory evolution experiments that aim to assess potential adaptive mechanisms upon exposure to antimicrobials. The design of the evolution experiment needs to be aligned to the expected selection pressure exerted by the antimicrobial on the microorganisms. For example, if one aims to determine adaptive mechanisms to a lethal dose of a disinfectant, one should expose cells to a lethal dose [117]. An evolution experiment with sublethal concentrations might not be suitable to determine specific adaptive mechanisms to lethal doses because our experiment showed that growth in the presence of the disinfectant selected for distinct mechanisms. Such growth in the presence of an active substance is unexpected during the process of disinfection. In contrast, if one aims to determine adaptive mechanisms to a diluted disinfectant in the environment, one should determine whether the relevant environmental concentration reduces the growth rate or leads to partial killing. If the relevant environmental concentration does not induce partial killing, the concentrations in the evolution experiment should be adjusted to a non-lethal dose because our experiment showed that evolution for survival selects for distinct adaptive mechanisms. In conclusion, our work highlights the importance of fine tuning the selective pressures present in adaptive laboratory evolution experiments to the relevant exposure scenarios.

Supplementary information

Experimental conditions

There are different BAC concentrations present in the dataset used in the genotypical analysis of the *E. coli* evolved lines. The evolutionary treatment conducted in this serial transfer evolution experiment had two treatments with subinhibitory BAC concentrations, either selecting for survival and growth (SG) or survival only (S). In both treatments BAC is present at subinhibitory concentrations during the treatment phase and only in the SG treatment a prolonged exposure to subinhibitory BAC concentrations is given. In contrast, in the serial transfer evolution experiment conducted in another experiment [117] in our lab BAC was applied at lethal concentrations in the treatment phase and very low subinhibitory BAC concentrations were present during the growth phase.



Fig S1 BAC exposure during the treatment and growth phase in the evolution experiments

Relative concentrations of BAC applied in the evolutionary treatments during the treatment and growth phase. Hereby the treatment concentration divided by the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) measured with the *E. coli* ancestor. The dotted line is at the level of the MIC of the *E. coli* ancestor.

Genotypical analysis

The genotypical analysis showed differences in the number of mutations occurring in genes or in intergenic regions. Further on these occurring mutations can be clustered for specific functions using BIOCYC GO Terms.



Fig S2 Number of mutations in the intra- or intergenic area for the various evolutionary treatments.

Number of mutated loci (intragenic and intergenic) with a 5% frequency cut off.



Fig S3 Mutations in the evolved populations with various BAC treatments clustered by functions.

Mutations occurring in the various treatment with a 10% frequency cut off were clustered and categorized using BIOCYC GO Terms (main and sub category). Hereby a colour code has been applied based on the main category. The dotted lines divides the different evolutionary treatments.

Chapter 4: Discussion and concluding remarks

This thesis mainly focuses on the effect of biocides on mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance evolution. Hereby a range of biocides used in various applications has been selected and used in several experiments e.g., chlorhexidine digluconate which is used as disinfectant in clinical settings [49] or permethrin which is used as wood preservative or insecticide in outside environments [306]. The selection of these biocides was based on their representation of diverse chemical classes with distinct chemical properties and their usage in diverse environments, in which biocides may come into contact with natural microbial communities. Additionally, factors such as the ECHA admission period for usage, their frequency of application and their presence in the environment as contaminants was considered. Our goal was to evaluate the impact of the selected biocides on evolutionary resistance mechanisms through laboratory experiments using different bacterial species: i) E. coli as model laboratory organism, ii) A. baylyi and iii) B. subtilis as model soil microorganisms. By using E. coli as model organism the observed effects can be explained using existing literature. Furthermore, the relevance of observed effects is enhanced by comparing the observations of E. coli with other microorganisms that naturally occur in the environment, such as soil model microorganisms.

In this thesis the evolutionary resistance mechanism of *de novo* mutation, horizontal gene transfer via conjugation and transformation, and the impact of the selection pressure were studied. The studied mechanisms are important processes in resistance evolution and thus might contribute to the global health threat of antimicrobial resistance. Therefore, it is essential to assess the effect of biocides on the various mechanisms of resistance evolution.

In chapter 2, the selected biocides were used at subinhibitory concentrations in a fluctuation assay for mutation rates, in a conjugation assay for plasmid transfer rates and in a transformation assay for transformation frequency. Notably, some biocides affected the tested evolutionary resistance mechanisms in a species and substance-dependent manner e.g., subinhibitory DDAC concentrations increase mutation rates (Chapter 2 Fig. 1) and subinhibitory BAC concentration increase the relative plasmid transfer rate in E. coli (Chapter 2 Fig. 2).

In chapter 3, the effect of the BAC selection pressure on the mechanisms of biocide resistance evolution was investigated. To this end, serial subculture evolution experiments were conducted applying two distinct subinhibitory BAC treatments; one which selects for survival only by applying BAC only during an initial survival phase and second treatment for survival and growth by applying BAC in an initial survival phase with continued BAC presence during the growth phase. At the end of the evolution experiment, the evolved phenotypes and

genotypes showed treatment specific adaptions (Chapter 3 Fig. 2 and Fig. 3). Specifically, the evolved genotypes undermined that the survival and growth treatment selected for adaptations to survive and grow in the presence of BAC, while the survival only treatment selected for adaptations to only survive a transient BAC stress.

In summary, we could show in experiments conducted in this thesis that biocides can influence various mechanism of resistance evolution in some of the selected microorganisms. However, it is crucial to acknowledge that the evolved resistance mechanism might be specific and based on the exerted selection pressure. In the following section, the potential mechanisms underlying these observed effects, the relevance of the findings for the environment and human health, as well as implications and future research will be discussed.

Currently, several questions remain on the specific mechanisms underlying the observed effects of the various biocides on the evolutionary mechanisms. Some biocides that affected the mutation rate and HGT activated the expression of the gene encoding for the general stress regulator rpoS and the RecA-linked SOS response, providing a plausible explanation for the observed effects. However, this explanation did not account for all the used biocides that affected the mutation rate and HGT, suggesting the involvement of other mechanisms. BAC selected in the serial transfer evolution experiment for selection regime specific adaptations, and the selected and fixed mutations can be broadly classified as related to stress regulation in E. coli. Consequently, the observed effects of biocides on resistance evolution mechanisms in the various experiments can be partially attributed to stress response and regulatory mechanisms. The literature also highlights the role of stress response mechanisms since it was shown that the bacterial stress response and regulation serves as a basis for survival and adaptation [126,127]. In this thesis, stress regulatory response mechanisms were predominantly observed, in contrast to other studies that have reported biocide adaptation through various mechanisms such as increased efflux or decreased influx, membrane change or biofilm formation [109]. A variety of microbial response mechanisms to biocides can be expected since biocide often act unspecific at multiple target sites [61] in contrast to antibiotics which typically have a primary target site [307].

The variety of response mechanisms to biocides are undermined by our experimental results. Despite using biocides with similar mode of actions, obtained different results indicating either affecting or not affecting resistance mechanisms. For instance, the surface-active cationic antimicrobials chlorhexidine digluconate (CHX), a bisguanide, as well as BAC and DDAC, which are QACs, have been used. CHX and BAC were affecting mutation rate and HGT via conjugation, while DDAC did not affect either of these mechanisms. While QACs in general share a similar mode of action by interacting with microbial membranes, the antimicrobial

efficacy of QACs differ based on their chemical structure parameters such as composition and alkyl chain length [48,53]. The structural and thus antimicrobial efficacy difference might explained the observed effect, however it is more likely that the observed effects of the biocides might be unrelated to the observed effect on mutation rates and HGT mechanisms.

These observed effects suggest that there are various microbial response mechanisms to biocides and thus the specific biocide impact and the specific response mechanisms might be difficult to predict.

Furthermore, not only the type and composition of a biocide can affect microbial resistance mechanisms but also their concentration and dynamics associated with the concentration may affect the development of resistance. An illustrative example for such concentration dynamics is the inoculum effect of antimicrobials, which describes the effect that the efficacy of an antimicrobial is affected by the cell density or population size [286]. This effect is observed in a range of antimicrobials such as antimicrobial peptides [290], antibiotics [284,286] and biocides [287]. The inoculum effect might serve as a basis for mechanisms of resistance evolution since it can cause a heterogeneity in killing and thus a variety of survival mechanisms can arise [308]. Additionally, the applied concentration of a biocide is crucial, as illustrated by the concentration threshold observed in biocides such as DDAC, for which lower concentrations exhibit a bacteriostatic effect, while higher concentrations exhibit a bactericidal effect [309]. Furthermore, an exposure of a microbial population to a non-lethal concentration might enable the survival at higher concentrations. Such effects were reported for BAC. On the one hand, the exposure to low BAC concentration led to less microbial damage and increased survival at higher BAC concentrations [310]. On the other hand, exposure to subinhibitory concentrations led to the evolution of stable cross-resistance to antibiotics [311,312]. Similar effects were observed with antibiotics at environmentally relevant subinhibitory concentrations, at which antibiotic resistance evolved [313]. Thus, this highlights the potential of low or subinhibitory antimicrobial concentrations to drive resistance evolution in microorganisms.

Such concentration dependent effects may occur in various environments and settings, where a range of antimicrobials in broad concentration range might be present. These concentrations vary based on the diverse applications of biocides and diverse entry pathways of biocides into the environment including direct emission and indirectly via waters coming from sewage treatment [75,314]. High antimicrobial concentrations can be found in clinical settings [222] or urban constructions [315], while low antimicrobial concentrations are for example associated with waste water treatment plant effluents [316].

76

There are numerous settings where biocides can be introduced into the environment and subsequently get into contact with natural microbial communities. One example of such setting is wood-based constructions i.e. fences in the outdoor environment, which are constantly exposed to various stresses such as weathering and biodegradation. Material preservatives are applied to protect these exposed materials against decay. However, during application and through weathering, runoff events can introduce the active substances into the environment and thus expose natural microbial communities [70]. These microbial communities are now exposed to a range of concentrations of the active substances. Depending on the active substance used in the material preservative, these substances might have different chemical properties thus affecting the substance lifetime in the soil, mobility, and interaction with microorganisms. Our research demonstrated that active substances being used in material preservatives can affect microbial mechanisms underlying resistance evolution. Thus, these active substances being present in this environment might facilitate the spread and evolution of resistance.

Another example of a setting is a wastewater treatment plant. A critical environment, where a range of antimicrobial substances at varying concentrations meet a diverse and fluctuating microbial community. These wastewater treatment plants receive various inflows, with hospital sewage often containing high levels of antibiotic and biocide residues and microorganisms that were already exposed to these antimicrobials [222,317]. Thus, in the waste water treatment plant antimicrobials such as antibiotics and biocides are present together with various microorganisms and also resistance genes [212]. It was already shown in the literature that waste water treatment plants are hotspots for the selection and transmission of antimicrobial resistance [318,319]. Additionally, the results of this thesis also shows that biocides at concentrations that occur in waste water treatment plants affect various mechanisms underlying mechanisms of resistance evolution. Thus, especially in those environments where a range of concentration of antimicrobials are present together with various microorganism, a range of antimicrobial response mechanisms might be selected, thus leading to a variety of resistance mechanisms being selected and facilitated. [320,321]

There are numerous other examples in distinct settings that demonstrate that there is an effect of antimicrobial substances being introduced into the environment having consequences on microbial communities and potential implications for human health in the context of resistance mechanisms [322]. Those risks are particularly pronounced in settings where selection pressures by antimicrobials and a diversity of microorganisms might be present, such as clinical settings or wastewater treatment plants.

77

It has been predicted that by 2050 antimicrobial resistance might be one of the major contributors to annual deaths [1,3,323]. Thus, contributors to increases in antimicrobial resistance have to be identified and monitored, and stewardship programs need to be implemented [6,314]; especially in settings where antimicrobial usage and antimicrobial resistance or antimicrobial resistant microorganisms come directly into contact with humans such as clinical, community or public facilities [324]. Humans are already exposed to antimicrobial resistance genes in the environment [325], increasing the risk of infection with antimicrobial resistant microorganisms [326,327]. Furthermore, humans can be exposed to disinfectant resistant microorganisms when contamination of disinfectants occurs [328]. Thus, disinfectants can be an additional source of infections and outbreaks in humans [329,330]. Those healthcare associated infections and outbreaks causes deaths and increased health care cost [331].

A cruical step forward is the continued investigation of associated risks with antimicrobial usage. However, it is essential to always consider and reflect on any possible limitations. Our study had certain experimental limitations associated to biocide concentrations. We could only use a narrow concentration windows and thus our results are limited with respect to the broad range of concentrations observed in the environment. The selected concentrations in this thesis can be found for some biocides in certain settings in the environment but might not always display the real environmental conditions as microorganisms are exposed to a broader range of concentration and thus, a range of responses might occur in the environment. Furthermore, when very low concentrations are used in an experimental setup there might be no effects observed immediately or effects of the experimental procedure might mask the responses imposed by the low concentrations. Similarly, for very high concentrations used in experiments it might be hard to disentangle the effect of the tested antimicrobial on the microorganism when there are lethal effects and thus, a range of survival mechanisms are triggered. Nonetheless, our experiments demonstrates that selection pressure is a key element when it comes to adaptation and the mechanisms underlying resistance. While high selection pressure might select for specific resistance mechanisms, low selection pressure can select for various evolutionary pathways. In our studies, we found that there are distinct adaptations when selection was focused solely on survival compared to selection focused on both survival and growth. The selection for survival only can be encountered in environments where microorganisms need to withstand a lethal stress for a limited time which can be found in various environments such as in clinical environments during disinfection or batch treatment in life stock industry.

Future studies should be carefully designed by considering that various factors might affect the observed effects and outcomes. For instance, it was already shown that the effect of

78

biocides might differ based on the selected culture medium and culturing vessel used [280]. Additionally, future studies with experimental designs more representative of environmental conditions, using environmental isolates or natural microbial communities will provide additional data to generalize the findings presented in this thesis and enable a comprehensive risk assessment of the processes by which biocides affect antimicrobial resistance evolution.

Overall, biocides have the potential to impact human health, particularly in connection to the threat of antimicrobial resistance. Consequently, biocides should be used only when necessary, in a strictly controlled and limited manner. This highlights the need for efforts to mitigate the risk associated with antimicrobial substances, antimicrobial resistance genes and antimicrobial resistant microorganisms for both human and environmental safety. Therefore, monitoring human exposure to antimicrobials, antimicrobial emission into the environment and implementing appropriate stewardship programs is crucial. Simultaneously, public awareness and understanding should be actively promoted to encourage the sustainable use of consumer products containing biocides [332]. It is hoped that this dissertation has provided a better understanding of the effects of biocides on processes underlying resistance evolution, with the overall goal of aiding the establishment of more sustainable and safe use of antimicrobial substances.

References

- C.J. Murray, K.S. Ikuta, F. Sharara, L. Swetschinski, G. Robles Aguilar, A. Gray, C. Han, C. Bisignano, P. [1] Rao, E. Wool, S.C. Johnson, A.J. Browne, M.G. Chipeta, F. Fell, S. Hackett, G. Haines-Woodhouse, B.H. Kashef Hamadani, E.A.P. Kumaran, B. McManigal, R. Agarwal, S. Akech, S. Albertson, J. Amuasi, J. Andrews, A. Aravkin, E. Ashley, F. Bailey, S. Baker, B. Basnyat, A. Bekker, R. Bender, A. Bethou, J. Bielicki, S. Boonkasidecha, J. Bukosia, C. Carvalheiro, C. Castañeda-Orjuela, V. Chansamouth, S. Chaurasia, S. Chiurchiù, F. Chowdhury, A.J. Cook, B. Cooper, T.R. Cressey, E. Criollo-Mora, M. Cunningham, S. Darboe, N.P.J. Day, M. De Luca, K. Dokova, A. Dramowski, S.J. Dunachie, T. Eckmanns, D. Eibach, A. Emami, N. Feasey, N. Fisher-Pearson, K. Forrest, D. Garrett, P. Gastmeier, A.Z. Giref, R.C. Greer, V. Gupta, S. Haller, A. Haselbeck, S.I. Hay, M. Holm, S. Hopkins, K.C. Iregbu, J. Jacobs, D. Jarovsky, F. Javanmardi, M. Khorana, N. Kissoon, E. Kobeissi, T. Kostyanev, F. Krapp, R. Krumkamp, A. Kumar, H.H. Kvu, C. Lim, D. Limmathurotsakul, M.J. Loftus, M. Lunn, J. Ma, N. Mturi, T. Munera-Huertas, P. Musicha, M.M. Mussi-Pinhata, T. Nakamura, R. Nanavati, S. Nangia, P. Newton, C. Ngoun, A. Novotney, D. Nwakanma, C.W. Obiero, A. Olivas-Martinez, P. Olliaro, E. Ooko, E. Ortiz-Brizuela, A.Y. Peleg, C. Perrone, N. Plakkal, A. Ponce-de-Leon, M. Raad, T. Ramdin, A. Riddell, T. Roberts, J.V. Robotham, A. Roca, K.E. Rudd, N. Russell, J. Schnall, J.A.G. Scott, M. Shivamallappa, J. Sifuentes-Osornio, N. Steenkeste, A.J. Stewardson, T. Stoeva, N. Tasak, A. Thaiprakong, G. Thwaites, C. Turner, P. Turner, H.R. van Doorn, S. Velaphi, A. Vongpradith, H. Vu, T. Walsh, S. Waner, T. Wangrangsimakul, T. Wozniak, P. Zheng, B. Sartorius, A.D. Lopez, A. Stergachis, C. Moore, C. Dolecek, M. Naghavi, Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis, Lancet. 6736 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(21)02724-0.
- [2] R. Laxminarayan, A. Duse, C. Wattal, A.K.M. Zaidi, H.F.L. Wertheim, N. Sumpradit, E. Vlieghe, G.L. Hara, I.M. Gould, H. Goossens, C. Greko, A.D. So, M. Bigdeli, G. Tomson, W. Woodhouse, E. Ombaka, A.Q. Peralta, F.N. Qamar, F. Mir, S. Kariuki, Z.A. Bhutta, A. Coates, R. Bergstrom, G.D. Wright, E.D. Brown, O. Cars, Antibiotic resistance-the need for global solutions, Lancet Infect. Dis. 13 (2013) 1057–1098. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(13)70318-9.
- [3] J. O'Neill, Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations, (2016). https://apo.org.au/node/63983.
- J.-Y. Maillard, Antimicrobial biocides in the healthcare environment: efficacy, usage, policies, and perceived problems., Ther. Clin. Risk Manag. 1 (2005) 307–20. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18360573%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?a rtid=PMC1661639.
- [5] A.J. Browne, M.G. Chipeta, G. Haines-Woodhouse, E.P.A. Kumaran, B.H.K. Hamadani, S. Zaraa, N.J. Henry, A. Deshpande, R.C. Reiner, N.P.J. Day, A.D. Lopez, S. Dunachie, C.E. Moore, A. Stergachis, S.I. Hay, C. Dolecek, Global antibiotic consumption and usage in humans, 2000–18: a spatial modelling study, Lancet Planet. Heal. 5 (2021) e893–e904. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00280-1.
- [6] A.K. Murray, I. Stanton, W.H. Gaze, J. Snape, Dawning of a new ERA: Environmental Risk Assessment of antibiotics and their potential to select for antimicrobial resistance, Water Res. 200 (2021) 117233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117233.
- [7] H. Venter, M.L. Henningsen, S.L. Begg, Antimicrobial resistance in healthcare, agriculture and the environment: The biochemistry behind the headlines, Essays Biochem. 61 (2017) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20160053.
- [8] S. Pokharel, P. Shrestha, B. Adhikari, Antimicrobial use in food animals and human health: time to implement 'One Health' approach, Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control. 9 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13756-020-00847-X.
- [9] H.W. Rossmoore, Handbook of Biocide and Preservative Use, Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-1354-0.
- [10] C. Walsh, Antibiotics: Actions, origins, resistance, Antibiot. Actions, Orig. Resist. (2003) 1–335. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555817886.
- [11] H. Yoneyama, R. Katsumata, Antibiotic resistance in bacteria and its future for novel antibiotic development, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 70 (2006) 1060–1075. https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.70.1060.
- [12] C. Walsh, Molecular mechanisms that confer antibacterial drug resistance, Nat. 2000 4066797. 406 (2000) 775–781. https://doi.org/10.1038/35021219.
- [13] M.L. Nelson, A. Dinardo, J. Hochberg, G.J. Armelagos, Brief communication: Mass spectroscopic characterization of tetracycline in the skeletal remains of an ancient population from Sudanese Nubia

350-550 CE, Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 143 (2010) 151-154. https://doi.org/10.1002/AJPA.21340.

- [14] E.J. Bassett, M.S. Keith, G.J. Armelagos, D.L. Martin, A.R. Villanueva, Tetracycline-labeled human bone from ancient Sudanese Nubia (A.D. 350), Science. 209 (1980) 1532–1534. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.7001623.
- [15] A. Gelpi, A. Gilbertson, J.D. Tucker, Magic bullet: Paul Ehrlich, Salvarsan and the birth of venereology, Sex. Transm. Infect. 91 (2015) 68–69. https://doi.org/10.1136/SEXTRANS-2014-051779.
- [16] A. Fleming, On the Antibacterial Action of Cultures of a Penicillium, with Special Reference to their Use in the Isolation of B. influenzæ, Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 10 (1929) 226. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2048009/ (accessed May 21, 2023).
- [17] M.A. Cook, G.D. Wright, The past, present, and future of antibiotics, Sci. Transl. Med. 14 (2022) 7793. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.ABO7793.
- [18] A.C. Tompson, A.L.P. Mateus, D.C. Brodbelt, C.I.R. Chandler, Understanding Antibiotic Use in Companion Animals: A Literature Review Identifying Avenues for Future Efforts, Front. Vet. Sci. 8 (2021) 1125. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2021.719547/BIBTEX.
- [19] M. Dolejska, C.C. Papagiannitsis, Plasmid-mediated resistance is going wild, Plasmid. (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PLASMID.2018.09.010.
- [20] A.L. Demain, R.P. Blander, The β-lactam antibiotics: Past, present, and future, Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, Int. J. Gen. Mol. Microbiol. 75 (1999) 5–19. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1001738823146/METRICS.
- [21] K. Poole, Resistance to β -lactam antibiotics, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 61 (2004) 2200–2223. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-004-4060-9/METRICS.
- [22] W.C. Reygaert, An overview of the antimicrobial resistance mechanisms of bacteria, AIMS Microbiol. 4 (2018) 482. https://doi.org/10.3934/MICROBIOL.2018.3.482.
- [23] B.G. Spratt, Resistance to antibiotics mediated by target alterations, Science. 264 (1994) 388–393. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.8153626.
- [24] L. Ferrero, B. Cameron, J. Crouzet, (L Ferrero, B. Cameron, B. Manse, D. Lagneaux, J. Crouzet, A. Famechon, F. Blanche, Analysis of gyrA and grlA mutations in stepwise-selected ciprofloxacin-resistant mutants of Staphylococcus aureus, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 39 (1995) 1554–1558. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.39.7.1554.
- [25] F.F. Andrade, D. Silva, A. Rodrigues, C. Pina-Vaz, Colistin Update on Its Mechanism of Action and Resistance, Present and Future Challenges, Microorganisms. 8 (2020) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/MICROORGANISMS8111716.
- [26] R.I. Aminov, R.I. Mackie, Evolution and ecology of antibiotic resistance genes, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 271 (2007) 147–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.2007.00757.X.
- [27] D.G.J. Larsson, Antibiotics in the environment, Ups. J. Med. Sci. 119 (2014) 108–112. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009734.2014.896438.
- [28] S. Thiele-Bruhn, Pharmaceutical antibiotic compounds in soils a review, J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 166 (2003) 145–167. https://doi.org/10.1002/JPLN.200390023.
- [29] L. Du, W. Liu, Occurrence, fate, and ecotoxicity of antibiotics in agro-ecosystems. A review, Agron. Sustain. Dev. 32 (2012) 309–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-011-0062-9.
- [30] M. Cycoń, A. Mrozik, Z. Piotrowska-Seget, Antibiotics in the Soil Environment—Degradation and Their Impact on Microbial Activity and Diversity, Front. Microbiol. 10 (2019) 338. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00338.
- [31] F.C.T. Elder, K. Proctor, R. Barden, W.H. Gaze, J. Snape, E.J. Feil, B. Kasprzyk-Hordern, Spatiotemporal profiling of antibiotics and resistance genes in a river catchment: human population as the main driver of antibiotic and antibiotic resistance gene presence in the environment, Water Res. (2021) 117533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117533.
- [32] S.I. Polianciuc, A.E. Gurzău, B. Kiss, M. Georgia Ștefan, F. Loghin, Antibiotics in the environment: causes and consequences, Med. Pharm. Reports. 93 (2020) 231. https://doi.org/10.15386/MPR-1742.
- [33] M. Apreja, A. Sharma, S. Balda, K. Kataria, N. Capalash, P. Sharma, Antibiotic residues in environment: antimicrobial resistance development, ecological risks, and bioremediation, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. 29 (2022) 3355–3371. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-021-17374-W.

- [34] DIRECTIVE 98/8/EC OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL, (1998).
- [35] Biocides OECD, (n.d.). https://www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/pesticides-biocides/biocides.htm (accessed October 10, 2023).
- [36] ECHA, Directive 98/8/EC concerning the placing biocidal products on the market, Didecyldimethylammonium chloride Product-type PT 8 (Wood preservative), 8 (2012). https://circabc.europa.eu/sd/a/43c52671-9098-4476-a977-1f30cde6d532/DDAC - PT8 (assessment report as finalised on 21.09.12).pdf.
- [37] G. Mcdonnell, A.D. Russell, Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action, and resistance., Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 12 (1999) 147–179. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.12.1.147.
- [38] R. Böhm, Disinfection and hygiene in the veterinary field and disinfection of animal houses and transport vehicles, Int. Biodeterior. Biodegradation. 41 (1998) 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964-8305(98)00030-4.
- [39] M.M. Silva, F.C. Lidon, An overview on applications and side effects of antioxidant food additives, Emirates J. Food Agric. 28 (2016) 823–832. https://doi.org/10.9755/ejfa.2016-07-806.
- [40] N. Schiopu, L. Tiruta-Barna, Wood preservatives, Toxic. Build. Mater. (2012) 138–165. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857096357.138.
- [41] M.A. Pastor-Nieto, F. Alcántara-Nicolás, V. Melgar-Molero, R. Pérez-Mesonero, A. Vergara-Sánchez, A. Martín-Fuentes, P. González-Muñoz, E. de Eusebio-Murillo, Preservatives in Personal Hygiene and Cosmetic Products, Topical Medications, and Household Cleaners in Spain, Actas Dermo-Sifiliográficas (English Ed. 108 (2017) 758–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adengl.2017.07.003.
- [42] J. Jacob, A. Buckle, Use of Anticoagulant Rodenticides in Different Applications Around the World, (2018) 11–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-64377-9_2.
- [43] M. Tudi, H.D. Ruan, L. Wang, J. Lyu, R. Sadler, D. Connell, C. Chu, D.T. Phung, Agriculture Development, Pesticide Application and Its Impact on the Environment, Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Heal. 2021, Vol. 18, Page 1112. 18 (2021) 1112. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH18031112.
- [44] D.M. Yebra, S. Kiil, K. Dam-Johansen, Antifouling technology—past, present and future steps towards efficient and environmentally friendly antifouling coatings, Prog. Org. Coatings. 50 (2004) 75–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PORGCOAT.2003.06.001.
- [45] I.A. Jones, L.T. Joshi, Biocide use in the antimicrobial era: A review, Molecules. 26 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26082276.
- [46] Information on biocides ECHA Copper, (n.d.). https://echa.europa.eu/de/information-onchemicals/biocidal-activesubstances?p_p_id=dissactivesubstances_WAR_dissactivesubstancesportlet&p_p_lifecycle=1&p_p_stat e=normal&p_p_mode=view&_dissactivesubstances_WAR_dissactivesubstancesportlet_javax.portlet.acti on=dissActiveSubstancesAction (accessed October 10, 2023).
- [47] European Union, Regulation (EU) No 528/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 May 2012 concerning the making available on the market and use of biocidal products, 2016 (2012) 48–119. http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2012/528/oj.
- [48] P. Gilbert, L.E. Moore, Cationic antiseptics: Diversity of action under a common epithet, J. Appl. Microbiol. 99 (2005) 703–715. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02664.x.
- [49] G. Kampf, Antiseptic Stewardship, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-98785-9.
- [50] C. Zhang, F. Cui, G. Zeng, M. Jiang, Z. Yang, Z. Yu, M. Zhu, L. Shen, Quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs): A review on occurrence, fate and toxicity in the environment, Sci. Total Environ. 518–519 (2015) 352–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2015.03.007.
- [51] D.K. Brannan, Cosmetic Microbiology: A Practical Handbook, CRC Press. (1997) 336. https://books.google.de/books?hl=de&lr=&id=26rSwpkIHZcC&oi=fnd&pg=PA3&dq=6.+Brannon,+D.+K.+1 997.+Cosmetic+microbiology:+a+practical+handbook.+CRC+Press,+Inc.,+Boca+Raton,+Fla.&ots=wF9G AqfFc9&sig=hgdS8RYSPM-m-IUoSHtGIfH83zQ#v=onepage&q&f=false (accessed October 11, 2023).
- [52] C.J. Ioannou, G.W. Hanlon, S.P. Denyer, Action of Disinfectant Quaternary Ammonium Compounds against Staphylococcus aureus, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 51 (2007) 296. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00375-06.
- [53] C. Zhou, Y. Wang, Structure–activity relationship of cationic surfactants as antimicrobial agents, Curr.

Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 45 (2020) 28-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COCIS.2019.11.009.

- [54] U. Tezel, S.G. Pavlostathis, Quaternary ammonium disinfectants: Microbial adaptation, Degradation and ecology, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 33 (2015) 296–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2015.03.018.
- [55] C. Soumet, D. Méheust, C. Pissavin, P. Le Grandois, B. Frémaux, C. Feurer, A. Le Roux, M. Denis, P. Maris, Reduced susceptibilities to biocides and resistance to antibiotics in food-associated bacteria following exposure to quaternary ammonium compounds, J. Appl. Microbiol. 121 (2016) 1275–1281. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13247.
- [56] Y. Han, Z.C. Zhou, L. Zhu, Y.Y. Wei, W.Q. Feng, L. Xu, Y. Liu, Z.J. Lin, X.Y. Shuai, Z.J. Zhang, H. Chen, The impact and mechanism of quaternary ammonium compounds on the transmission of antibiotic resistance genes, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26 (2019) 28352–28360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05673-2.
- [57] M.H. Freeman, C.R. McIntyre, A Comprehensive Review of Copper-Based Wood Preservatives, For. Prod. J. 58 (2008) 6–27.
- [58] I. Salah, I.P. Parkin, E. Allan, Copper as an antimicrobial agent: recent advances, RSC Adv. 11 (2021) 18179–18186. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1RA02149D.
- [59] F.M. Aarestrup, H. Hasman, Susceptibility of different bacterial species isolated from food animals to copper sulphate, zinc chloride and antimicrobial substances used for disinfection, Vet. Microbiol. 100 (2004) 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2004.01.013.
- [60] L.P. Arendsen, R. Thakar, A.H. Sultan, The use of copper as an antimicrobial agent in health care, including obstetrics and gynecology, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 32 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00125-18/ASSET/5E9B26FB-AEDC-4609-895B-DA150B9FB37D/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/CMR.00125-18-F0004.JPEG.
- [61] J.Y. Maillard, Bacterial target sites for biocide action, J. Appl. Microbiol. 92 (2002) 16S-27S. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2672.92.5S1.3.X.
- [62] A.S. Valenzuela, N. Benomar, H. Abriouel, M.M. Cañamero, R.L. López, A. Gálvez, Biocide and Copper Tolerance in Enterococci from Different Sources, J. Food Prot. 76 (2013) 1806–1809. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-13-124.
- [63] E. Tassinari, G. Duffy, M. Bawn, C.M. Burgess, E.M. McCabe, P.G. Lawlor, G. Gardiner, R.A. Kingsley, Microevolution of antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation of Salmonella Typhimurium during persistence on pig farms, Sci. Reports 2019 91. 9 (2019) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45216-w.
- [64] H. Billman-Jacobe, Y. Liu, R. Haites, T. Weaver, L. Robinson, M. Marenda, M. Dyall-Smith, pSTM6-275, a conjugative inchi2 plasmid of salmonella enterica that confers antibiotic and heavy-metal resistance under changing physiological conditions, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 62 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02357-17/ASSET/D76C2F41-26CA-4BE6-B9F1-A878A9EF57A2/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZAC0051870830002.JPEG.
- [65] E. Gullberg, L.M. Albrecht, C. Karlsson, L. Sandegren, D.I. Andersson, Selection of a multidrug resistance plasmid by sublethal levels of antibiotics and heavy metals, MBio. 5 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1128/MBIO.01918-14/SUPPL_FILE/MBO005142022ST8.DOCX.
- [66] S.A. Gudipaty, A.S. Larsen, C. Rensing, M.M. Mcevoy, Regulation of Cu(I)/Ag(I) efflux genes in Escherichia coli by the sensor kinase CusS, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 330 (2012) 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.2012.02529.X.
- [67] F. Altimira, C. Yáez, G. Bravo, M. González, L.A. Rojas, M. Seeger, Characterization of copper-resistant bacteria and bacterial communities from copper-polluted agricultural soils of central Chile, BMC Microbiol. 12 (2012) 193. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-12-193.
- [68] R. Thummeepak, R. Pooalai, C. Harrison, L. Gannon, A. Thanwisai, N. Chantratita, A.D. Millard, S. Sitthisak, Essential Gene Clusters Involved in Copper Tolerance Identified in Acinetobacter baumannii Clinical and Environmental Isolates, Pathogens. 9 (2020) 60. https://doi.org/10.3390/PATHOGENS9010060.
- [69] R.S. Lanigan, Final report on the safety assessment of iodopropynyl butylcarbamate (IPBC), Int. J. Toxicol. 17 (1998) 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/109158189801700503.
- [70] U. Schoknecht, J. Gruycheva, H. Mathies, H. Bergmann, M. Burkhardt, Leaching of biocides used in façade coatings under laboratory test conditions, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 9321–9328. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9019832.

- [71] European Chemicals Agency, Assessment Report IPBC Product-type 8 (Wood Preservatives), 8 (2008). https://circabc.europa.eu/sd/a/98266c49-5d01-42d3-94ae-1c44e3cd73d8/Final assessment report IPBC 22.02.2008.pdf.
- [72] W. Gottardi, Iodine and disinfection: Theoretical study on mode of action, efficiency, stability, and analytical aspects in the aqueous system, Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim). 332 (1999) 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4184(19995)332:5<151::AID-ARDP151>3.0.CO;2-E.
- [73] Carbamic acid, butyl-, 3-iodo-2-propynyl ester (IPBC) Evaluation statement 22 December 2022, (2022).
- [74] European Chemicals Agency (ECHA), Biocidal Products Committee (BPC) Opinion on the application for approval of the active substance: Formaldehyde Product type: 9, (2019) 1–17. https://echa.europa.eu/potential-.
- [75] M. Kahle, I. Nöh, Biozide in Gewässern: Eintragspfade und Informationen zur Belastungssituation und deren Auswirkungen, Texte Des Umweltbundesamt. 9 (2009) 52. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/publikation/long/3811.pdf.
- [76] M. Kahle, I.J. Buerge, A. Hauser, M.D. Müller, T. Poiger, Azole Fungicides: Occurrence and Fate in Wastewater and Surface Waters, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 7193–7200. https://doi.org/10.1021/es8009309.
- [77] J.H. Yen, J.S. Chang, P.J. Huang, Y.S. Wang, Effects of fungicides triadimetion and propiconazole on soil bacterial communities, J. Environ. Sci. Heal. - Part B Pestic. Food Contam. Agric. Wastes. 44 (2009) 681–689. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601230903163715.
- [78] European Chemicals Agency, Assessment report Permethrin Product-Type 18 (Insecticides, ascaricides and products to control other arthropods), 18 (2014). http://dissemination.echa.europa.eu/Biocides/ActiveSubstances/1342-18/1342-18_Assessment_Report.pdf.
- [79] U. EPA Office of Pesticide Programs, Permethrin Facts (Reregistration Eligibility Decision (RED) Fact Sheet), (2006).
- [80] W. Tang, D. Wang, J. Wang, Z. Wu, L. Li, M. Huang, S. Xu, D. Yan, Pyrethroid pesticide residues in the global environment: An overview, Chemosphere. 191 (2018) 990–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.10.115.
- [81] K.A. Lord, M. McKinley, N. Walker, Degradation of permethrin in soils, Environ. Pollution. Ser. A, Ecol. Biol. 29 (1982) 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/0143-1471(82)90112-X.
- [82] H. Zhan, H. Wang, L. Liao, Y. Feng, X. Fan, L. Zhang, S. Chen, Kinetics and novel degradation pathway of permethrin in Acinetobacter baumannii ZH-14, Front. Microbiol. 9 (2018) 313623. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2018.00098/BIBTEX.
- [83] C. Woo, B. Daniels, R. Stirling, P. Morris, Tebuconazole and propiconazole tolerance and possible degradation by Basidiomycetes: A wood-based bioassay, Int. Biodeterior. Biodegradation. 64 (2010) 403– 408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2010.01.009.
- [84] J.F. Mahoney, R.C. Arnold, A. Harris, Penicillin Treatment of Early Syphilis A Preliminary Report, 1943.
- [85] S. Hahn, K. Schneider, S. Gartiser, W. Heger, I. Mangelsdorf, Consumer exposure to biocides identification of relevant sources and evaluation of possible health effects, Environ. Heal. 9 (2010) 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-9-7.
- [86] O.W. Barber, E.M. Hartmann, Benzalkonium chloride: A systematic review of its environmental entry through wastewater treatment, potential impact, and mitigation strategies, Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 0 (2021) 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2021.1889284.
- [87] B. Van den Bergh, T. Swings, M. Fauvart, J. Michiels, Experimental Design, Population Dynamics, and Diversity in Microbial Experimental Evolution., Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 82 (2018) e00008-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00008-18.
- [88] T.E. Sandberg, M.J. Salazar, L.L. Weng, B.O. Palsson, M. Adam, S. Diego, The emergence of adaptive laboratory evolution as an efficient tool for biological discovery and industrial biotechnolog, Metab. Eng. 56 (2020) 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2019.08.004.The.
- [89] M. Mavrommati, A. Daskalaki, S. Papanikolaou, G. Aggelis, Adaptive laboratory evolution principles and applications in industrial biotechnology, Biotechnol. Adv. 54 (2022) 107795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2021.107795.

- [90] R.E. Lenski, M.R. Rose, S.C. Simpson, S.C. Tadler, Long-Term Experimental Evolution in Escherichia coli. I. Adaptation and Divergence During 2,000 Generations, Https://Doi.Org/10.1086/285289. 138 (2015) 1315–1341. https://doi.org/10.1086/285289.
- [91] R.E. Lenski, M.R. Rose, S.C. Simpson, S.C. Tadler, Long-Term Experimental Evolution in Escherichia coli. I. Adaptation and Divergence During 2,000 Generations, Https://Doi.Org/10.1086/285289. 138 (1991) 1315–1341. https://doi.org/10.1086/285289.
- [92] E. Toprak, A. Veres, J.B. Michel, R. Chait, D.L. Hartl, R. Kishony, Evolutionary paths to antibiotic resistance under dynamically sustained drug selection, Nat. Genet. 2011 441. 44 (2011) 101–105. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.1034.
- [93] H. Jeong, S.J. Lee, P. Kim, Procedure for adaptive laboratory evolution of microorganisms using a chemostat, J. Vis. Exp. 2016 (2016) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3791/54446.
- [94] A. NOVICK, L. SZILARD, Experiments with the Chemostat on spontaneous mutations of bacteria., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 36 (1950) 708–19. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.36.12.708.
- [95] H. Carsenti-Etesse, P.-M. Roger, B. Dunais, S. Durgeat, G. Mancini, M. Bensoussan, P. Dellamonica, Gradient plate method to induce Streptococcus pyogenes resistance, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 44 (1999) 439–443. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/44.4.439.
- [96] M. Baym, T.D. Lieberman, E.D. Kelsic, R. Chait, R. Gross, I. Yelin, R. Kishony, Spatiotemporal microbial evolution on antibiotic landscapes, Science (80-.). 353 (2016) 1147–1151. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aag0822.
- [97] S. Forbes, C.B. Dobson, G.J. Humphreys, A.J. McBain, Transient and sustained bacterial adaptation following repeated sublethal exposure to microbicides and a novel human antimicrobial peptide, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58 (2014) 5809–5817. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.03364-14.
- [98] I. Levin-Reisman, A. Brauner, I. Ronin, N.Q. Balaban, Epistasis between antibiotic tolerance, persistence, and resistance mutations, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 116 (2019) 14734–14739. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1906169116/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1906169116.SAPP.PDF.
- [99] G. Cox, G.D. Wright, Intrinsic antibiotic resistance: Mechanisms, origins, challenges and solutions, Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 303 (2013) 287–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJMM.2013.02.009.
- [100] D. Fusco, M. Gralka, J. Kayser, A. Anderson, O. Hallatschek, Excess of mutational jackpot events in expanding populations revealed by spatial Luria-Delbrück experiments, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12760.
- [101] J.L. Martinez, F. Baquero, Mutation frequencies and antibiotic resistance, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 44 (2000) 1771–1777. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.44.7.1771-1777.2000.
- [102] B.J. Arnold, I.T. Huang, W.P. Hanage, Horizontal gene transfer and adaptive evolution in bacteria, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2021 204. 20 (2021) 206–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00650-4.
- [103] E.M. Darby, E. Trampari, P. Siasat, M.S. Gaya, I. Alav, M.A. Webber, J.M.A. Blair, Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance revisited, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2022. (2022) 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-022-00820-y.
- [104] E.M. Windels, B. Van Den Bergh, J. Michiels, Bacteria under antibiotic attack: Different strategies for evolutionary adaptation, PLoS Pathog. 16 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PPAT.1008431.
- [105] C. Ye, H. Lin, M. Zhang, S. Chen, X. Yu, Characterization and potential mechanisms of highly antibiotic tolerant VBNC Escherichia coli induced by low level chlorination, Sci. Rep. 10 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-020-58106-3.
- [106] S.S. Cherny, M. Chowers, U. Obolski, Bayesian network modeling of patterns of antibiotic crossresistance by bacterial sample source, Commun. Med. 2023 31. 3 (2023) 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43856-023-00289-7.
- [107] D.P. Gnanadhas, S.A. Marathe, D. Chakravortty, Biocides resistance, cross-resistance mechanisms and assessment, Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs. 22 (2013) 191–206. https://doi.org/10.1517/13543784.2013.748035.
- [108] Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly-Identified Health Risks, Assessment of the antibiotic resistance effects of biocides., Eur. Comm. Consum. Prot. DG. (2009). http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/risk_en.htm.
- [109] J.Y. Maillard, M. Pascoe, Disinfectants and antiseptics: mechanisms of action and resistance, Nat. Rev.

Microbiol. 2023. (2023) 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-023-00958-3.

- [110] S.B. Levy, Active efflux, a common mechanism for biocide and antibiotic resistance, (2002) 65–71.
- [111] C.J. Slipski, G.G. Zhanel, D.C. Bay, Biocide Selective TolC-Independent Efflux Pumps in Enterobacteriaceae., J. Membr. Biol. 251 (2018) 15–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-017-9992-8.
- [112] A. Pagedar, J. Singh, V.K. Batish, Adaptation to benzalkonium chloride and ciprofloxacin affects biofilm formation potential, efflux pump and haemolysin activity of Escherichia coli of dairy origin, J. Dairy Res. 79 (2012) 383–389. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022029912000295.
- [113] M.E. Wand, J.M. Sutton, Efflux-mediated tolerance to cationic biocides, a cause for concern?, Microbiology. 168 (2022) 1263. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.001263.
- [114] A. Amsalu, S.A. Sapula, M.D.B. Lopes, B.J. Hart, A.H. Nguyen, B. Drigo, J. Turnidge, L.E.X. Leong, H. Venter, Efflux Pump-Driven Antibiotic and Biocide Cross-Resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa Isolated from Different Ecological Niches: A Case Study in the Development of Multidrug Resistance in Environmental Hotspots, Microorg. 2020, Vol. 8, Page 1647. 8 (2020) 1647. https://doi.org/10.3390/MICROORGANISMS8111647.
- [115] B.M.P. Pereira, X. Wang, I. Tagkopoulos, Short-and long-term transcriptomic responses of escherichia coli to biocides: A systems analysis, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 86 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00708-20/SUPPL_FILE/AEM.00708-20-SD002.XLSX.
- [116] S.P. Denyer, J.-Y. Maillard, Cellular impermeability and uptake of biocides and antibiotics in Gramnegative bacteria, J. Appl. Microbiol. 92 (2002) 35S-45S. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2672.92.5S1.19.X.
- [117] N. Nordholt, O. Kanaris, S.B.I. Schmidt, F. Schreiber, Persistence against benzalkonium chloride promotes rapid evolution of tolerance during periodic disinfection, Nat. Commun. 12 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27019-8.
- [118] M. Kim, J.K. Hatt, M.R. Weigand, R. Krishnan, S.G. Pavlostathis, K.T. Konstantinidis, Genomic and Transcriptomic Insights into How Bacteria Withstand High Concentrations of Benzalkonium Chloride Biocides., Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 84 (2018) e00197-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00197-18.
- [119] M. Braoudaki, A.C. Hilton, Mechanisms of resistance in Salmonella enterica adapted to erythromycin, benzalkonium chloride and triclosan, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents. 25 (2005) 31–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJANTIMICAG.2004.07.016.
- [120] A. Casey, E.M. Fox, S. Schmitz-Esser, A. Coffey, O. McAuliffe, K. Jordan, Transcriptome analysis of Listeria monocytogenes exposed to biocide stress reveals a multi-system response involving cell wall synthesis, sugar uptake, and motility, Front. Microbiol. 5 (2014) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00068.
- [121] C. Alonso-Calleja, E. Guerrero-Ramos, A. Alonso-Hernando, R. Capita, Adaptation and cross-adaptation of Escherichia coli ATCC 12806 to several food-grade biocides, Food Control. 56 (2015) 86–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCONT.2015.03.012.
- [122] J.-Y. Maillard, Resistance of Bacteria to Biocides, Microbiol. Spectr. 6 (2018) 109–126. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.ARBA-0006-2017.
- [123] J.A. Otter, K. Vickery, J.T. Walker, E. deLancey Pulcini, P. Stoodley, S.D. Goldenberg, J.A.G. Salkeld, J. Chewins, S. Yezli, J.D. Edgeworth, Surface-attached cells, biofilms and biocide susceptibility: implications for hospital cleaning and disinfection, J. Hosp. Infect. 89 (2015) 16–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHIN.2014.09.008.
- [124] S. Bas, M. Kramer, D. Stopar, Biofilm Surface Density Determines Biocide Effectiveness, Front. Microbiol. 8 (2017) 2443. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2017.02443.
- [125] H.P. Schweizer, Triclosan: a widely used biocide and its link to antibiotics, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 202 (2001) 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.2001.TB10772.X.
- [126] K.J. Boor, Bacterial Stress Responses : What Doesn ' t Kill Them Can Make Them Stronger, 4 (2006) 18– 20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040023.
- [127] K. Poole, Bacterial stress responses as determinants of antimicrobial resistance, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 67 (2012) 2069–2089. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dks196.
- [128] E.M. Windels, J.E. Michiels, M. Fauvart, T. Wenseleers, B. Van den Bergh, J. Michiels, Bacterial persistence promotes the evolution of antibiotic resistance by increasing survival and mutation rates,

ISME J. 13 (2019) 1239-1251. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0344-9.

- [129] WHO, Global Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance, Microbe Mag. 10 (2015) 354–355. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbe.10.354.1.
- [130] G.R. Stephenson, I.G. Ferris, P.T. Holland, M. Nordberg, Glossary of terms relating to pesticides (IUPAC Recommendations 2006), Pure Appl. Chem. 78 (2006) 2075–2154. https://doi.org/10.1351/pac200678112075.
- [131] I. Mulder, J. Siemens, V. Sentek, W. Amelung, K. Smalla, S. Jechalke, Quaternary ammonium compounds in soil : implications for antibiotic resistance development, Rev. Environ. Sci. Bio/Technology. 17 (2018) 159–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-017-9457-7.
- [132] C.J.H. Von Wintersdorff, J. Penders, J.M. Van Niekerk, N.D. Mills, S. Majumder, L.B. Van Alphen, P.H.M. Savelkoul, P.F.G. Wolffs, Dissemination of antimicrobial resistance in microbial ecosystems through horizontal gene transfer, Front. Microbiol. 7 (2016) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00173.
- [133] G. Feng, H. Huang, Y. Chen, Effects of emerging pollutants on the occurrence and transfer of antibiotic resistance genes: A review, J. Hazard. Mater. 420 (2021) 126602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126602.
- [134] European Commission Environment Directorate-General, Assessment of different options to address risks from the use phase of biocide, (2009). https://ec.europa.eu/environment/archives/ppps/pdf/final_report0309.pdf.
- [135] R. Wise, Antimicrobial resistance: Priorities for action, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 49 (2002) 585–586. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/49.4.585.
- [136] D.G.J. Larsson, C.-F. Flach, Antibiotic resistance in the environment, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 20 (2022) 257–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00649-x.
- [137] S.M. Rosenberg, C. Shee, R.L. Frisch, P.J. Hastings, Stress-induced mutation via DNA breaks in Escherichia coli: A molecular mechanism with implications for evolution and medicine, BioEssays. 34 (2012) 885–892. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201200050.
- [138] I. Bjedov, O. Tenaillon, B. Gérard, V. Souza, E. Denamur, M. Radman, F. Taddei, I. Matic, Stress-Induced Mutagenesis in Bacteria, Science (80-.). 300 (2003) 1404–1409. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1082240.
- [139] T.D. Thi, E. Lopez, A. Rodriguez-Rojas, J. Rodriguez-Beltran, A. Couce, J.R. Guelfo, A. Castaneda-Garcia, J. Blazquez, Effect of recA inactivation on mutagenesis of Escherichia coli exposed to sublethal concentrations of antimicrobials, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 66 (2011) 531–538. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkq496.
- [140] M.A. Kohanski, M.A. DePristo, J.J. Collins, Sublethal Antibiotic Treatment Leads to Multidrug Resistance via Radical-Induced Mutagenesis, Mol. Cell. 37 (2010) 311–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.003.
- [141] A. Rodríguez-Rojas, O. Makarova, J. Rolff, Antimicrobials, Stress and Mutagenesis, PLoS Pathog. 10 (2014) e1004445. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004445.
- [142] L. Tonoyan, R. Friel, V. O'Flaherty, Mutation rate and efflux response of bacteria exposed to a novel antimicrobial iodo-thiocyanate complex, J. Glob. Antimicrob. Resist. 22 (2020) 13–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2019.12.007.
- [143] T.D. Thi, E. Lopez, A. Rodriguez-Rojas, J. Rodriguez-Beltran, A. Couce, J.R. Guelfo, A. Castaneda-Garcia, J. Blazquez, Effect of recA inactivation on mutagenesis of Escherichia coli exposed to sublethal concentrations of antimicrobials, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 66 (2011) 531–538. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkq496.
- [144] J. Lu, Y. Wang, J. Li, L. Mao, S.H. Nguyen, T. Duarte, L. Coin, P. Bond, Z. Yuan, J. Guo, Triclosan at environmentally relevant concentrations promotes horizontal transfer of multidrug resistance genes within and across bacterial genera, Environ. Int. 121 (2018) 1217–1226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.10.040.
- [145] J.W. Beaber, B. Hochhut, M.K. Waldor, SOS response promotes horizontal dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes, Nature. 427 (2004) 72–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02241.
- [146] H. Ochman, J.G. Lawrence, E.A. Groisman, Lateral gene transfer and the nature of bacterial innovation, Nature. 405 (2000) 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012500.

- [147] P.M. Bennett, Plasmid encoded antibiotic resistance: acquisition and transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in bacteria., Br. J. Pharmacol. 153 Suppl 1 (2008) S347-57. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0707607.
- [148] S.J. Sørensen, M. Bailey, L.H. Hansen, N. Kroer, S. Wuertz, Studying plasmid horizontal transfer in situ: a critical review, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3 (2005) 700–710. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1232.
- [149] C.A. Carlson, S.M. Steenbergen, J.L. Ingraham, Natural transformation of Pseudomonas stutzeri by plasmids that contain cloned fragments of chromosomal deoxyribonucleic acid, Arch. Microbiol. 140 (1984) 134–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00454915.
- [150] M.E. Frischer, J.M. Thurmond, J.H. Paul, Natural plasmid transformation in a high-frequency-oftransformation marine Vibrio strain, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56 (1990) 3439–3444. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.56.11.3439-3444.1990.
- [151] J. Lu, Y. Wang, M. Jin, Z. Yuan, P. Bond, J. Guo, Both silver ions and silver nanoparticles facilitate the horizontal transfer of plasmid-mediated antibiotic resistance genes, Water Res. 169 (2020) 115229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.115229.
- [152] Y. Wang, J. Lu, L. Mao, J. Li, Z. Yuan, P.L. Bond, J. Guo, Antiepileptic drug carbamazepine promotes horizontal transfer of plasmid-borne multi-antibiotic resistance genes within and across bacterial genera, ISME J. 13 (2019) 509–522. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0275-x.
- [153] J. Jutkina, N.P. Marathe, C.-F. Flach, D.G.J. Larsson, Antibiotics and common antibacterial biocides stimulate horizontal transfer of resistance at low concentrations, Sci. Total Environ. 616–617 (2018) 172– 178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.312.
- [154] D. Mantilla-Calderon, M.J. Plewa, G. Michoud, S. Fodelianakis, D. Daffonchio, P.Y. Hong, Water Disinfection Byproducts Increase Natural Transformation Rates of Environmental DNA in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1, Environ. Sci. Technol. 53 (2019) 6520–6528. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00692.
- [155] M. Jin, L. Liu, D.-N. Wang, D. Yang, W.-L. Liu, J. Yin, Z.-W. Yang, H.-R. Wang, Z.-G. Qiu, Z.-Q. Shen, D.-Y. Shi, H.-B. Li, J.-H. Guo, J.-W. Li, Chlorine disinfection promotes the exchange of antibiotic resistance genes across bacterial genera by natural transformation, ISME J. 14 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-0656-9.
- [156] P. Gilbert, L.E. Moore, Cationic antiseptics: diversity of action under a common epithet, J. Appl. Microbiol. 99 (2005) 703–715. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02664.x.
- [157] T.F. Moriarty, S.A.J. Zaat, H.J. Busscher, Biomaterials Associated Infection, Springer New York, New York, NY, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-1031-7.
- [158] S.Y. Lee, Systems Biology and Biotechnology of Escherichia coli, Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9394-4.
- [159] J.E. Barrick, R.E. Lenski, Genome dynamics during experimental evolution, Nat. Rev. Genet. 14 (2013) 827–839. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3564.
- [160] M. Lynch, M.S. Ackerman, J.F. Gout, H. Long, W. Sung, W.K. Thomas, P.L. Foster, Genetic drift, selection and the evolution of the mutation rate, Nat. Rev. Genet. 17 (2016) 704–714. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.104.
- [161] P.D. Sniegowski, P.J. Gerrish, R.E. Lenski, Evolution of high mutation rates in experimental populations of E. coli, Nature. 387 (1997) 703–705. https://doi.org/10.1038/42701.
- [162] A.M. Earl, R. Losick, R. Kolter, Ecology and genomics of Bacillus subtilis, Trends Microbiol. 16 (2008) 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2008.03.004.
- [163] V. de Berardinis, M. Durot, J. Weissenbach, M. Salanoubat, Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1 as a model for metabolic system biology, Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 12 (2009) 568–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2009.07.005.
- [164] H.J. Conn, The Identity of Bacillus Scbtilis, J. Infect. Dis. 46 (1930) 341–350. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/46.4.341.
- [165] E.L. Carr, P. Kämpfer, B.K.C. Patel, V. Gürtler, R.J. Seviour, Seven novel species of Acinetobacter isolated from activated sludge, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 53 (2003) 953–963. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.02486-0.
- [166] S. Zhang, Y. Wang, H. Song, J. Lu, Z. Yuan, J. Guo, Copper nanoparticles and copper ions promote horizontal transfer of plasmid-mediated multi-antibiotic resistance genes across bacterial genera, Environ. Int. 129 (2019) 478–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.05.054.

- [167] G. Liu, K. Bogaj, V. Bortolaia, J.E. Olsen, L.E. Thomsen, Antibiotic-Induced, Increased Conjugative Transfer Is Common to Diverse Naturally Occurring ESBL Plasmids in Escherichia coli, Front. Microbiol. 10 (2019) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02119.
- [168] R.M. Cooper, L. Tsimring, J. Hasty, Inter-species population dynamics enhance microbial horizontal gene transfer and spread of antibiotic resistance, Elife. 6 (2017) 1–26. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.25950.
- [169] Y. Wang, J. Lu, J. Engelstädter, S. Zhang, P. Ding, L. Mao, Z. Yuan, P.L. Bond, J. Guo, Non-antibiotic pharmaceuticals enhance the transmission of exogenous antibiotic resistance genes through bacterial transformation, ISME J. 14 (2020) 2179–2196. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-0679-2.
- [170] M.S. To, S. Favrin, N. Romanova, M.W. Griffiths, Postadaptational Resistance to Benzalkonium Chloride and Subsequent Physicochemical Modifications of Listeria monocytogenes, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68 (2002) 5258–5264. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.11.5258-5264.2002.
- [171] E. Estévez, M. del C. Cabrera, A. Molina-Díaz, J. Robles-Molina, M. del P. Palacios-Díaz, Screening of emerging contaminants and priority substances (2008/105/EC) in reclaimed water for irrigation and groundwater in a volcanic aquifer (Gran Canaria, Canary Islands, Spain), Sci. Total Environ. 433 (2012) 538–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.06.031.
- [172] M. Uhl, O. Gans, B. Grillitsch, M. Fürhacker, N. Kreuzinger, Grundlagen zur Risikoabschätzung für quaternäre Ammoniumverbindungen, 2005. https://www.umweltbundesamt.at/fileadmin/site/publikationen/BE271.pdf.
- [173] F. Merino, S. Rubio, D. Pérez-Bendito, Solid-Phase Extraction of Amphiphiles Based on Mixed Hemimicelle/Admicelle Formation: Application to the Concentration of Benzalkonium Surfactants in Sewage and River Water, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 6799–6806. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac030224a.
- [174] EFSAconclusion, Conclusion regarding the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance Didecyldimethylammonium chloride, EFSA J. 7 (2009) 1–54. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2009.214r.
- [175] European Chemicals Agency, Assessment Report Didecyldimethylammonium Chloride Product-type 8 (Wood Preservative), 8 (2015) 148. http://dissemination.echa.europa.eu/Biocides/ActiveSubstances/0067-08/0067-08_Assessment_Report.pdf.
- [176] J.R. Lawrence, B. Zhu, G.D.W. Swerhone, E. Topp, J. Roy, L.I. Wassenaar, T. Rema, D.R. Korber, Community-level assessment of the effects of the broad-spectrum antimicrobial chlorhexidine on the outcome of river microbial biofilm development, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 3541–3550. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02879-07.
- [177] Environment and Climate Change Canada, Screening Assessment Chlorhexidine and its Salts, (2019). https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/evaluating-existingsubstances/screening-assessment-chlorhexidine-salts.html.
- [178] C.L. Dupont, G. Grass, C. Rensing, Copper toxicity and the origin of bacterial resistance New insights and applications, Metallomics. 3 (2011) 1109–1118. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1mt00107h.
- [179] European Chemicals Agency, Assessment Report Copper granulated Product-Type 8 (Wood preservative), Off. J. Eur. Union. 8 (2012) 1–123. https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/30ce8e4db1d8-3eb0-53da-681bb281a791.
- [180] A.G. Rogozin, S. V. Gavrilkina, Causes for high concentration of copper and zinc in the water of some lakes in the Southern Urals, Water Resour. 35 (2008) 701–707. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0097807808060092.
- [181] J.A. Correa, J.C. Castilla, M. Ramírez, M. Varas, N. Lagos, S. Vergara, A. Moenne, D. Román, M.T. Brown, Copper, copper mine tailings and their effect on marine algae in Northern Chile, J. Appl. Phycol. 11 (1999) 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008027610826.
- [182] C. Ballabio, P. Panagos, E. Lugato, J.-H. Huang, A. Orgiazzi, A. Jones, O. Fernández-Ugalde, P. Borrelli, L. Montanarella, Copper distribution in European topsoils: An assessment based on LUCAS soil survey, Sci. Total Environ. 636 (2018) 282–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.268.
- [183] European Chemicals Agency, Assessment Report 3-iodo-2-propynyl butyl carbamate (IPBC) Product-Type 13 (Working or cutting fluid preservatives), 13 (2015). http://dissemination.echa.europa.eu/Biocides/ActiveSubstances/0039-13/0039-13_Assessment_Report.pdf.
- [184] N.D. Henderson, A review of the environmental impact and toxic Effects of IPBC, 1992.

https://www.pharosproject.net/uploads/files/cml/1329844299.pdf.

- [185] T. a. Ternes, Occurrence and fate of emerging organic micropollutants in biological wastewater treatment Dissertation, Dissertation. (2010). https://kola.opus.hbz-nrw.de/opus45kola/frontdoor/deliver/index/docId/529/file/DISSERTATION_WICK_2010.pdf.
- [186] L. Juergensen, J. Busnarda, P.-Y. Caux, R.A. Kent, Fate, behavior, and aquatic toxicity of the fungicide DDAC in the Canadian environment, Environ. Toxicol. 15 (2000) 174–200. https://doi.org/10.1002/1522-7278(2000)15:3<174::AID-TOX4>3.0.CO;2-P.
- [187] H. Rüdel, B. Knopf, Vorbereitung eines Monitoring-Konzepts für Biozide in der Umwelt, Bericht Zu FKZ 360 04 036 Umweltbundesamt IV 1.2 - 81043/22. (2012) 191. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/384/dokumente/dokument_uba-gutachten_-_monitoring_biozide.pdf.
- [188] A. Coors, P. Vollmar, F. Sacher, A. Thoma, Joint effects of pharmaceuticals and chemicals regulated under REACH in wastewater treatment plant effluents, (2017). https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/1410/publikationen/2017-08-14_texte_61-2017_klaeranlagenablauf.pdf.
- [189] Z.F. Chen, G.G. Ying, Y.B. Ma, H.J. Lai, F. Chen, C.G. Pan, Typical azole biocides in biosolid-amended soils and plants following biosolid applications, J. Agric. Food Chem. 61 (2013) 6198–6206. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf4013949.
- [190] A. Jeanvoine, S. Rocchi, G. Reboux, N. Crini, G. Crini, L. Millon, Azole-resistant Aspergillus fumigatus in sawmills of Eastern France, J. Appl. Microbiol. 123 (2017) 172–184. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13488.
- [191] U. Klümper, A. Droumpali, A. Dechesne, B.F. Smets, Novel assay to measure the plasmid mobilizing potential of mixed microbial communities, Front. Microbiol. 5 (2014) 730. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00730.
- [192] J.M. Andrews, JAC Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 48 (2001) 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/48.suppl_1.5.
- [193] P.S. Swain, K. Stevenson, A. Leary, L.F. Montano-Gutierrez, I.B.N. Clark, J. Vogel, T. Pilizota, Inferring time derivatives including cell growth rates using Gaussian processes, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13766.
- [194] W.A. Rosche, P.L. Foster, Determining Mutation Rates in Bacterial Populations, Methods. 20 (2000) 4– 17. https://doi.org/10.1006/meth.1999.0901.
- [195] X.C. Cai, H. Xi, L. Liang, J.D. Liu, C.H. Liu, Y.R. Xue, X.Y. Yu, Rifampicin-resistance mutations in the rpoB gene in Bacillus Velezensis CC09 have pleiotropic effects, Front. Microbiol. 8 (2017) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00178.
- [196] H. Zhou, L. Zhang, Q. Xu, L. Zhang, Y. Yu, X. Hua, The mismatch repair system (mutS and mutL) in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1, BMC Microbiol. 20 (2020) 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-020-01729-3.
- [197] Q. Zheng, rSalvador: An R package for the fluctuation experiment, G3 Genes, Genomes, Genet. 7 (2017) 3849–3856. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.117.300120.
- [198] A. Mazoyer, R. Drouilhet, S. Despréaux, B. Ycart, Flan: An R package for inference on mutation models, R J. 9 (2017) 334–351. https://doi.org/10.32614/rj-2017-029.
- [199] J.W. Drake, A constant rate of spontaneous mutation in DNA-based microbes., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 88 (1991) 7160–7164. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.16.7160.
- [200] L. Simonsen, D.M. Gordon, F.M. Stewart, B.R. Levin, Estimating the rate of plasmid transfer: an end-point method, J. Gen. Microbiol. 136 (1990) 2319–2325. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-136-11-2319.
- [201] A. Rizzi, A. Pontiroli, L. Brusetti, S. Borin, C. Sorlini, A. Abruzzese, G.A. Sacchi, T.M. Vogel, P. Simonet, M. Bazzicalupo, K.M. Nielsen, J.M. Monier, D. Daffonchio, Strategy for in situ detection of natural transformation-based horizontal gene transfer events, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 1250–1254. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02185-07.
- [202] A. Frenoy, S. Bonhoeffer, Death and population dynamics affect mutation rate estimates and evolvability under stress in bacteria, PLOS Biol. 16 (2018) e2005056. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2005056.
- [203] G.A. Suárez, B.A. Renda, A. Dasgupta, J.E. Barrick, Reduced mutation rate and increased transformability of transposon-free Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1-ISx, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 83 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01025-17.

- [204] H. Lee, E. Popodi, H. Tang, P.L. Foster, Rate and molecular spectrum of spontaneous mutations in the bacterium Escherichia coli as determined by whole-genome sequencing, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109 (2012) E2774–E2783. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1210309109.
- [205] P. Fajardo-Cavazos, J.D. Leehan, W.L. Nicholson, Alterations in the spectrum of spontaneous rifampicinresistance mutations in the Bacillus subtilis rpoB gene after cultivation in the human spaceflight environment, Front. Microbiol. 9 (2018) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00192.
- [206] R. Krašovec, H. Richards, D.R. Gifford, R. V. Belavkin, A. Channon, E. Aston, A.J. McBain, C.G. Knight, Opposing effects of final population density and stress on Escherichia coli mutation rate, ISME J. 12 (2018) 2981–2987. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0237-3.
- [207] M. Nagel, T. Reuter, A. Jansen, C. Szekat, G. Bierbaum, Influence of ciprofloxacin and vancomycin on mutation rate and transposition of IS256 in Staphylococcus aureus, Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 301 (2011) 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2010.08.021.
- [208] K. Kümmerer, Antibiotics in the aquatic environment A review Part I, Chemosphere. 75 (2009) 417– 434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.11.086.
- [209] M. Hecker, J. Pané-Farré, U. Völker, SigB-dependent general stress response in Bacillus subtilis and related gram-positive bacteria, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 61 (2007) 215–236. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.61.080706.093445.
- [210] S.E. Fiester, L.A. Actis, Stress responses in the opportunistic pathogen Acinetobacter baumannii, Future Microbiol. 8 (2013) 353–365. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.12.150.
- [211] F.. Reinthaler, J. Posch, G. Feierl, G. Wüst, D. Haas, G. Ruckenbauer, F. Mascher, E. Marth, Antibiotic resistance of E. coli in sewage and sludge, Water Res. 37 (2003) 1685–1690. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(02)00569-9.
- [212] J. Guo, J. Li, H. Chen, P. Bond, Z. Yuan, Metagenomic analysis reveals wastewater treatment plants as hotspots of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile genetic elements, Water Res. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.002.
- [213] L.K. Tkeshelashvili, T. McBride, K. Spence, L.A. Loeb, Mutation spectrum of copper-induced DNA damage, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 6401–6406. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(18)42282-x.
- [214] T.M. Reid, D.I. Feig, L.A. Loeb, Mutagenesis by metal-induced oxygen radicals, Environ. Health Perspect. 102 (1994) 57–61. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.94102s357.
- [215] J.A. Ross, T. Moore, S.A. Leavitt, In vivo mutagenicity of conazole fungicides correlates with tumorigenicity, Mutagenesis. 24 (2008) 149–152. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gen062.
- [216] Q. Wang, S. Cui, L. Zhou, K. He, L. Song, H. Liang, C. He, Effect of cosmetic chemical preservatives on resident flora isolated from healthy facial skin, J. Cosmet. Dermatol. 18 (2019) 652–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocd.12822.
- [217] R.S. Suresh Kumar, P.J. Shiny, C.H. Anjali, J. Jerobin, K.M. Goshen, S. Magdassi, A. Mukherjee, N. Chandrasekaran, Distinctive effects of nano-sized permethrin in the environment, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20 (2013) 2593–2602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-1161-0.
- [218] V. Tripathi, P. Tripathi, Antibiotic Resistance Genes: An Emerging Environmental Pollutant, in: K.K. Kesari (Ed.), Environ. Sci. Eng. (Subseries Environ. Sci., Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2017: pp. 183–201. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-46248-6_9.
- [219] B. Chen, J. Han, H. Dai, P. Jia, Biocide-tolerance and antibiotic-resistance in community environments and risk of direct transfers to humans: Unintended consequences of community-wide surface disinfecting during COVID-19?, Environ. Pollut. 283 (2021) 117074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117074.
- [220] U. Klümper, L. Riber, A. Dechesne, A. Sannazzarro, L.H. Hansen, S.J. Sørensen, B.F. Smets, Broad host range plasmids can invade an unexpectedly diverse fraction of a soil bacterial community, ISME J. 9 (2015) 934–945. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014.191.
- [221] K. Kümmerer, A. Eitel, U. Braun, P. Hubner, F. Daschner, G. Mascart, M. Milandri, F. Reinthaler, J. Verhoef, Analysis of benzalkonium chloride in the effluent from European hospitals by solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography with post-column ion-pairing and fluorescence detection, J. Chromatogr. A. 774 (1997) 281–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(97)00242-2.
- [222] F. Lasek, N. Karpel Vel Leitner, G. Rauwel, L. Blanchier, O. Castel, S. Ayraud-Thevenot, M. Deborde, Discharge of biocidal products from healthcare activities into a sewage system—a case study at a French university hospital, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26 (2019) 4938–4951. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-

3882-1.

- [223] Y. Zhang, A.Z. Gu, T. Cen, X. Li, M. He, D. Li, J. Chen, Sub-inhibitory concentrations of heavy metals facilitate the horizontal transfer of plasmid-mediated antibiotic resistance genes in water, Environ. Pollut. 237 (2018) 74–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.01.032.
- [224] B. Parra, G.R. Tortella, S. Cuozzo, M. Martínez, Negative effect of copper nanoparticles on the conjugation frequency of conjugative catabolic plasmids, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 169 (2019) 662–668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.11.057.
- [225] R. Pinilla-Redondo, V. Cyriaque, S. Jacquiod, S.J. Sørensen, L. Riber, Monitoring plasmid-mediated horizontal gene transfer in microbiomes: recent advances and future perspectives, Plasmid. 99 (2018) 56–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plasmid.2018.08.002.
- [226] M. Cycoń, Z. Piotrowska-Seget, Pyrethroid-Degrading Microorganisms and Their Potential for the Bioremediation of Contaminated Soils: A Review, Front. Microbiol. 7 (2016) 1–26. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01463.
- [227] C.-F. Flach, C. Pal, C.J. Svensson, E. Kristiansson, M. Östman, J. Bengtsson-Palme, M. Tysklind, D.G.J. Larsson, Does antifouling paint select for antibiotic resistance?, Sci. Total Environ. (2017) 461–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.213.
- [228] M.I. Bahl, L.H. Hansen, A. Goesmann, S.J. Sørensen, The multiple antibiotic resistance IncP-1 plasmid pKJK5 isolated from a soil environment is phylogenetically divergent from members of the previously established α, β and δ sub-groups, Plasmid. 58 (2007) 31–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plasmid.2006.11.007.
- [229] J. Nesme, P. Simonet, Minireview The soil resistome : a critical review on antibiotic resistance origins , ecology and dissemination potential in telluric bacteria, 17 (2015) 913–930. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12631.
- [230] J.L. Ray, K.M. Nielsen, Experimental Methods for Assaying Natural Transformation and Inferring Horizontal Gene Transfer, in: Methods Enzymol., Academic Press, 2005: pp. 491–520. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(05)95026-X.
- [231] N. Hülter, V. Sørum, K. Borch-Pedersen, M.M. Liljegren, A.L.G. Utnes, R. Primicerio, K. Harms, P.J. Johnsen, Costs and benefits of natural transformation in Acinetobacter baylyi, BMC Microbiol. 17 (2017) 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-017-0953-2.
- [232] J.L. Sagripanti, P.L. Goering, A. Lamanna, Interaction of copper with DNA and antagonism by other metals, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 110 (1991) 477–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008X(91)90048-J.
- [233] S.L. Commerford, Iodination of nucleic acids in vitro, Biochemistry. 10 (1971) 1993–2000. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00787a005.
- [234] J. Blázquez, A. Couce, J. Rodríguez-Beltrán, A. Rodríguez-Rojas, Antimicrobials as promoters of genetic variation, Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 15 (2012) 561–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2012.07.007.
- [235] P. Nikolic, P. Mudgil, J. Whitehall, The in vitro antibacterial effect of permethrin and formaldehyde on Staphylococcus aureus, Microbiologyopen. 9 (2020) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.1054.
- [236] P. Saenkham, M. Ritter, G.L. Donati, S. Subashchandrabose, Copper primes adaptation of uropathogenic Escherichia coli to superoxide stress by activating superoxide dismutases, PLOS Pathog. 16 (2020) e1008856. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008856.
- [237] B. Moen, K. Rudi, E. Bore, S. Langsrud, Subminimal Inhibitory Concentrations of the Disinfectant Benzalkonium Chloride Select for a Tolerant Subpopulation of Escherichia coli with Inheritable Characteristics, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 13 (2012) 4101–4123. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms13044101.
- [238] E. Denamur, I. Matic, Evolution of mutation rates in bacteria, Mol. Microbiol. 60 (2006) 820–827. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05150.x.
- [239] L. Laureti, I. Matic, A. Gutierrez, Bacterial Responses and Genome Instability Induced by Subinhibitory Concentrations of Antibiotics, Antibiotics. 2 (2013) 100–114. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics2010100.
- [240] L.M. Jara, P. Cortés, G. Bou, J. Barbé, J. Aranda, Differential roles of antimicrobials in the acquisition of drug resistance through activation of the SOS response in Acinetobacter baumannii, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 59 (2015) 4318–4320. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.04918-14.
- [241] D.J. Jin, C.A. Gross, Mapping and sequencing of mutations in the Escherichia colirpoB gene that lead to rifampicin resistance, J. Mol. Biol. 202 (1988) 45–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(88)90517-7.

- [242] G.C. Roma, P.R. De Oliveira, A.M. Araujo, G.H. Bechara, M.I.C. Mathias, Genotoxic and mutagenic effects of permethrin in mice: Micronuclei analysis in peripheral blood erythrocytes, Microsc. Res. Tech. 75 (2012) 1732–1736. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.22124.
- [243] B.S. Shane, E. Zeiger, W.W. Piegorsch, E.D. Booth, J.I. Goodman, R.C. Peffer, Re-evaluation of the big blue® mouse assay of propiconazole suggests lack of mutagenicity, Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 53 (2012) 1– 9. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.20689.
- [244] G.J. McKenzie, P.L. Lee, M. Lombardo, P.. Hastings, S.M. Rosenberg, SOS Mutator DNA Polymerase IV Functions in Adaptive Mutation and Not Adaptive Amplification, Mol. Cell. 7 (2001) 571–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00204-0.
- [245] J.D. Tompkins, J.L. Nelson, J.C. Hazel, S.L. Leugers, J.D. Stumpf, P.L. Foster, Error-prone polymerase, DNA polymerase IV, is responsible for transient hypermutation during adaptive mutation in Escherichia coli, J. Bacteriol. 185 (2003) 3469–3472. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.185.11.3469-3472.2003.
- [246] E. Wolff, M. Kim, K. Hu, H. Yang, J.H. Miller, Polymerases Leave Fingerprints: Analysis of the Mutational Spectrum in Escherichia coli rpoB to Assess the Role of Polymerase IV in Spontaneous Mutation, J. Bacteriol. 186 (2004) 2900–2905. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.9.2900-2905.2004.
- [247] T. Kim, S. Chitteni-Pattu, B.L. Cox, E.A. Wood, S.J. Sandler, M.M. Cox, Directed Evolution of RecA Variants with Enhanced Capacity for Conjugational Recombination, PLOS Genet. 11 (2015) e1005278. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005278.
- [248] M.R. Gillings, Lateral gene transfer, bacterial genome evolution, and the Anthropocene, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1389 (2017) 20–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13213.
- [249] J. Chen, S.E. McIlroy, A. Archana, D.M. Baker, G. Panagiotou, A pollution gradient contributes to the taxonomic, functional, and resistome diversity of microbial communities in marine sediments, Microbiome. 7 (2019) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0714-6.
- [250] U. Schoknecht, A. Töpfer, Characterisation of leaching of biocidal active substances of main group 2 "preservatives" from different materials under weathering conditions, Mater. Sci. Eng. A. 27 (2012) 1–14. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/characterisation-of-leaching-of-biocidal-active.
- [251] R.R. Mutagenesis, M.A. Kohanski, M.A. Depristo, J.J. Collins, Sublethal Antibiotic Treatment Leads to Multidrug, Mol. Cell. 37 (2010) 311–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.003.
- [252] I. El Meouche, M.J. Dunlop, Heterogeneity in efflux pump expression predisposes antibiotic-resistant cells to mutation, Science (80-.). 362 (2018) 686–690. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aar7981.
- [253] R. Krašovec, R. V. Belavkin, J.A.D.D. Aston, A. Channon, E. Aston, B.M. Rash, M. Kadirvel, S. Forbes, C.G. Knight, Mutation rate plasticity in rifampicin resistance depends on Escherichia coli cell-cell interactions, Nat. Commun. 5 (2014) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4742.
- [254] S. Gon, R. Napolitano, W. Rocha, S. Coulon, R.P. Fuchs, Increase in dNTP pool size during the DNA damage response plays a key role in spontaneous and induced-mutagenesis in Escherichia coli, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (2011) 19311–19316. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113664108.
- [255] C. Lmg, S.D. Soby, Draft Genome Sequence of Escherichia coli K-12 (ATCC 29425), 5 (2009) 1–2.
- [256] L. Garibyan, T. Huang, M. Kim, E. Wolff, A. Nguyen, T. Nguyen, A. Diep, K. Hu, A. Iverson, H. Yang, J.H. Miller, Use of the rpoB gene to determine the specificity of base substitution mutations on the Escherichia coli chromosome, DNA Repair (Amst). 2 (2003) 593–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1568-7864(03)00024-7.
- [257] A. Srivatsan, Y. Han, J. Peng, A.K. Tehranchi, R. Gibbs, J.D. Wang, R. Chen, High-precision, wholegenome sequencing of laboratory strains facilitates genetic studies, PLoS Genet. 4 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000139.
- [258] V. Barbe, D. Vallenet, N. Fonknechten, A. Kreimeyer, S. Oztas, L. Labarre, S. Cruveiller, C. Robert, S. Duprat, P. Wincker, L.N. Ornston, J. Weissenbach, P. Marlière, G.N. Cohen, C. Médigue, Unique features revealed by the genome sequence of Acinetobacter sp. ADP1, a versatile and naturally transformation competent bacterium, Nucleic Acids Res. 32 (2004) 5766–5779. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkh910.
- [259] M.S. Butler, D.L. Paterson, Antibiotics in the clinical pipeline in October 2019, J. Antibiot. (Tokyo). 73 (2020) 329–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41429-020-0291-8.
- [260] N.K. Prasad, I.B. Seiple, R.T. Cirz, O.S. Rosenberg, Leaks in the Pipeline: a Failure Analysis of Gram-Negative Antibiotic Development from 2010 to 2020, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 66 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.00054-22.

- [261] M.S. Butler, I.R. Henderson, R.J. Capon, M.A.T. Blaskovich, Antibiotics in the clinical pipeline as of December 2022, J. Antibiot. 2023 768. 76 (2023) 431–473. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41429-023-00629-8.
- [262] M. Kim, M.R. Weigand, S. Oh, J.K. Hatt, R. Krishnan, U. Tezel, S.G. Pavlostathis, K.T. Konstantinidis, Widely used benzalkonium chloride disinfectants can promote antibiotic resistance., Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 84 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01201-18.
- [263] G. Kampf, Biocidal Agents Used for Disinfection Can Enhance Antibiotic Resistance in Gram-Negative Species., Antibiot. (Basel, Switzerland). 7 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics7040110.
- [264] S.B.I. Schmidt, A. Rodríguez-Rojas, J. Rolff, F. Schreiber, Biocides Used as Material Preservatives Modify Rates of de novo Mutation and Horizontal Gene Transfer in Bacteria, J. Hazard. Mater. 437 (2022) 129280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.129280.
- [265] A.D. Russell, Biocide use and antibiotic resistance: the relevance of laboratory findings to clinical and environmental situations, Lancet Infect. Dis. 3 (2003) 794–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(03)00833-8.
- [266] S. Berger, Y. El Chazli, A.F. Babu, A.T. Coste, Azole resistance in Aspergillus fumigatus: A consequence of antifungal use in agriculture?, Front. Microbiol. 8 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01024.
- [267] M.C. Fisher, N.J. Hawkins, D. Sanglard, S.J. Gurr, Worldwide emergence of resistance to antifungal drugs challenges human health and food security, Science (80-.). 360 (2018) 739–742. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap7999.
- [268] N. Kleinkauf, P.E. Verweij, M.C. Arendrup, P.J. Donnelly, M. Cuenca-Estrella, B. Fraaije, W.J.G. Melchers, N. Adriaenssens, G.H.J. Kema, A. Ullmann, European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control: risk assessment on the impact of environmental usage of triazoles on the development and spread of resistance to medical triazoles in Aspergillus species, ECDC, Solna, Sweden.[Google Sch. (2013). https://doi.org/10.2900/76274.
- [269] P.E. Verweij, J.A. Lucas, M.C. Arendrup, P. Bowyer, A.J.F. Brinkmann, D.W. Denning, P.S. Dyer, M.C. Fisher, P.L. Geenen, U. Gisi, D. Hermann, A. Hoogendijk, E. Kiers, K. Lagrou, W.J.G. Melchers, J. Rhodes, A.G. Rietveld, S.E. Schoustra, K. Stenzel, B.J. Zwaan, B.A. Fraaije, The one health problem of azole resistance in Aspergillus fumigatus: current insights and future research agenda, Fungal Biol. Rev. 34 (2020) 202–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbr.2020.10.003.
- [270] J.M.G. Shelton, J. Rhodes, C.B. Uzzell, S. Hemmings, A.P. Brackin, T.R. Sewell, A. Alghamdi, P.S. Dyer, M. Fraser, A.M. Borman, E.M. Johnson, F.B. Piel, A.C. Singer, M.C. Fisher, Citizen science reveals landscape-scale exposures to multiazole-resistant Aspergillus fumigatus bioaerosols, Sci. Adv. 9 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.ADH8839.
- [271] U. Tezel, J.A. Pierson, S.G. Pavlostathis, Fate and effect of quaternary ammonium compounds on a mixed methanogenic culture, 40 (2006) 3660–3668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2006.06.019.
- [272] X. Wang, G. Du, Z. Qiao, Y. Yang, H. Shi, D. Zhang, X. Pan, Environmental concentrations of surfactants as a trigger for climax of horizonal gene transfer of antibiotic resistance, Heliyon. 9 (2023) e17034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e17034.
- [273] Y. Jia, Z. Wang, S. Zhu, Z. Wang, Y. Liu, Disinfectants facilitate the transformation of exogenous antibiotic resistance genes via multiple pathways, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 253 (2023) 114678. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOENV.2023.114678.
- [274] B. Merchel Piovesan Pereira, I. Tagkopoulos, Benzalkonium Chlorides: Uses, Regulatory Status, and Microbial Resistance, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 85 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00377-19.
- [275] E. Bore, M. Hebraud, I. Chafsey, C. Chambon, C. Skjaeret, B. Moen, T. Moretro, O. Langsrud, K. Rudi, S. Langsrud, Adapted tolerance to benzalkonium chloride in Escherichia coli K-12 studied by transcriptome and proteome analyses, Microbiology. 153 (2007) 935–946. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.29288-0.
- [276] L.J. Jahn, C. Munck, M.M.H. Ellabaan, M.O.A. Sommer, Adaptive laboratory evolution of antibiotic resistance using different selection regimes lead to similar phenotypes and genotypes, Front. Microbiol. 8 (2017) 816. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2017.00816/BIBTEX.
- [277] M. Dragosits, D. Mattanovich, Adaptive laboratory evolution principles and applications for biotechnology, Microb. Cell Fact. 12 (2013) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-12-64/TABLES/2.
- [278] B. Van Dijk, J. Meijer, T.D. Cuypers, P. Hogeweg, Trusting the hand that feeds: Microbes evolve to anticipate a serial transfer protocol as individuals or collectives, BMC Evol. Biol. 19 (2019) 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-019-1512-2.

- [279] S.A. da Silva Costa, O.F.P. de Paula, C.R.G. e Silva, M.V.P. Leão, S.S.F. dos Santos, Stability of antimicrobial activity of peracetic acid solutions used in the final disinfection process, Braz. Oral Res. 29 (2015) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1590/1807-3107BOR-2015.VOL29.0038.
- [280] L.J. Bock, C.K. Hind, J.M. Sutton, M.E. Wand, Growth media and assay plate material can impact on the effectiveness of cationic biocides and antibiotics against different bacterial species, Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 66 (2018) 368–377. https://doi.org/10.1111/LAM.12863.
- [281] M. Egervärn, H. Lindmark, S. Roos, G. Huys, S. Lindgren, Effects of inoculum size and incubation time on broth microdilution susceptibility testing of lactic acid bacteria, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 51 (2007) 394–396. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00637-06/ASSET/3450B526-7670-4A1C-A84A-FFF301BF65FA/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZAC0010762500001.JPEG.
- [282] C. Tan, R. Phillip Smith, J.K. Srimani, K.A. Riccione, S. Prasada, M. Kuehn, L. You, The inoculum effect and band-pass bacterial response to periodic antibiotic treatment, Mol. Syst. Biol. 8 (2012) 617. https://doi.org/10.1038/MSB.2012.49.
- [283] J. Karslake, J. Maltas, P. Brumm, K.B. Wood, Population Density Modulates Drug Inhibition and Gives Rise to Potential Bistability of Treatment Outcomes for Bacterial Infections, PLOS Comput. Biol. 12 (2016) e1005098. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005098.
- [284] J.R. Lenhard, Z.P. Bulman, Inoculum effect of β-lactam antibiotics, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 74 (2019) 2825–2843. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkz226.
- [285] L.D. Sabath, C. Garner, C. Wilcox, M. Finland, Effect of Inoculum and of Beta-Lactamase on the Anti-Staphylococcal Activity of Thirteen Penicillins and Cephalosporins, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 8 (1975) 344–349. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.8.3.344.
- [286] I. Brook, Inoculum Effect, Rev. Infect. Dis. 11 (1989) 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1093/CLINIDS/11.3.361.
- [287] M.R. García, M.L. Cabo, Optimization of E. coli inactivation by benzalkonium chloride reveals the importance of quantifying the inoculum effect on chemical disinfection, Front. Microbiol. 9 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01259.
- [288] R.J.W. Lambert, M.D. Johnston, Disinfection kinetics: a new hypothesis and model for the tailing of logsurvivor/time curves, J. Appl. Microbiol. 88 (2000) 907–913. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2672.2000.01060.X.
- [289] C.N. Haas, B. Kaymak, Effect of initial microbial density on inactivation of Giardia muris by ozone, Water Res. 37 (2003) 2980–2988. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(03)00112-X.
- [290] M.R. Loffredo, F. Savini, S. Bobone, B. Casciaro, H. Franzyk, M.L. Mangoni, L. Stella, Inoculum effect of antimicrobial peptides, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 118 (2021) e2014364118. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2014364118.
- [291] A. Brauner, O. Fridman, O. Gefen, N.Q. Balaban, Distinguishing between resistance, tolerance and persistence to antibiotic treatment, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2016 145. 14 (2016) 320–330. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.34.
- [292] O. Fridman, A. Goldberg, I. Ronin, N. Shoresh, N.Q. Balaban, Optimization of lag time underlies antibiotic tolerance in evolved bacterial populations, Nat. 2014 5137518. 513 (2014) 418–421. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13469.
- [293] C. Michaux, S. Ronneau, R.T. Giorgio, S. Helaine, Antibiotic tolerance and persistence have distinct fitness trade-offs, PLOS Pathog. 18 (2022) e1010963. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PPAT.1010963.
- [294] B. Van Den Bergh, J.E. Michiels, T. Wenseleers, E.M. Windels, P. Vanden Boer, D. Kestemont, L. De Meester, K.J. Verstrepen, N. Verstraeten, M. Fauvart, J. Michiels, Frequency of antibiotic application drives rapid evolutionary adaptation of Escherichia coli persistence, Nat. Microbiol. 2016 15. 1 (2016) 1– 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.20.
- [295] E. Bakkeren, J.S. Huisman, S.A. Fattinger, A. Hausmann, M. Furter, A. Egli, E. Slack, M.E. Sellin, S. Bonhoeffer, R.R. Regoes, M. Diard, W.D. Hardt, Salmonella persisters promote the spread of antibiotic resistance plasmids in the gut, Nature. 573 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1521-8.
- [296] B.R. Levin, D.E. Rozen, Non-inherited antibiotic resistance, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2006 47. 4 (2006) 556– 562. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1445.
- [297] European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST), Antimicrobial susceptibility testing EUCAST disk diffusion method, Man. Disk Diffus. Method Antimicrob. Susceptibility Test. (2021) 22. www.eucast.org (accessed June 7, 2022).

- [298] I. Levin-Reisman, I. Ronin, O. Gefen, I. Braniss, N. Shoresh, N.Q. Balaban, Antibiotic tolerance facilitates the evolution of resistance, Science (80-.). 355 (2017) 826–830. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaj2191.
- [299] U. Łapińska, M. Voliotis, K.K. Lee, A. Campey, M.R.L. Stone, B. Tuck, W. Phetsang, B. Zhang, K. Tsaneva-Atanasova, M.A. Blaskovich, S. Pagliara, Fast bacterial growth reduces antibiotic accumulation and efficacy, Elife. 11 (2022) 1–33. https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.74062.
- [300] S. Buffet-Bataillon, A. Le jeune, S. Le Gall-David, M. Bonnaure-Mallet, A. Jolivet-Gougeon, Molecular mechanisms of higher MICs of antibiotics and quaternary ammonium compounds for Escherichia coli isolated from bacteraemia, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 67 (2012) 2837–2842. https://doi.org/10.1093/JAC/DKS321.
- [301] B. Merchel Piovesan Pereira, X. Wang, I. Tagkopoulos, Biocide-Induced Emergence of Antibiotic Resistance in Escherichia coli, Front. Microbiol. 12 (2021) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.640923.
- [302] P.C.F. Graf, M. Martinez-Yamout, S. Vanhaerents, H. Lilie, H.J. Dyson, U. Jakob, Activation of the Redoxregulated Chaperone Hsp33 by Domain Unfolding*, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 20529–20538. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M401764200.
- [303] J. Winter, K. Linke, A. Jatzek, U. Jakob, Severe Oxidative Stress Causes Inactivation of DnaK and Activation of the Redox-Regulated Chaperone Hsp33, Mol. Cell. 17 (2005) 381–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2004.12.027.
- [304] W.Y. Wholey, U. Jakob, Hsp33 confers bleach resistance by protecting elongation factor Tu against oxidative degradation in Vibrio cholerae, Mol. Microbiol. 83 (2012) 981. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2958.2012.07982.X.
- [305] J. Zeng, Y. Hong, N. Zhao, Q. Liu, W. Zhu, L. Xiao, W. Wang, M. Chen, S. Hong, L. Wu, Y. Xue, D. Wang, J. Niu, K. Drlica, X. Zhao, A broadly applicable, stress-mediated bacterial death pathway regulated by the phosphotransferase system (PTS) and the cAMP-Crp cascade, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 119 (2022) e2118566119. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2118566119/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.2118566119.SAPP.PDF.
- [306] Competent Authority Report Permethrin Product types 8 & 18, 2017. moz-extension://7c0c342b-418f-49cf-bf39-aecccb24a85e/enhancedreader.html?openApp&pdf=https%3A%2F%2Fecha.europa.eu%2Fdocuments%2F10162%2F73628fe1d739-97db-2aa8-d165e6898008.
- [307] G. Kapoor, S. Saigal, A. Elongavan, Action and resistance mechanisms of antibiotics: A guide for clinicians, J. Anaesthesiol. Clin. Pharmacol. 33 (2017) 300. https://doi.org/10.4103/JOACP.JOACP_349_15.
- [308] G. Diaz-Tang, E. Marin Meneses, K. Patel, S. Mirkin, L. García-Diéguez, C. Pajon, I. Barraza, V. Patel, H. Ghali, A.P. Tracey, C.A. Blanar, A.J. Lopatkin, R.P. Smith, M I C R O B I O LO G Y Growth productivity as a determinant of the inoculum effect for bactericidal antibiotics, (2022). https://www.science.org (accessed October 8, 2023).
- [309] S.M. Mandal, F. Perez Rodriguez, J.A. Vázquez, A. Pedreira, M.R. García, Kinetics of Bacterial Adaptation, Growth, and Death at Didecyldimethylammonium Chloride sub-MIC Concentrations, Front. Microbiol. | Www.Frontiersin.Org. 1 (2022) 758237. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.758237.
- [310] R.M.E. Richards, R.H. Cavill, Electron Microscope Study of Effect of Benzalkonium Chloride and Edetate Disodium on Cell Envelope of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, J. Pharm. Sci. 65 (1976) 76–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/JPS.2600650115.
- [311] P. Adkin, A. Hitchcock, L.J. Smith, S.E. Walsh, Priming with biocides: A pathway to antibiotic resistance?, J. Appl. Microbiol. (2022). https://doi.org/10.1111/JAM.15564.
- [312] M.A. Webber, R.N. Whitehead, M. Mount, N.J. Loman, M.J. Pallen, L.J. V. Piddock, Parallel evolutionary pathways to antibiotic resistance selected by biocide exposure, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 70 (2015) 2241–2248. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkv109.
- [313] I.C. Stanton, A.K. Murray, L. Zhang, J. Snape, W.H. Gaze, Evolution of antibiotic resistance at low antibiotic concentrations including selection below the minimal selective concentration, (n.d.). https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-01176-w.
- [314] Umweltbundesamt, Are biocide emissions into the environment already at alarming levels? Recommendations of the German Environment Agency (UBA) for an approach to study the impact of biocides on the environment, (n.d.).

- [315] F. Linke, O. Olsson, F. Preusser, K. Kümmerer, L. Schnarr, M. Bork, J. Lange, Sources and pathways of biocides and their transformation products in urban storm water infrastructure of a 2 ha urban district, Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 25 (2021) 4495–4512. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-25-4495-2021.
- [316] K.B. Chukwu, O.A. Abafe, D.G. Amoako, S.Y. Essack, A.L.K. Abia, Antibiotic, Heavy Metal, and Biocide Concentrations in a Wastewater Treatment Plant and Its Receiving Water Body Exceed PNEC Limits: Potential for Antimicrobial Resistance Selective Pressure, Antibiotics. 12 (2023) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12071166.
- [317] S. Aydin, M.E. Aydin, A. Ulvi, H. Kilic, Antibiotics in hospital effluents: occurrence, contribution to urban wastewater, removal in a wastewater treatment plant, and environmental risk assessment, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. 26 (2019) 544–558. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-018-3563-0.
- [318] F. Berglund, S. Ebmeyer, E. Kristiansson, D.G.J. Larsson, Evidence for wastewaters as environments where mobile antibiotic resistance genes emerge, Commun. Biol. 2023 61. 6 (2023) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-04676-7.
- [319] M. Macrì, M. Macrì, S. Bonetta, M. Catozzo, C. Pignata, E. Mecarelli, V. Schiavo, C. Medana, E. Carraro, S. Bonetta, Wastewater treatment plant: a hotspot of antibiotic resistance spreading?, Popul. Med. 5 (2023). https://doi.org/10.18332/POPMED/165718.
- [320] K. Lépesová, P. Olejníková, T. Mackul'ak, K. Cverenkárová, M. Krahulcová, L. Bírošová, Hospital Wastewater-Important Source of Multidrug Resistant Coliform Bacteria with ESBL-Production, (n.d.). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17217827.
- [321] M.M. Mehanni, S.I. Gadow, F.A. Alshammari, Y. Modafer, K.Z. Ghanem, N.F. El-Tahtawi, R.F. El-Homosy, A.E.L. Hesham, Antibiotic-resistant bacteria in hospital wastewater treatment plant effluent and the possible consequences of its reuse in agricultural irrigation, Front. Microbiol. 14 (2023). https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2023.1141383.
- [322] I.C. Stanton, H.J. Tipper, K. Chau, U. Klümper, J. Subirats, A.K. Murray, Does Environmental Exposure to Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Product Residues Result in the Selection of Antimicrobial-Resistant Microorganisms, and is this Important in Terms of Human Health Outcomes?, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 00 (2022) 0–1. https://doi.org/10.1002/ETC.5498.
- [323] J. O'Neill, Antimicrobial Resistance : Tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations, Rev. Antimicrob. Resist. (2016) 1–16.
- [324] B. Chen, J. Han, H. Dai, P. Jia, Biocide-tolerance and antibiotic-resistance in community environments and risk of direct transfers to humans: Unintended consequences of community-wide surface disinfecting during COVID-19?, Environ. Pollut. 283 (2021) 117074. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2021.117074.
- [325] I.C. Stanton, A. Bethel, A.F.C. Leonard, W.H. Gaze, R. Garside, Existing evidence on antibiotic resistance exposure and transmission to humans from the environment: a systematic map, Environ. Evid. 11 (2022) 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13750-022-00262-2/FIGURES/21.
- [326] A.F.C. Leonard, L. Zhang, A.J. Balfour, R. Garside, P.M. Hawkey, A.K. Murray, O.C. Ukoumunne, W.H. Gaze, Exposure to and colonisation by antibiotic-resistant E. coli in UK coastal water users: Environmental surveillance, exposure assessment, and epidemiological study (Beach Bum Survey), Environ. Int. 114 (2018) 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2017.11.003.
- [327] E. Tacconelli, G. De Angelis, M.A. Cataldo, E. Mantengoli, T. Spanu, A. Pan, G. Corti, A. Radice, L. Stolzuoli, S. Antinori, F. Paradisi, G. Carosi, R. Bernabei, M. Antonelli, G. Fadda, G.M. Rossolini, R. Cauda, Antibiotic Usage and Risk of Colonization and Infection with Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria: a Hospital Population-Based Study, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53 (2009) 4264–4269. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00431-09.
- [328] J. Prince, G.A. Ayliffe, In-use testing of disinfectants in hospitals, J. Clin. Pathol. 25 (1972) 586–589. https://doi.org/10.1136/JCP.25.7.586.
- [329] I. Reiss, A. Borkhardt, R. Füssle, A. Sziegoleit, L. Gortner, Disinfectant contaminated with Klebsiella oxytoca as a source of sepsis in babies, Lancet. 356 (2000) 310. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02509-5.
- [330] D.J. Weber, W.A. Rutala, E.E. Sickbert-Bennett, Outbreaks Associated with Contaminated Antiseptics and Disinfectants, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 51 (2007) 4217–4224. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00138-07.
- [331] M. Haque, M. Sartelli, J. McKimm, M.A. Bakar, Health care-associated infections An overview, Infect. Drug Resist. 11 (2018) 2321–2333. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S177247.

[332] S. Wieck, O. Olsson, K. Kümmerer, Consumers' perceptions of biocidal products in households, Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health. 221 (2018) 260–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHEH.2017.11.005.

List of publications and author contributions

This thesis is based on the following manuscripts:

Chapter 2: Effect of biocides on mutation rates and HGT is based on the manuscript

Schmidt, S. B., Rodriguez-Rojas, A., Rolff, J., & Schreiber, F. (2022). Biocides used as material preservatives modify rates of *de novo* mutation and horizontal gene transfer in bacteria. <u>Journal of Hazardous Materials</u>, 437, 129280. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.129280

Author contribution: Selina Schmidt: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – Original Draft, Review & Editing, Visualization; Alexandro Rodríguez-Rojas: Resources, Writing – Review & Editing; Jens Rolff: Supervision, Writing – Review & Editing; Frank Schreiber: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – Original Draft, Review & Editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition.

I performed all experimental work, data analysis, data visualization reported in this manuscript including growth assays, antimicrobial susceptibility testing, mutation rate assays, conjugation rate assay, transformation rate assays and reporter gene assays. The manuscript was written together with Frank Schreiber.

Chapter 3: Effect of biocides selection pressures on evolution of resistance is based on the draft manuscript

Schmidt, S. B., Täschner, T., Nordholt, N., & Schreiber, F. (2022). Selection for survival and for growth in adaptive laboratory evolution experiments with benzalkonium chloride. In preparation for <u>Evolutionary Applications</u>

Author contribution: Selina Schmidt: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – Original Draft, Review & Editing, Visualization; Tom Täschner: Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing - Review & Editing; Niclas Nordholt: Resources, Methodology, Software, Writing - Review & Editing; Frank Schreiber: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Writing - Original Draft, Review & Editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition.

I supervised the experimental work of the M.Sc. thesis of Tom Täschner (Title: Phenotypic and evolutionary adaption of bacteria to biocide stress, 2022; Biotechnology, Berlin University of Applied Sciences and Technology) related to conducting the evolution experiment and initial phenotypic testing of the ancestor and the evolved populations. I performed further phenotypic growth assays, antimicrobial susceptibility testing, population genomic sequencing, sequence data analysis, integrative data analysis, and data visualization. The manuscript was written together with Frank Schreiber

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the following individuals and institutions for their invaluable support and contributions to the completion of this doctoral thesis:

First and foremost, I extend my deepest appreciation to my First Supervisor, Dr. Frank Schreiber, for his unwavering guidance, mentorship, and commitment to this research. His expertise and dedication have been instrumental in shaping this work.

I am equally thankful to my University Supervisor, Prof. Jens Rolff, for his insightful advice and academic guidance throughout this journey. His expertise has significantly enriched the quality of this thesis.

I am indebted to my Thesis Committee, consisting of Prof. Angus Buckling (University of Exeter) and Prof. Martin Ackermann (Eawag & ETH Zurich), for their valuable insights and feedback, which have greatly enhanced the rigor of this research.

I would also like to acknowledge the Hosting Institution, the Federal Institute for Material Research and Testing, and the Funding Project, Menschen Ideen – Typ 1' (#MIT1-17-13), for their support and resources that made this research possible.

I am grateful for the nurturing environment provided by the Graduate School in Biodiversity, Ecology, and Evolution (BBIB) at the Free University. It has been an enriching experience to be a part of this academic community.

I extend my special thanks to the Schreiber Lab Group for their camaraderie and collaborative spirit, which made this research both enjoyable and productive.

My heartfelt appreciation goes to my scientific role models, Annie and Niclas, whose guidance and support have been a constant source of inspiration throughout this journey.

Finally, I owe an immeasurable debt of gratitude to my family, especially my husband, Pascal, and my father, Pablo, for their unwavering love, support, and understanding. Their encouragement sustained me through the challenges of this doctoral program.

This thesis would not have been possible without the collective support and inspiration from these individuals and institutions. Thank you all for being an integral part of this academic endeavor.

Curriculum Vitae

Selina Bibiana Inocencia Schmidt

Education	
Promotion - Graduate program "Biodiversity, Evolution & Ecology" Mechanisms of biocide resistance evolution, Supervision: Dr. Frank Schreiber, Prof. Jens Rolff, Prof. Angus Buckling, Prof. Martin Ackermann Federal institute for material research and testing and Free University Berlin	2023
Master of Science – Biology Biocide impact on the persister phenotype of E. coli, Master thesis, Specialization in Microbiology, Supervision: Dr. Frank Schreiber, Prof. Rupert Mutzel, Federal institute for material research and testing and Free University Berlin	2017
Bachelor of Science – Biology Characterization of Schizophyllum commune thin 1 mutants, Bachelor thesis, Specialization in Microbiology, Supervision: Dr. Sophia Wirth, Prof. Erika Kothe Institute for microbial communication, FSU Jena	2015
Certified biological technical assistant Professional training, Vocational school, OSZ Lise Meitner Berlin	2011
Conferences and presentations	
RoKoCon 2022 in Berlin	2022
FU Microbiome Network Meeting 2022 in Berlin flashtalk "Effect of biocides on the evolution and spread of resistance" and poster presentation "Biocides Used as Material Preservatives Modify Rates of De Novo Mutation And Horizontal Gene Transfer in Bacteria"	2022
World microbe forum online poster presentation "Biocides Used as Material Preservatives Modify Rates of De Novo Mutation And Horizontal Gene Transfer in Bacteria"	2021
4th Evo Eco PhD Meeting in Wittenberg talk same title as ISME17	2020
DRS Doktorandensymposium 2019 in Berlin	2019
FEMS 2019 (8th Congress of European Microbiologists) in Glasgow	2019
EDAR 2019 (5th International Symposium on the Environmental Dimension of Antibiotic Resistance), in Hong Kong poster presentation same title as ISME17	2019
ISME17 (17th International Symposium on Microbial Ecology) in Leipzig poster presentation "Antimicrobial resistance in soil microbes mediated by resistance evolution and borizontal gene transfer (HGT)"	2018
BAM PhD Day in Berlin poster presentation "Priming in soil microbial communities mediated by biocide-induced horizontal gene-transfer"	2018
International CRC 973 Symposium in Berlin poster presentation "Priming in soil microbial communities mediated by biocide-induced horizontal gene-transfer"	2018

Publications and publications in preparation

Selection for survival and for growth in adaptive laboratory evolution experiments with benzalkonium chloride	2023
Schmidt, S. B., Rodríguez-Rojas, A., Rolff, J., & Schreiber, F. (2022). Biocides used as material preservatives modify rates of de novo mutation and horizontal gene transfer in bacteria. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 437, 129280.	2022
Nordholt, N., Kanaris, O., Schmidt, S. B., & Schreiber, F. (2021). Persistence against benzalkonium	2021

chloride promotes rapid evolution of tolerance during periodic disinfection. Nature Communications, 12(1), 6792.